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The development processes taking place in the field of information and 
communication technologies have rendered the Internet for the public into 
an effective tool to control the activities of the Authorities. In developed 
democracies, the official web-resources of the State Bodies have become an 
easy means delivering electronic (online) services to the public and enabling to 
conduct effective financial monitoring of the Public Authorities. In the period of the 
crisis of 2008 the leading western democratic countries by posting information 
with regard to the anti-crisis action-plans and the expenses connected to the 
latter to their official websites significantly improved communication with 
their population and restored their trust in the public financial institutions. The 
initiatives of the Western countries’ Governments intending to provide as much 
information regarding the ongoing processes as possible to the people resulted 
in a considerable increase of public confidence towards the Authorities.

Activities of the Public Authority can be considered as serving people’s 
interests only if it renders them transparent and open to public. The example 
of democratic countries makes clear that the rate of authority of and public 
trust in any government is directly linked with the democratic processes 
relating to making and executing decisions, transparent “rules of the game”, 
the involvement of the whole society in these processes. The pace of the 
development of modern digital technologies and the Internet and the widespread 
application of the newest technical devices by the population of Georgia once 
more stresses the importance of the fact that like in the Western countries the 
public demand for developed e-Governance and E-Democracy has significantly 
increased in Georgia too.   

In 2009 the NGO “Institute for Development of Freedom of Information”, 
which was then newly established, implemented a project called “Monitoring of 
the Official Websites of the Executive Powers (the Ministries) of Georgia”. The 
National Security Archive of the George Washington University provided the 
financial resources for the project then. Within the framework of the project, 
the IDFI monitored the official web-resources of the Ministries of Georgia and 
analyzed the structure and the contents of the websites of the Ministries, 
identified the shortcomings and the tendencies of the official web-resources and 
prepared Ministry ratings based on the Internet transparency indexes.  

An additional financial support of the Open Society Institute and the National 
Security Archive enabled the IDFI to implement a similar project titled “Monitoring 
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of Public Authority Information Resources” in the year 2010. The IDFI monitored 
the websites of the Ministries of Georgia and those of the Legal Entities of Public 
Law under the Ministries. In all, it monitored 48 Public Authorities.   

The whole work is described in the below-given articles written by the IDFI 
experts:

• Electronic Governance and Electronic Transparency – International Tendencies 
and Georgia;

• Short Review of Legal Foundations of e-Government and e-Transparency in 
Georgia;

• The Monitoring Methodology and Improved Evaluation Spreadsheet;
• Overview of the Tendencies Identified by the Monitoring;
• The Statistics of the Monitoring Results. 

The rate of growth of the Internet users in Georgia and the Public Authorities’ 
practice of offering online services to people will impart important public function 
to their websites in quite a near future and will render them into an easily 
accessible tool for receiving public information. This will definitely foster the 
institutional development of e-Transparency and contribute to the establishment 
of E-Democracy in the country.

We are sure that the activities we perform will in a way foster the establishment 
of the universally acknowledged principles of e-Governance and E-democracy in 
Georgia. The development of those processes and the improvement of the rate 
of transparency directly depend upon the goodwill of the Public Authorities and 
their desire to cooperate with NGOs and independent experts. We hope that 
further approach of the Public Authorities toward the activities of the IDFI will be 
as positive and cooperative as it was all the way through the implementation of 
the present project. On behalf of the whole staff of the Institute we would like to 
make acknowledgements to those Public Authorities which have fully or partly 
taken into account the recommendations of the Institute submitted to them and 
expressed desire for mutual cooperation in future.

Giorgi Kldiashvili
Project Director

Levan Avalishvili
Project Coordinator
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As defined by UNESCO (www.unesco.org): “e-Governance is the public 
sector’s use of information and communication technologies with the 
aim of improving information and service delivery, encouraging citizen 
participation in the decision-making process and making government more 
accountable, transparent and effective. e-Governance involves new styles 
of leadership, new ways of debating and deciding policy and investment, 
new ways of accessing education, new ways of listening to citizens and new 
ways of organizing and delivering information and services. e-Governance 
is generally considered as a wider concept than e-Government, since it can 
bring about a change in the way citizens relate to governments and to each 
other. e-Governance can bring forth new concepts of citizenship, both in 
terms of citizen needs and responsibilities. Its objective is to engage, enable 
and empower the citizen.” 

e-Governance can be considered one of the significant tools of the world 
community development. It is a component of the 21st century informational 
society. Nowadays several definitions of e-Governance are available: digital 
governance, online governance, Internet-governance etc. No 
matter which term we use to describe this new and innovative means of state 
governance, the fact is that it is actively enhancing its place at a global scale 
as a significant mechanism of state administration. It should be mentioned that 
practical introduction and development of e-Governance is carried out in four 
main directions:

• e-Governance for citizens - G2C (Government-to-Citizen);
• e-Governance for business - G2B (Government-to-Business);
• e-Governance for state authorities - G2G (Government–to-Government);
• e-Governance for public officials - G2E (Government-to-Employees). 
The mentioned directions of e-Governance development include many sub-

elements: online publication of information, public opinion polls, active mutual 
interaction between state bodies and users, existence of various online services, 
electronic format of voting etc. We would also like to mention that there is 
e-Governance not based upon Internet usage, i.e. electronic means and services 
such as text messages, biometric passports and identification cards, phone 
services etc. 

http://www.unesco.org/
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Experts distinguish several stages of introduction of e-Governance in practice:

•	The	 first	 stage  –  public authorities acquire Internet, webpages of 
various government bodies are created though they contain more general 
information; 

•	The second stage – web-page obtain a larger content: news, legal 
documents and official publications appear, search can be performed and 
e-mail can be sent through the webpage; 

•	The third state – the level of interaction of the pages increases. 
Governmental portals are created where information interesting for specific 
groups of users is placed. It is possible to download application forms, 
introduce authentification mechanisms; 

•	The fourth stage – a user becomes able to communicate via Internet. By 
means of Internet citizens can vote in elections and referendums, obtain 
various documents: passport, driving license, visa, license etc. On the same 
stage it is possible to make payments and pay fees, participate in public 
procurement etc. via Internet; 

•	The	fifth	stage – the Government can provide all kinds of service through 
the Internet.1

All five stages of e-Governance are rather well-developed in the leading 
countries of the world. A number of positive changes are observed in Georgia as 
well but we will discuss it in the second part of our survey. Now we would like to 
address an important issue such as electronic transparency because developed 
e-Governance does not necessarily imply existence of electronic transparency 
but it is its important component. In other words, if e-Governance promotes 
improvement of the level of state administration and raising its 
efficiency	 by	 using	 information	 technologies,	 electronic	 transparency	
is	 a	 significant	 tool	 of	 accountability	 and	 reporting	 in	 the	 modern	
informational era.

1 „Observation of legal framework of information transparency in Georgia” -  
Gia Kiknadze, “Introduction of electronic transparency in Georgia”, p. 14, Tbilisi, 2007.  
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From e-Governance to Electronic Democracy 

Electronic democracy as a newer higher step of democracy development 
significantly increases the potential, efficiency and actuality of democracy. 
Electronic democracy is based upon interaction of information and communication, 
global social connections, unprecedented possibilities of freedom of expression, 
creation of free global associations and dissemination of information, increase 
of professional and social prospective which to a certain extent dissolves the 
identity of a nation-state and forms global and local identities, offers new 
opportunities to business and governments, supports participation of citizens in 
the decision-making process, makes social life more dynamic.2 

Eletronic democracy is a rather new term because its institutional introduction 
began only from 1990s. Electronic democracy implies application of informational-
communication technologies by governments, political parties, social groups, 
and citizens, other subjects participating in business or political processes, both 
locally and internationally. Broadly speaking, democracy means consideration of 
opinions of citizens and organizations and their active involvement in political 
decision-making, management of political processes. Unlike e-Governance 
which is created “from the top” for improvement of effective functioning of the 
state apparatus, electronic democracy is oriented at a more active involvement 
of citizens in political processes, the initiative of state governance “from the 
bottom” (from society). 

The objective of electronic democracy is to facilitate co-participation of 
citizens in implementation of state policy and decision-making. It can support 
transparency of the decision-making process, draw population closer to the 
government and increase the government’s legitimacy level. Such form of 
democracy can be considered to be direct and can to a certain extent change 
accepted norms of representative democracy which are becoming more and more 
ineffective due to using modern manipulation technologies by the governing 
elite. 

We can accentuate several global tendencies of electronic democracy 
development: 

1. Qualitative indices of proactive publication and usage of information are 
increased; 

2. Electronic mail is established as a significant mechanism of communication; 
3. Governmental portals are created which differ from ordinary governmental 

webpages, Internet social groups are formed; 
4. Online-services create a new cyberspace;
5. New electronic innovations are introduced and the level of response to user 

demands is improved on a daily basis; 
6. Internet becomes a universal space for exchange of ideas and opinions 

where citizens can express their attitude to development of democratic 
processes (online debates, protests, petitions, opinion polls, discussions 
etc); 

2 e-Governance in Georgia: World Tendencies – Ketevan Rostiashvili. http://www.idfi.ge/
?cat=researches&topic=35&lang=ka 

http://www.idfi.ge/?cat=researches&topic=35&lang=ka
http://www.idfi.ge/?cat=researches&topic=35&lang=ka
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7. Internet transparency promotes improvement of the general level of 
democracy;

8. Amounts invested in e-Governance ensure reduction of administrative 
expenses and improvement of governance efficiency; 

9. Internet-community leaders (bloggers, active users of social networks etc.) 
appear which exert a certain influence on formation of social opinion and 
political processes; 

10. State institutions attempt to use more interaction in the course of public 
policy formation and correction of certain social-economic directions. 

The main condition for full introduction of electronic democracy standards 
as well as effective functioning of e-Governance in general is a high number 
of Internet users in the country. For instance, 75% of Estonian population have 
access to the Internet while in South Korea (according to the UN research, South 
Korea holds the first place in the world from the viewpoint of e-Government 
development) Internet is available to 81% of the population (approx.  40 million 
people).

WORLD INTERNET USAGE AND POPULATION STATISTICS

World Regions Population
(2010 Est.)

Internet Users
Penetration

(% Population)
Growth

2000-2010
Users % of 

Table
Internet 
Users

Dec. 31, 2000
2010 

Africa 1,013,779,050 4,514,400 110,931,700 10.9 % 2,357.3 % 5.6 %
Asia 3,834,792,852 114,304,000 825,094,396 21.5 % 621.8 % 42.0 %
Europe 813,319,511 105,096,093 475,069,448 58.4 % 352.0 % 24.2 %
Middle East 212,336,924 3,284,800 63,240,946 29.8 % 1,825.3 % 3.2 %
North America 344,124,450 108,096,800 266,224,500 77.4 % 146.3 % 13.5 %
Latin America/
Caribbean

592,556,972 18,068,919 204,689,836 34.5 % 1,032.8 % 10.4 %

Oceania / 
Australia

34,700,201 7,620,480 21,263,990 61.3 % 179.0 % 1.1 %

WORLD TOTAL 6,845,609,960 360,985,492 1,966,514,816 28.7 % 444.8 % 100.0 %
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In order to more fully demonstrate the correlation of the democracy level with 
the Internet development level we would like to present a comparative analysis 
scale of these two indexes where democracy development index is presented by 
Economist Intelligence Unit (http://www.eiu.com) while, the data regarding the 
number of Internet users are provided by the web-portal Internet World Statistics 
(www.internetworldstats.com).

Country Place in the global rating 
of democracy development

Percentage of Internet 
users

Norway 1 94.8 %
Iceland 2 97.6 %
Denmark 3 86.1 %
Sweden 4 92.5 %ა 
New Zealand 5 85.4 %
Australia 6 80.1 %
Finland 7 85.3 %
Switzerland 8 75.3 %
Canada 9 77.7 %
The Netherlands 10 88.6 %

As it is seen from these statistical data, the number of Internet users in the 
world increases on an annual basis and according to the year 2010 data, 28.7% 
has access to the Internet. At the same time it is true that Internet-community 
acquires a significant social and political function in countries with highly-
developed democracy.  

In 2006-2008 the number of Internet users significantly increased in Georgia. 
According to data provided by the National Commission of Communications, the 
recorded number of Internet users increased from 7.8% to 23.8% within 2 years. 

324720 

497421 

705797 

2008 2009 2010

Dynamics of increase of the number of 
internet users recorded in Georgia

It should be mentioned that recorded number of users does not reflect the real 
picture because the final number of Internet users is much higher in Georgia (in 
most cases, more than one user uses a fixed IP while in state or other organizations 
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the total number of users is much higher naturally). According to the information 
of the Internet World Statistics online resource (www.internetworldstats.com)  
which relies upon data provided by the United Nations agency for information 
and communication technology issues - ITU), dynamics of increase of Internet 
users in Georgia can be shown in the following manner:

Year Number of Internet 
Users

Population Percentage of 
Internet Users

2000 20,000 4,389,004 0.5 %
2006 332,000 4,389,004 7.6 %
2009 1,024,000 4,615,807 22.2 %
2010 1,300,000 4,600,825 28.3 %

Unfortunately, official data of the National Commission of Communications 
confirm the low level of Internet availability in regions of Georgia though a 
positive tendency of reduction of the technical gap is also observed:

89249

128308

157549

13603

49023
64163

2008 2009 2010

Tbilisi
Regions

Correlation between users recorded in 
Tbilisi and Regions of Georgia

Successful dynamics of the business sector of Internet (as compared to other 
segments of economic sector) in Georgia should also be mentioned. The increase 
achieved 34% and equaled to 94 824 961 million GEL in 2009. This once again 
proves that Internet is one of the most dynamically developing and prospective 
business sectors in Georgia. 

Electronic democracy is based upon e-Governance and implies 
interaction	of	modern	informational	and	communication	technologies,	
their adaptation to universal standards of democratic values. For 
example,	the	EC	e-Governance	Concept	encompasses	development	of	
modern electronic technologies in three directions of the public sector 
functioning:	 communication	 of	 state	 authorities	 and	 civil	 society,	
functioning of state authorities at all stages of democratic processes 
(Electronic	 democracy),	 providing	 public	 services	 (electronic	 public	
service). 

http://www.internetworldstats.com/
http://www.unsystem.org/
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Electronic democracy requires electronic engagement of governments, 
voters, political parties and social groups in democratic processes. A more active 
and higher standard of interaction and accountability is introduced.

Electronic democracy introduces totally new forms of communication 
between the government and a citizen: 

•	E-engagement – engaging public in the policy process via electronic 
networks;

•	E-consultation – refers to interaction between public servants and the 
citizens and interest groups;

•	E-controllership – consisting of the capability to manage the cost, 
performance, and services of an organization electronically.

At the same time, one of the most important milestones of electronic as well 
as representative democracy is the government transparency because only the 
society based upon mutual trust and the government accountability can govern 
the state functioning by democratic principles. We would also like to mention 
that Electronic Governance Concept in its initial form dedicated less attention to 
development of electronic transparency component because it was oriented at 
reduction of administrative expenses and improvement of quality of governance 
efficiency by providing electronic services. One of the reasons was inexistence 
of relevant legislative norms/regulations which would provide a legal framework 
required for electronic transparency introduction. Though, the world economic 
crisis in 2008 changed many circumstances in this direction. First of all these 
changes were caused by unprecedented reduction of society’s trust in business 
and state sectors. It was against the background of the global economic crisis 
that the leading democratic countries became sure about necessity to introduce 
new standards of electronic transparency. One of the most modern examples 
is the US President’s innovative strategy “Transparent and Open Government 
Initiative).”
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Transparent e-Governance on the US example

Memorandum for the Heads of Executive 
Departments and Agencies 

SUBJECT: Transparency and Open Government

We will work together to ensure the public trust 
and	establish	a	system	of	transparency,	public	
participation,	and	collaboration.	Openness	will	
strengthen	our	democracy	and	promote	efficiency	
and	effectiveness	in	Government.

BARACK OBAMA

One of the first initiatives of the US President Barack Obama is formulated in 
his “Transparent and Open Government” Memorandum: “My administration is 
called to create unprecedented level of government transparency. We will work 
together to ensure the public trust and establish a system of transparency, public 
participation, and collaboration. Openness will strengthen our democracy and 
promote efficiency and effectiveness in Government”. The new initiative is based 
upon three postulates:

•	Transparency - Government should provide citizens with information about 
what their govern ment is doing so that government can be held accountable;

•	Participation -  Government should actively solicit expertise from outside 
Washington so that it makes policies with the benefit of the best information;

•	Collaboration - Government officials should work together with one another 
and with citizens as part of doing their job of solving national problems.

According to the Memorandum issued on January 21, 2009, preparation 
of the “Open and Transparent Government” initiative was assigned to the 
Office of Management and Budget who engaged in the Directive preparation 
process not only experts but a wide society as well. The community directly 
interested in government transparency also participated in development of the 
“Open Government” initiative. Interestingly, this initiative first of all addressed 
transparency of the government’s electronic resources. According to the 
elaborated directive, the US “Open Government” Initiative was implemented 
in the Internet-space. The Directive issued by the Office of Management and 
Budget obliged all agencies and state structures to develop openness policy in 
four main directions:

1. Publish Government Information Online – Public information should be 
published in a timely manner and in a format available to population. At 
the same time, proactive publication of public information should promote 
reduction of the number of official requests of public information (FOIA). All 
state structures were commissioned to create a separate section of open 
government on their own webpage http://www.[agency].gov/open;
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2. Improve the Quality of Government Information – Creation of 
control mechanisms over qualitative indexes of governmental information, 
assessment of  information objectivity;

3. Create and institutionalize the open government approach – Each 
state structure should create and introduce its own strategy of open 
government. “Open Government” management panel should be created for 
coordination of the Initiative- www.whitehouse.gov/open;

“Open Government” 
management panel 
www.whitehouse.
gov/open

4. Create an Enabling Policy Framework for Open Government – Practical 
introduction of innovative technical achievements for implementation of the 
open government idea, improvement of the communication quality between 
government and society.3 

It should be mentioned that the White House Administration’s Initiative 
on Transparent and Open Government Creation is based upon a number of 
legislative acts including e-Governance Act adopted in 2002, Information Quality 
Act, Records Management Restriction Act etc. 

According to Barack Obama’s initiative and the Directive of the Office of 
Management and Budget several important projects were implemented in the 
US which significantly increased the transparency level in the US and enhanced 
the accountability of the President Administration before the citizens:

• First, the list of all visitors/guests of the White House was published. By means 
of this electronic database Americans are able to see whose opinions the 
White House Administration considers in the policy-formation and planning 
process: http://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/disclosures/visitor-records;

3 http://www.whitehouse.gov/open/documents/open-government-directive

http://www.whitehouse.gov/open
http://www.whitehouse.gov/open
http://www.whitehouse.gov/open
http://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/disclosures/visitor-records
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White House Guest 
Database -  www.
whitehouse.gov

• Also, it was for the first time when public information about salaries of the 
President Administration employees was published online and it became 
possible to obtain annual financial reports of public officials employed by 
the Administration: http://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/disclosures/
annual-records/2010:

Salaries of the 
US President 
Administration 
employees -  
www.whitehouse.
gov

• Online resource was created where users can become fully acquainted with 
projects sponsored according to the American Recovery and Reinvestment 
Act of 2009 and their financial reporting (787 billion USD): - www.recovery.
gov:

Detailed 
visualization of 
grant issued within 
the framework of 
the Act  -  
www.recovery.gov

• A large-scale project “Electronic Database” was initiated by the President 
Administration in May 2009 – “www.data.gov.“ On the web-resource created 
within the project framework, public data owned by various departments 
and agencies of the US Government are published online. The web-portal 
already includes 167  000 various certificates regarding activities of the 
Federal Government. Such a universal electronic database based upon 

http://www.whitehouse.gov/
http://www.whitehouse.gov/
http://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/disclosures/annual-records/2010
http://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/disclosures/annual-records/2010
http://www.whitehouse.gov/
http://www.whitehouse.gov/
http://www.recovery.gov/
http://www.recovery.gov/
http://www.recovery.gov/
http://www.data.gov/
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“one-stop principle”, facilitates users to obtain information about significant 
data accumulated in governmental structures. It is also noteworthy that the 
database is updated considering desires and advices of users on a regular 
basis;

Electronic Database 
- www.data.gov

• The US citizens are enabled to use online resource - www.usaspending.
gov. The database contains information about grants issued by the US 
Government, contracts, financial assitance and other spending activities. 
Any person concerned can become acquainted with official data of disposing 
federal budget allocations which introduces a new standard of government 
accountability and enhances credibility between population and the 
governing elite;

Federal Budget 
Electronic Database 
- www.usaspending.
gov

• One more important innovation was validated from June 2009.  A special 
web-resource - www.it.usaspending.gov  was created where  the amount 
invested by the US Government in IT sector (approximately 78 billion USD 
annually) is reflected and financed projects, programs and list of tendencies 
are provided. The IT control panel enables the IT specialists to observe the 
development of this field, participate in various discussions, make corrections 
to the process of project planning and implementation;

http://www.data.gov/
http://www.usaspending.gov/
http://www.usaspending.gov/
http://www.usaspending.gov/
http://www.usaspending.gov/
http://www.it.usaspending.gov/
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Database of 
projects sponsored 
in IT sector  www.
it.usaspending.gov

• Taxpayers in the US have an opportunity to monitor financial expenses paid 
by the state for foreign assistance,  development dynamics, the available 
statistical data. Information can be obtained at the website created specially 
for this purpose by the USAID - www.foreignassistance.gov;

Financial assistance 
provided by the US 
to Georgia - www.
foreignassistance.
gov

• Within the framework of the “Open Government” initiative the US 
Government dedicates significant attention not only to its own transparency 
and accountability before society but also activization of citizens’ 
participation in the policy planning process. Many innovative web-resources 
are created and functioning in this direction where common citizens as well 
as specialists and public officials can make their opinions and ideas available 
to state authorities. For example, by using the web-resource www.challenge.
gov various US state authorities publish contests of ideas regarding specific 
projects directed at sector development. Public officials can freely use this 
webpage for implementation of innovative ideas and even receive monetary 
awards for it sometimes. At the same time, they can offer specific proposals 
to state institution. Exchange of ideas takes place not only by using web-
resources of federal importance but also through webpages of specific state 
agencies. For example, the US State Department’s web project “Opinion 
Space 2.0” (www.state.gov/opinionspace/) enables all those concerned to 
express their opinion about directions and tasks of the US foreign policy. 
Currently 24 different departments use IdeaScale application on their 
own website www.ideascale.com) which enables the viewer of a specific 

http://www.it.usaspending.gov/
http://www.it.usaspending.gov/
http://www.foreignassistance.gov/
http://www.foreignassistance.gov/
http://www.foreignassistance.gov/
http://www.foreignassistance.gov/
http://www.foreignassistance.gov/
http://www.challenge.gov/
http://www.challenge.gov/
http://www.state.gov/opinionspace/
http://www.ideascale.com/
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governmental online resource to express his opinion about some significant 
problem related to development of open government policy;

Idea exchange 
panel on “The 
Department of 
Homeland Security” 
webpage -  
www.dhs.gov 

• In order to facilitate access of users to various  online projects and services 
initiated by the government, a larges-scale web-portal www.usa.gov has 
been created and functioning. It facilitates access to all those informational 
resources which are administered by the US Government’s various 
departments and agencies in the Internet space. The webportal increases 
availability for those wishing to use electronic services and required 
information in informational space and it represents a virtual gates of 
America actually.

Unified Web-
portal of the US 
Government -  
www.usa.gov

http://www.dhs.gov/
http://www.usa.gov/
http://www.usa.gov/
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We have considered only an imcomplete list of websites which are actively 
developed for increasing the degree of transparency, accountability, involvement 
of citizens in social-political process by the Federal Government.4 It should also be 
mentioned that this is a very scarce list of existing online projects and certain state 
agencies introduce new technologies, decisions, communication technologies, 
use social media, publish “Open Government” reports, improve their own web-
resources based upon principles of openness, accountability, transparency and 
engagement within the scope of their competence, without directives from the 
central government. It is noteworthy that apart from institutional introduction of 
electronic democracy, e-Governance provides a significant practical benefit to 
the US Government and the citizens. For example, introduction of communication 
technologies reduces paperwork expenses. Program introduction of modern 
information technologies in the US Department of Energy in 2006-2009 enabled 
to save 160 million USD, in the Treasury Department - to save 199 million USD 
etc.   

At the US example we can mention that electronic transparency is a necessary 
constituent and component of modern e-Governance. American achievements 
of e-Governance and eletronic transparency, their  development dynamics and 
objectives are well formulated in the report sent to the Congress by the Office of 
Management and Budget - “ FY 2009 Report to Congress on the Implementation 
of The e-Government Act of 2002 - http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/e-gov/), as 
well as in the Open Government Progress Report to the American People - http://
www.whitehouse.gov/open) published by the White House. 

4 For more details you can view the White House innovative projects gallery -  
http://www.whitehouse.gov/open/innovations 

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/e-gov/
http://www.whitehouse.gov/open
http://www.whitehouse.gov/open
http://www.whitehouse.gov/open/innovations
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Global Tendencies of e-Governance Development

Surveys regularly carried out by the UN Department for Economic and Social 
Relations represent a significant source for analysis of global tendencies of 
e-Governance. The last such survey was published under the name “The 2010 
United Nations e-Government Survey: Leveraging e-Government at a time of 
financial and economic crisis).” 5

The survey was carried out in 2009 and was published in the yearly 2010. It 
reflects dynamics of development of global tendencies of e-Governance against 
the background of the world economic and financial crisis. We will not start to 
describe the methodology of this large-scale and rather significant survey.6 But 
is it noteworthy that E–Government Development Index used to be calculated 
with rather many marks:

• Online service index;
• E-participation index;
• Telecommunication infrastructure index;
• Human capital index.

In the opinion of the UN experts, there are four stages of development of 
electronic services:

Transactional

Connected

Enhanced

Emerging

Stage I  
Government websites provide information on public policy, governance, 

laws, regulations, relevant documentation and government services provided. 
They have links to ministries, departments and other branches of government. 
Citizens are easily able to obtain information on what is new in the national 

5 http://www2.unpan.org/egovkb/global_reports/10report.htm 
6 The report methodology is discussed in our previous survey dedicated to this issue: 

“e-Governance in Georgia: World Tendencies” – Ketevan Rostiashvili http://www.idfi.ge
/?cat=researches&topic=35&lang=ka 

http://www2.unpan.org/egovkb/global_reports/10report.htm
http://www.idfi.ge/?cat=researches&topic=35&lang=ka
http://www.idfi.ge/?cat=researches&topic=35&lang=ka
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government and ministries and have links to archived information; 

Stage II
Government websites deliver enhanced one-way or simple two-way 

e-communication between government and citizen, such as downloadable 
forms for government services and applications. The sites have audio and video 
capabilities and are multi-lingual. This also includes some limited e-services 
where citizens can request non-electronic forms and request for personal 
information, which will be mailed to their house;

Stage III
Government sites engage in two-way communication with their citizens, 

including requesting and receiving inputs on government policies, programmes, 
regulations, etc. In this stage, transactions require some form of electronic 
authentication of the citizen’s identity to successfully complete the exchange.  
This stage also include the processing of non-financial transactions, including, 
for example, downloading and uploading of forms, or on-line completion of 
forms (such as electronic tax filing, application for certificates, licenses, permits, 
e-voting) and financial transactions for any of the above (i.e. where money is 
transferred on a secure network to the government);

Stage IV
Government sites have changed the way to communicate with their citizens 

and they are proactive in requesting information and opinions from the citizens 
using web 2.0 and other interactive tools. The e-services and e-solutions that 
are available cut across the departments and ministries in a seamless manner. 
Information, data and knowledge is transferred from government agencies through 
integrated applications.
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It is also important to mention those online services integration of which 
in governmental web-portals and webpages of Ministries ensures effective 
introduction of all four above-mentioned approaches:

Web functions and services 
What’s new?
Frequently Asked Questions
Archived information

Web functions and services

Site map

Links between national home 
pages and ministries/departments

Links between national home page 
and public sector services

Web functions and services
Minimal level of web content 
accessibility
Site support audio and/or video 
content
Site provides really simple 
syndication (RSS )
Site offers content in more 
than one language

Web functions and services

Site offers service to send alert 
messages to mobile phones

User can apply for registration 
or application by mobile phone

Users can pay registration 
fees, fines, etc. by mobile 
phone

Web functions and services
Payments
Registrations
Permits, certificates, 
identification cards
Fines
Utilities

Web functions and services

Online forms

Online transactions

Application for government 
benefits

Acknowledgement of receipt

Web functions and services
Single sign-on
Electronic identity management 
and authentication
One-stop shop
Information in machine 
readable format
Interaction with Head of State

Web functions and services 

Citizens can request personal information about themselves

Users can tag, assess and rank content

Users can initiate proposals 

Users can personalize the website

Government has committed to incorporating e-participation 
outcome in decision making

There are not many countries in the world with developed resources of 
e-Governance at all four stages. The leading countries by electronic service 
index as well as the level of e-Governance development in general are South 
Korea, the USA and Canada.

It is also very important to review development of electronic engagement 
(E-participation). Internet provides a new arena to politicians for electoral 
enhancement of their positions and approaches. At the same time, internet 
creates an environment where all social groups including marginalized have 
an opportunity to express their own civil position and achieve a specific goal. 
Many governments have been trying to establish a feedback with population via 
their own webpage. Governments try to directly deliver information to citizens, 
engage them in political processes and thus enhance their political platforms. 
In the UN expert opinion, E-participation encompasses three main components:
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1. E-Information - This is a one-way communication from government to 
citizen and businesses. The government web sites provide citizens with 
e-information concerning policies, laws, regulations, citizenship, budgets, 
services and solutions and other related issues provided by the government. 
It is concerned with the provision of information on the website concerning 
e-participation activities, e-participation policies or mission, participation in 
rural or isolated areas, and how often such information is updated. This 
information can be provided via newsletter, web forum, blogs, community 
networks, SMS, email, etc;

2. E-Consultation - This is a two-way e-communication between government 
and citizen, which is initiated from the government side. Governments 
engage with citizens and businesses seeking feedback and comments on 
issues concerning the welfare of citizens. Governments need to acknowledge 
the feedback from the citizens and respond to the citizens. E-consultation 
also involves governments reporting on the outcome of the dialogue with the 
citizens and announcing a way forward. The government uses online tools 
such as: polls, surveys, chat rooms, blogs, social networks, newsgroups and 
other interactive tools to support citizen engagement. E-consultation can 
also be initiated by the citizen through the use of interactive tools such 
as e-petitions. Citizens can use e-petitions to initiate a dialogue on issues 
concerning their welfare with government to change public policy;

3. E-Decision Making - This is also a two-way e-communication between 
citizen and government in which citizens are involved either partially or 
fully involved in the decision-and policy-making process. Governments elicit 
feedback from citizens and businesses on government proposals, which will 
have direct bearing on the decision-making process. Citizens themselves 
can also introduce issues that can amend, modify or create policies and 
in partnership with the government participate in the decision-making 
process. Citizens are thus empowered to be more involved in government 
policies and programmes.

The top leading countries by E-participation index appeared to be South 
Korea, Australia and Spain. It it worth mentioning that if nobody was surprised 
to see Estonia on the 9th place among the leading 20 countries. Kazakhstan’s 
18th position became a real surprise (Kazakhstan occupied position 106 in 
the E-participation rating in 2008). The country which had held position 81 by 
e-Governance development level in 2008, managed to advance by 40 positions 
within 2 years. By qualitative E-participation indices Kazakhstan left behind 
countries such as the USA and Great Britain. The foundation of such success 
was first of all the e-Governance national web-portal www.e-gov.kz. Apart from 
online services and vast amount of information the web-portal is distinguished 
by web 2.07 conception integration and is oriented at maximal participation 
of population. By means of web-portal based on one stop principle population 
has access to all governmental resources and informational services, video and 
educational programs for children are functioning as well as online discussions 

7 You can see more information about web 2.0 on the link:  - http://radar.oreilly.
com/2010/05/what-does-government-20-look-l.html 

http://www.e-gov.kz/
http://radar.oreilly.com/2010/05/what-does-government-20-look-l.html
http://radar.oreilly.com/2010/05/what-does-government-20-look-l.html
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and consultations, E-participation event calendar is published, the Prime Minsiter 
and all members of the Cabinet of Ministers have their own blog where questions 
can be asked to officials and receive their answers. Authorized user has an 
opportunity to send electronic messages to any governmental authority. Various 
issues are discussed on online forums, citizens can initiate their own proposals 
etc.

Kazakhstan›s 
e-Government Web-
portal  -   
www.e-gov.kz

The main characteristics of E-participation can be divided into four thematic 
blocks:

Web functions  

Site provides information about inclusive-
ness in e-government

Site provides information about 
e-participation

Web functions  

Citizen charter or service level statement

Facility for citizen feedback

Information about employment opportunities

Web functions  

Online discussion forums

Archive of past discussion forums

Government officials respond to citizen 
input

Government officials moderate 
e-consultations

Online petitions

Online voting

Web functions  

Online polls

Online surveys or feedback forms

Chat rooms or instant messaging

Web logs

List services or newsgroups

Other interactive tools

According to the survey, the top 20 leading countries of the world by E–
Government Development Index look as follows: 

 

http://www.e-gov.kz/
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Position Country E–Government Development Index

1 The Republic of South 
Korea

0.8785

2 The United States of 
America

0.8510

3 Canada 0.8448

4 The Great Britain 0.8147

5 The Netherlands 0.8097

6 Norway 0.8020

7 Denmark 0.7872

8 Australia 0.7863

9 Spain 0.7516

10 France 0.7510

11 Singapore 0.7476

12 Sweden 0.7474

13 Bahrain 0.7363

14 The New Zealand 0.7311

15 Germany 0.7309

16 Belgium 0.7225

17 Japan 0.7152

18 Switzerland 0.7136

19 Finland 0.6967

20 Estonia 0.6965

The majority of the countries in the top 20 are distniguished by high income 
and economic stability. Economic factors have mainly determined the high index 
of e-Governance of these countries. At the same time great importance is attached 
to qualitative indexes of telecommunication infrastructure and human resources 
for development of e-Governance. Accordingly, countries with strong economies 
are distinguished by high level of education of the population, they possess more 
financial and human resources for successful development of e-Governance. 
Well-developed webpages and e-services will be less effective in case population 
can not use them because of lack of access to the Internet or special skills. In 
the opinion of the UN experts, less developed countries should develop three 
main directions simultaneously through financial and intellectual investment to 
overcome the existing technical gap - telecommunication infrastructure, online 
services and educational system.

At the same time, practice shows that in less developed countries there is often 
a potential to eradicate technological underdevelopment through investment in 
new technologies (mobile connection), creation of well-construed web-portals, 
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development of community centers and communication network (which increases 
the quality of access to the Internet among population). A global tendency 
appears that more and more countries give advantage to communication with 
their population via Internet. Online questionnaires, discussions, blogs and other 
E-participation mechanisms often become a precondition of real transformations 
and improvements. Bahrain’s national web-portal can serve as an example - 
www.bahrain.bh. 

Bahrain national 
web-portal -  
www.bahrain.bh

At the expense of the improved web-resource the country has made a great 
step forward in the UN e-Governance Development Rating (42nd position in 2008, 
13th position in 2010) and occupied a dignified place along with highly developed 
countries. The web-portal offers numerous e-services to users. According to the 
e-Governance Concept, thematically are distinguished e-services for citizens, 
business and governmenal structures. The guests of the country can order 
an electronic visa or obtain information about air flights on mobile phone. On 
the web-portal you can find information not only about public but also about 
private services. Ideas and opinions are exchanged with officials by means of an 
integrated blog etc.  

From the comparison scale of the world regions e-Governance development 
levels it is seen that Europe still remains the leader in this direction. At the same 
time Europe is the only region in the world which  tries to create a regional 
system of e-Governance. 

http://www.bahrain.bh/
http://www.bahrain.bh/
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e-Governance is considered as an important component of informational 
society development. According to the 2011-2015 Action Plan governed by the 
European Commission, 50% of the European Union population and 80% of business 
will be fully using e-Governance by 2015. Despite the fact that integration of a 
unified system in the EU is a rather complex, labour-intensive and costly project, 
in the long term it will save significant amounts. For example, by estimate, a 
Unified Electronic System of Declaration saves 50 billion USD annually.8 It is 
worth mentioning that E-participation directed at development of e-Transparency 
and E-democracy is among 5 top priorities of the EU e-Governance Action Plan. 
Pan-European pilot projects on e-Governance have been launched:

• PEPPOL (Pan European Public Procurement Online);
• (STORK (Secure identity across borders linked));
• SPOCS (Simple Procedures Online for Cross-border Services);
• ECRN (European Civil Registry Network);
• PEP-NET (Pan European E-Participation Network);
• eGOS (e-Guidance and e-Government Services) etc.9

As for separate European countries according to the rating, the top 10 
European countries are as follows: 

8 http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/activities/egovernment/policy/index_en.htm 
9 http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/activities/egovernment/implementation/

ict_psp/index_en.htm 

http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/activities/egovernment/policy/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/activities/egovernment/implementation/ict_psp/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/information_society/activities/egovernment/implementation/ict_psp/index_en.htm
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№ Country E–Government Development Index

1 The Great Britain 0.8147
2 The Netherlands 0.8097
3 Norway 0.8020
4 Denmark 0.7872
5 Spain 0.7516
6 France 0.7510
7 Sweden 0.7474
8 Germany 0.7309
9 Belgium 0.7225

10 Switzerland 0.7136

The list is topped by the Great Britain which has introduced many innovative 
services for population at the expense of a well-planned state program. Launching 
of a user-oriented national web-portal www.direct.gov.uk appeared to be decisive 
for successful development of e-Governance. 

Unified online 
system of Great 
Britain e-services - 
www.direct.gov.uk

The web-portal provides British citizens with full information about existing 
governmental services, provides various practical data. By means of the web-
portal British people receive necessary advice, participate in online discussions 
and campaigns. The webpage has mobile application support. There is a special 
section for children. One specific address contains information about transport, 
health, education, employment, environmental protection, disabled persons, 
legal, financial, youth and other social issues. In fact the web-portal accumulates 
flows of informaiton of various governmental institutions and facilitates 
population’s access to information which is important for them - from correct 
utilization of used batteries to information about dissemination of new electronic 
viruses.  

 
Finally, success of the leader country of the rating - South Korea should 

be mentioned. South Korea developed all components important for effective 
functioning of e-Governance under longstanding, well-estimated and planned 

http://www.direct.gov.uk/
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program. There is a webpage www.egov.go.kr for carrying out electronic 
transactions, various financial operations and calculations, completing forms 
and applications (information about 5300 public services, receiving 720 public 
services by email, option of electronic completion of 28 various forms). After 
electronic authorization this webpage becomes the personal webpage of 
financial activities of citizens. The national portal www.korea.go.kr, distinguished 
by simple design and multifunctionality enables citizens to have access to the 
integrated system of all governmental structures. 

South Korea 
e-Governance Portal 
- www.korea.go.kr

(The national web-portal makes governmental information, online forms and 
transactions, mobile notification and electronic consultation programs available.) 
For the purpose of E-participation of citizens a separate webpage is functioning 
- www.epeople.go.kr. It connects population with all administrative authorities, 
provides electronic consideration and execution  of administrative cases, enables 
to send notifications about corruption, ensures sending requests, solicitations, 
proposals, control over electronic messages, discussions and reviews of social-
political or other character.

South Korea 
E-participation 
service - www.
epeople.go.kr

Public information issuing electronic sistem www.open.go.kr enables the 
inplementation of request and receipt of public information in electronic form.

http://www.egov.go.kr/
http://www.korea.go.kr/
http://www.epeople.go.kr/
http://www.epeople.go.kr/
http://www.epeople.go.kr/
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South Korea public 
information issuing 
electronic system - 
www.open.go.kr

Korea’s large-scale e-Governance program directly managed by the leader 
of the country began as early as in 1994. Despite the fact that hundreds of 
million USD were invested in the program implementation, the achieved result 
really determined the country’s regional leadership in IT sector and provided 
the country’s budget with significant financial benefits. According to the 
existing data, the budget saved 1 billion USD while social-economic expenses 
were reduced by 16 billion USD. Administration was also optimized:  the term 
of replying to public information request was reduced from 30 days to 7 days, 
53% of public information is issued electronically. The time spent on commodity 
export has been reduced from one day to 2 minutes, the time of import has 
been reduced from 2.5 hours to 1.5 hours, the passenger registration time - 
from 40 minutes to 25 minutes. Electronic customs office ensures saving 2.5 
billion USD annually. 80% of Tax Declaration and 75% of obtaining certificates 
are made electronically and these are data of the year 2008 only.10 Supposedly, 
e-Governance achievements of the year 2010 and new programs will bring more 
benefits to population of the country in general.

10 http://www.korea.go.kr/new_eng/service/viewContent.do?enCont
Id=00001264605104039000_151 

http://www.open.go.kr/
http://www.korea.go.kr/new_eng/service/viewContent.do?enContId=00001264605104039000_151
http://www.korea.go.kr/new_eng/service/viewContent.do?enContId=00001264605104039000_151
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General Tendencies of e-Governance and 
e-Transparency Development in Georgia

It should be mentioned that three post-Soviet countries were included in the 
top 20 rating made up by the UN: Estonia occupied the 9th position, Kazakhstan 
- the 18th position and Lithuania - the 19th position. Among 192 countries of the 
world Georgia occupied the 100th position by e-Governance development index. 
By this index Georgia leaves behind only three post-Soviet countries (Armenia - 
position 110, Tajikistan - position 122 and Turkmenistan - position 130).

Among 184 countries Georgia occupies position 100 in the rating of online 
services. Georgia is on the 115th place by telecommunication infrastructure 
development index. Georgia is on the 52rd place among 184 countries by human 
resources potential index. Georgia has the lowest index in E-participation rating 
- 127th place
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As it is shown from the above statistical data, Georgia has the lowest index in 
telecommunication infrastructure development and the population E-participation. 
While telecommunication infrastructure development requires significant financial 
expenses and solid capital investments from the government and the business 
sector, development of E-participation is first of all dependent upon political will 
of the government and appropriate approach of state structures to the issue. 
The 127th place among 184 world countries by the population E-participation 
index is a very low index. This is mainly caused by the infantile attitude of state 
structures and society to electronic communication. At the same time, high index 
of human resources development (52rd place in the world) confirms readiness of 
the Georgian population to become actively involved in electronic projects initiated 
by the government. One important circumstance should also be mentioned. While 
in geographically large countries with big population E-participation of citizens 
brings results mainly at a local level, in a small country like Georgia E-participation 
can bring a real effect because the government has a direct access to its citizens 
and accordingly, their engagement in the decision-making process is facilitated. 
Information resources (official webpages) monitoring of public authorities of 
Georgia carried out by the Institute of Development of Freedom of Information 
(hereafter IDFI) has shown that public institutions (Ministries and Legal Entities 
of Public Law) dedicate less attention to establishment of interaction with the 
viewers of their webpages. Almost no official webpage operates a forum or a blog, 
special sections where it would be possible to hold public discussions or consider 
initiatives, online interviews, web 2.0 social network applications etc. Online 
consultation functions, information dissemination software in social networks, 
options of receiving informational services on mobile phones are rarely present 
on websites. The attitude of state structures regarding participation of users in the 
decision-making process is in fact analogous to the “Question-Answer” section of 
webpages where official agencies ask questions and reply to these questions all by 
themselves. We think that the public campaign “The Government’s Reporting To 
People” initiated by the President of Georgia several years ago would have been 
more efficient if it had turned into a real mechanism from a permanent initiative. 
The simplest and the most acceptable form of realizing this idea would have been 
development of the government’s electronic resources because web-space is 
considered to be the modern and effective platform of accountability.

As the example of the existing tendency we would like to present results 
of a small survey carried out by IDFI. The mentioned survey aimed to assess 
effectiveness of receiving electronic consultations from governmental webpages. 
We tried to identify the structural units of public authorities in charge of public 
relations via email registered in a citizen’s name. It should be mentioned that 
among the objects of the survey no email address and no electronic application 
form was found at the official webpage of the Ministry of Culture and Monument 
Protection of Georgia (www.mcs.gov.ge). It was the same situation with the 
website of Forestry Department (www.forestry.gov.ge), State Fund for Protection 
and Assistance of (Statutory) Victims of Human Trafficking (www.atipfund.gov.ge). 
Electronic notification sending form also did not function on the Social Service 
Agency  (www.ssa.gov.ge) website. Finally, we managed to send electronic 
questions to email addresses of 14 Ministries and 26 LEPLs under their system. 
We received a reply only from 15 public authorities out of 40 interviewed.   

http://www.mcs.gov.ge/
http://www.forestry.gov.ge/
http://www.atipfund.gov.ge/
http://www.ssa.gov.ge/
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One more negative tendency occurred after IDFI requested public information 
about the number of 2009-2010 Internet-users of official webpages of legislative 
and executive government. We requested public information from the Parliament 
of Georgia, the President’s Administration, The City Hall of Tbilisi, 16 Ministries, 
Procurement, Civil and Public Registry Agencies. Unfortunately, most of these 
agencies did not reply to our official request at all. On the basis of analysis of the 
received information it was clarified that the Parliament of Georgia, the Ministry 
of Energy and the Ministry of Culture and Monument Protection did not possess 
statistical data about the number of their webpage viewers. It can be said that 
such attitude to public recognizability of their own information resources does 
not promote development  of E-participation. 

At the same time, the obtained public information confirmed the fact that the 
number of official web-resource users increases annually. For instance, 200066 
users visited the official website of the Government of Georgia (www.government.
gov.ge) in 2010, the Ministry of Justice (www.justice.gov.ge) website had 313500 
viewers, the Ministry of Regional Development and Infrastructure website  
(www.mrdi.gov.ge) had 52855 viewers, the official websites of State Ministers 
for Reintegration  (www.smr.gov.ge) and Diaspora (www.diaspora.gov.ge) were 
visited by 20 000 users, the State Procurement Agency (www.spa.ge) by 206874 
and the Civil Registry Agency (www.cra.gov.ge) by  188818 visitors. The statistics 
of increase of number of users of official website of the Ministry of Finance of 
Georgia is particularly interesting: 309035 users in 2009 and three times more 
viewers in 2010 - 999402. The dynamics of increase of official governmental 
Internet-resources viewers proves that all preconditions have been created in 
Georgia for E-participation development.

As for development of electronic services in Georgia, positive tendencies are 
observed in this direction in 2010. Two institutions of the Executive Government 
appear to be leaders in this sector - Ministries of Finance and Justice. Many 
electronic services are accumulated on the official website of the Ministry of 
Finance of Georgia  (www.mof.gov.ge): calculation of the cost of vehicle customs 
clearance, online system of calculation of property tax rates and coefficients, 
activation of completed registration forms by web camera, option of online 
completion and sending of declaration, completion of a public institution 
declaration, electronic customs clearance of mail, online auction and online 
payments. Besides, important data ara available on the webpage: electronic 
budget, information on entrepreneurs, charity and cash-register records, etc. 
For more interaction audio/video explanations are integrated on the website. 
Launch of a separate web-portal of electronic services by the Ministry of Finance 
Revenue Service should be also mentioned (www.rs.ge) which will significantly 
facilitate taxpayer’s activities. 

http://www.government.gov.ge/
http://www.government.gov.ge/
http://www.justice.gov.ge/
http://www.mrdi.gov.ge/
http://www.smr.gov.ge/
http://www.diaspora.gov.ge/
http://www.spa.ge/
http://www.cra.gov.ge/
http://www.mof.govge/
http://www.rs.ge/
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E-system of services 
of the Revenue 
Service -  www.rs.ge

The Finance-Analytical Service of the Ministry of Finance implements significant 
electronic projects in G2G and G2E directions: State Treasury Electronic Service 
System (eTreasury), Records Management Electronic System (eDocument), 
State Budget Planning Electronic System (eBudget), integration into a unified 
information system of financial management of the state sector electronic 
systems, integration into a unified system of state financial management of all 
electronic systems.11 

Electronic services have been introduced in the system of Ministry of Justice 
of Georgia as well. After implementation of the new initiative it became possible 
to notarize any consents, statements, letter of attorney online by using skype. It 
is also possible to receive legal advice on the Notary Chamber  webpage (www.
notary.ge). The electronic database integrated with regional offices of the National 
Agency of Public Registry have increased the level of electronic availability 
of public information to the population. Electronic registries of debtors of the 
National Bureau of Enforcement and enforcement record management operate 
(www.nbe.gov.ge). Statutory acts electronically published on the webpage of 
the Legislative Herald (www.matsne.gov.ge) have become legally valid. The 
Georgian citizens who are abroad have been enabled to obtain a passport by 
means of electronic service of the Civil Registry Agency. The Agency is planning 
to introduce a rather important innovation - electronic identity document (eID). 
This document will be a plastic card-like and will bear the owner’s electronic 
signature. eID card will have functions of social payments, travel cards, insurance 
policy etc. Electronic signature will enable a citizen to carry out various online 
financial transactions and receive existing electronic services. Any electronic 
document signed by the card will be officially valid. In the early 2010 a new LEPL 
was established under the Ministry of Justice - Data Exchange Agency whose 
tasks are to establish data exchange infrastructure and information security 
development. For the purpose of facilitation of access to electronic services by 
users the Agency created a webpage www.e-government.ge to accumulate all 
electronic services existing in Georgia. 

11 http://www.fas.ge/4219 

http://www.rs.ge/
http://www.notary.ge/
http://www.notary.ge/
http://www.nbe.gov.ge/
http://www.matsne.gov.ge/
http://www.e-government.ge/
http://www.fas.ge/4219
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Portal of electronic 
services (Data 
Exchange Agency) - 
www.e-government.
ge

At the same time the Agency plans to implement the E-Georgia Project under 
EU partnership. According to the official statement the project serves further 
development of e-Governance in Georgia and is divided into three stages: 1) 
Implementation of the best models of EU-adopted practice in the Georgian 
reality; 2) Introduction of relevant regulations and standards; 3) Ensurance of 
functioning of informational security systems by means of a strong institutional 
mechanism - Computer Emergency Response Teams (CERT). By means of the 
project the Agency plans to create a state interagency network, share the best 
experience of the EU countries and introduce a reliable mechanism of data 
protection. 12 

A number of positive tendencies  are  observed in Georgia in  e-Transparency 
direction. First of all, introduction of a Unified Electronic System of State 
Procurement in the late 2010 should be mentioned. Creation of electronic resource 
of state tenders is a part of the approved National Anticorruption Strategy of 
Georgia. The web-portal ensures open, transparent and competitive environment 
for any person participating in procurement procedures. Such electronic system 
facilitates administrative procedures, ensures  receiving information about 
procurement  and  makes the tender process transparent (www.procurement.
gov.ge).

Unified electronic 
system of State 
Procurements 
https://tenders.
procurement.gov.ge

One more important project directed at improvement of accountability and 
transparency quality is implemented in public management sector. The Civil 
Service Bureau has made the declarations of property completed by public 

12 http://e-government.ge/news-169-1.html 

http://www.e-government.ge/
http://www.e-government.ge/
https://tenders.procurement.gov.ge
https://tenders.procurement.gov.ge
https://tenders.procurement.gov.ge
https://tenders.procurement.gov.ge
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officials electronically available (www.csb.gov.ge). The same Bureau administers 
a specially created webpage (www.jobs.gov.ge) which facilitates increase of 
awareness level among seekers of employment in public sector.

Search system of 
declarations of 
officials at the Civil 
Service Bureau 
webpage - www.csb.
gov.ge

We have already mentioned that rather important databases are placed on 
websites of public authorities included in systems of the Ministry of Finance and 
the Ministry of Justice. Electronic availability of public information is one of the 
necessary components for e-Transparency development. State authorities possess 
significant public information about various social, economic and financial issues. 
Often it is problematic to issue this public information, mainly because of wrong 
management or limited resources. That’s why leading democratic countries 
actively introduce standards of electronic availability of data in practice. For 
example, in the USA electronic public database is considered to be the most 
important e-Transparency project www.data.gov). The same electronic database 
is operated in the Great Britain (www.data.gov.uk). Unfortunately the open data 
proactive publication policy does not bear an institutional or a unified legislative 
character in Georgia yet.  

In conclusion, we may say that positive tendencies are observed in Georgia in 
the direction of e-Governance development. Modern informational technologies 
are introduced in practice and significant electronic projects are planned. 
Governmental commission supporting e-Governance development has been 
operating since 2007. The Commission is directly administered by the government 
Chancellery and it includes experts of this sector as well as representatives of public 
institutions which are engaged in the process of introduction of e-Governance in 
Georgia. The aim of the Commission is to develop a strategic plan of e-Governance 
development and coordinate interaction between various agencies in this direction. 
Unfortunately, very scarce information can be found via Internet about activities 
of the Commission. No strategic document or Action Plan on e-Governance and 
informational society has been created at this stage. Global tendencies confirm that 
“one-stop” principle is a key to successful e-Governance (Kazakhstan’s example can 
serve as an example). Accumulation of all informational resources and e-services 
on one specific web-portal significantly facilitates user’s access to information and 
services he requires. At the same time, it should be mentioned that the planning 
and coordination commitment for effective introduction of e-Governance should 

http://www.csb.gov.ge/
http://www.jobs.gov.ge/
http://www.csb.gov.ge/
http://www.csb.gov.ge/
http://www.data.gov/
http://www.data.gov.uk/
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be imposed from the top, i.e. from the government. This necessary condition of 
e-Governance is well defined in the Concept “Electronic Government: Principle of 
Organizing a Governing Body by modern technology” developed by the “Effective 
Governance System and Territorial Organization Reform Center”: 

“Creation of electronic governments at a national scale, i.e. mass transfer of 
governing bodies of all levels (central, regional and local) and sectors and public 
authorities to the principle of carrying out activities on the basis of information 
technologies, implies making political decisions of the most significant and 
comprehensive nature by the central government at least in three key directions. 
These directions are:

• State Policy of Informatization; 
• State Policy of the Governance System Decentralization; 
• State Policy of a Rational Public Service creation.“ 13  

In our opinion, any separate Ministry will not be able to effectively plan and/or 
implement a comprehensive and multi-component e-Governance (central, regional, 
local levels) program. The central government should ensure creation of relevant 
technical-technological (providing the country with computers and connection 
to the global Internet network, creation of telecommunication infrastructure), 
institutional (logical system of public services, competencies and interaction) 
and informational environment (participation of society). The government should 
ensure eradication of technical/IT educational underdevelopment of the regions 
with planned programs and investment, develop social E-participation policy, 
introduce e-Transparency standards, create appropriate legislative framework 
etc. We express our hope that concerned public sector will be also engaged in 
development of this field and new standards of electronic democracy will be 
introduced in Georgia by means of creating informational society. 

13 http://www.cegstar.ge/index.php?lang_id=geo&sec_id=46&info_id=1084 

http://www.cegstar.ge/index.php?lang_id=geo&sec_id=46&info_id=1084
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When we talk about legal foundations regulating legal system of the 
government first of all, we mean the unity of norms that govern the activities 
targeted at increased functionality of public authorities, that involves some on-
line services of public authorities by means of their web-pages; this also includes 
other forms of internet interactions with customers (e.g. receiving different types 
of documentations, opportunity of participation in trades etc) and strengthening 
direct response practice; and when the existence of legal foundations governing 
the e-Transparency of legal system of any government is concerned we mean 
the unity of norms that regulate electronic publication and access to the public 
information official web-pages of public authorities, as well as, general public 
involvement in decision making and discussions on issues under authority of an 
institution.

Below we present a short review of legal foundations considered by the 
existing legislation of Georgia that involves the regulation of issues mentioned 
above.

"Law of Georgian State Procurements"

On the 20th of April in 2005 the President of Georgia passed a Law of Georgia 
on State Procurements.

The rules established by this law extend to general legal, organizational 
and economic principles of state Procurements. It must be mentioned that the 
list of exclusions to this law is very long and this law does not apply to certain 
procurements, these are: the procurement of electric power, guaranteed capacity, 
natural gas and water supply state procurements, state purchase of real estate, 
as well as, procurement related to receipt of the real estate with right of use. 
This law does not apply to the procurement of television and radio broadcasting 
time, the spread of advertising by means of mass information and hiring certain 
areas for the purpose of arranging meetings etc. As a result, e-Governance of 
State Procurements regulated by the law is not informative as it covers a limited 
number of State Procurements by means of e-Government and e-Transparency.

On the basis of alteration made in the 2nd clasue of this law in August of 
2010, the	law	defines	that	one	of	its	purposes	is	the	establishment	of	
unified	State	Procurement	electronic	system	and	the	development	of	
trust of society towards it. In relation to this alteration, it is worth mentioning 
that the term “system” was changed by the term “electronic system”. As a 
result of changes made in the 3rd clause of this law in March of 2010 the term 
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“black list database of unconscientious persons involved in Procurements“ was 
introduced; the term is defined as a database that is operated electronically by 
the authorized body (State Procurements Agency) and is placed on its official 
web-page. According to the law, this database is accessible for every person. 
The database will summarise the names of those unconscientious persons, 
applicants and suppliers who have no right to participate in State Procurements 
during 1 year period from the date of their inclusion in the database; this can 
be defined as the effort of e-Transparency establishment from the legal point of 
view. Besides, according to the law, the term “State Purchase” directly involves 
the purchase of any goods, services and construction works electronically. 
The concepts introduced and defined by law carry a great importance in the 
establishment of e-Government regime in the sphere of State Procurements; 
These concepts include: the purchasing organization (the legislative specification 
that the entity carrying out the state purchase is registered in the unified State 
Procurements electronic system), the concept (term) of “electronic means” (that 
is in action from march of 2010 and involves means by which information can 
be processed (including digitally), received, sent, spread  and stored by cable, 
optic, broadcasting or/and other electronic means), concepts (terms) in action 
from August 1, 2010 including ‘e-tender’ (means of purchase the value of which 
is 200 000 GEL or higher), simplified e-tender (means of purchase the value of 
which is up to 200 000 GEL) and e-Trading (procedure that is a part of e-tender 
and simplified e-tender, in case of which the applicant can decrease his price 
for the purpose of winning, during the purchase procedure, by means of unified 
electronic system. Specific regulations defining the activities of authorized 
body (State Procurement Agency) are worth mentioning. For	 example,	 the	
law	 directly	 establishes	 that	 the	 development,	 improvement	 and	
monitoring	of	unified	database	is	one	of	the	functions	of	the	Agency.	
For the purpose of unified state procurement electronic system operation and 
electronic document management during procurement processes the agency 
is authorized to store electronically and send any type of document developed 
by the agency, as well as, publish any type of information or document that 
have legal power, by using unified automated management means. From March, 
2010 clause of law came into force according to which the state e-procurement 
is carried out by simplified e-tender or e-tender. And a simplified procurement 
can also be carried out electronically, as a result of the organization’s decision. 
The statement on carrying out the e-tender and the tender documentation at 
first is published at the unified electronic system of state procurement but then 
the tender committee publishes the statement in newspaper “24 hours”, in 
accordance with the acting law. 

In general, it may be said that the effort of transforming state procurements 
in electronic regime is mostly reflected in the alterations and additions to the 
law, made in 2010, and consequently, these legislative changes are still to be 
applied in practice.
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"Order No. 9 on Temporary Rule of Carrying out State 
e-Procurement"

On the 22nd of October, in 2010 the Head of the State Procurements Agency 
passed an order No. 9 on “Temporary Rule of Carrying Out State e-Procurement”

The aim of the order is to support the state procurement process in 
organizations that decide to carry out State Procurement electronically. The order 
introduces terms that are significant to state e-procurement. These terms are: 
unified electronic system of procurement, state e-procurement, system 
registration, guest, system’s registered user etc. The order also defines the 
following types of statuses: tender is announced, call for proposals is on, call 
for proposals is finished, winner is announced, the process of developing 
the agreement is on, the agreement is made, ended with negative result, 
tender did not take place, tender is terminated etc. The order directly 
establishes e-management regime by defining clauses like system registration, 
placement of tender proposal in the system and making alteration in the proposal 
statement, giving in the proposal statements, principles of qualification data 
development, selection/evaluation, tender commission, making agreement on 
state procurement and its upload on system, electronic guarantee and its price 
etc.

The order directly defines that the unified electronic system of procurement 
is a state procurement portal (www.procurement.gov.ge), that is administered 
by the State Procurement Agency and ensures state procurement by means of 
simplified electronic tender or electronic tender, in an open, transparent and 
competitive environment. The order also defines the following cases of e-mail 
(info@procurement.gov.ge) interactions with the Agency: specifying technical and 
procedural issues by purchasing organizations and suppliers, sending of electronic 
guarantee original document and copies of original document of payment to the 
Agency. Together with the temporary rule, the order also establishes the form of 
Application on Registration and Affidavit. In general terms, it may be said that 
the order fits well the general framework of electronic state procurement and 
reflects one of the principles of improving state procurement process and serves 
as guideline for state procurement (“Implementation of Electronic System and 
Electronic Procurement System Practice”), in accordance with June 3, 2010 Order 
No. 376 of President on “Establishment of National Anti-Corruption Strategy”.

"Law of Georgia on Electronic Signatures and Electronic 
Document"

On March 14, 2008 the Parliament of Georgia passed a Law of Georgia on 
“Electronic Signatures and Electronic Document.”

The law defines management of electronic documents system and the basis of 
electronic signatures use in this system. According to the law mentioned above the 
Government of Georgia ensures the realization of electronic signatures security 
policy. The order introduces concepts of electronic document, electronic 
signature, digital signature, digital signature certificate, body issuing 
the electronic signature certificate, electronic documents management 

http://www.procurement.gov.ge
mailto:info@procurement.gov.ge
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system etc. The law defines that the digital signature on electronic document 
is legally equal to personal signature on hardcopy of the document. It is a very 
interesting fact that though according to the law the government is directly 
responsible for developing tools for ensuring the security of electronic signatures 
policy, the law does not specify the institutions which must develop those tools 
and deadlines for which the tools have to be developed. Until the presence of 
the conditions mentioned above, the law does not regulate the activities carried 
out in accordance with the public authority by government bodies (organizations, 
institutions, including legal entities of public law) when they carry out, if the use 
of electronic document and the electronic signature is not directly forseen during 
the process of certain authorized activities realization or this is not established by 
the corresponding decision of the Government of Georgia. In contrast with this, 
the law establishes that the electronic document received from any information 
system has legal power, if the system ensures the automatic confirmation of the 
document. This represents one of the first legislative steps for the development 
of electronic government that to more or less extent is reflected in the services 
offered by the National Agency of Public Registry and Civil Registry Agency 
official web-pages.

“Law of Georgia on Public Registry”

On December 19, 2008 the Parliament of Georgia passed a Law of Georgia on 
“Public Registry.”

The law defines organizational and legal foundations of Public Registry 
activities, rights and responsibilities of National Agency of Public Registry that 
administers the public register, periods of service offered by the agency, fees, 
payment and exemption from payment, the regulations and terms of return of paid 
fee. The law defines the terms like registration, registration administration, 
excerpt form the public registry, accessibility to information etc. The law 
defines that the Agency applies software and automatic means of management 
for the purpose of public register processing and ensuring the accessibility to 
information.  The Agency is authorized to store and reveal electronic copy of 
any document created by the Agency; the electronic versions of the documents 
have the same legal power as the original documents. The Agency is also 
authorized to receive, publish or send any type of information and document, by 
using unified automatic means of management; the data may be entered in the 
documentations electronically as well as mechanically. Unfortunately,	the	law	
does not oblige the National Agency of Public Registry responsibility 
to	publish	this	documentation	on	its	official	web-page.	The	only	issue	
forseen by the law is storing and sending the documens that does not 
involve their publishing on the web-page. Implementation of general 
principles of registration is also worth mentioning. This involves the fact 
that the registration is carried out on the basis of both the registration 
documents and the electronic copies of these documents. 

Payment of a fee is a pre-condition for registering declaration received by 
automatic means of management. The law also regulates the principles of 
registration termination and explains that as a rule, the cessation period of 
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registration is 30 days from the day of the informing of individual about the 
decision and/or from the day of the decision publishing on the web-page. This 
means that abovementioned represents just an alternative of proactive 
publishing of certain type of information. There is the same situation if 
we consider the case of publishing of registration decision by the Agency; this 
decision is published in written form when it may be done by using automatic 
means of management as well. The decision comes into force from the day of 
its publication, in accordance with the legislation of Georgia; and the placement 
of the decision on the official web-page of the Agency is also considered as 
publication. 

Consequently, in the conditions of certain signs of electronic management the 
law does not imperatively establish the foundations of electronic transparency. 
Though, in accordance with this law, the rules for applying automatic means of 
management and the procedures and conditions of document confirmation are 
defined by the instruction “On Public Registry”.

“Order No.4 on Public Registry Instruction Affirmation”

On January 15, 2010 the Ministry of Justice passed the Order No 4 on “Public 
Registry Instruction Affirmation”.

The instruction defines the terms and conditions of proceeding and revealing 
the information by the National Agency of Public Registry; it defines the parties 
involved in the operational processes, their rights and responsibilities. According 
to the instruction, in cases regulated by the law, the National Agency of Public 
Registry is authorized to receive, send or publish any document in hardcopy 
as well as by using unified automatic means of management. Together with 
it, there is a direct notice that the documents in electronic form are issued by 
the corresponding links of the official web-page of the Agency - www.napr.gov.
ge. And the rules do not extend to the conformation of their correspondence 
to the original document. Together with it the excerpt has the equal legal 
power as the document issued electronically. The clause on statement/
declaration and document presentation represents a specific legal regulation of 
e-Government. According to this clause, any statement/declaration under the 
Agency’s competence and the attached documents may be delivered to any 
Regional Service or authorized person personally, electronically or by post. In 
case of statement/declaration post delivery, the signature must be confirmed in 
accordance with the active law. Consequently, we may say that the instruction 
establishes general regime of e-Government that involves sending, as well as, 
receiving of documents by the Agency.

New Edition of the 26th Clause of the “Law of Georgia on 
Normative Acts”

From the 1st of January, of 2011 the edition of the 26th clause of the Law of 
Georgia “On Normative Acts” came to the force. The clause regulates the issue 
of publishing of normative acts. According	to	this	clause	the	official	or	legal 

http://www.napr.gov.ge
http://www.napr.gov.ge
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publishing	of	the	normative	act	is	considered	the	first	placement	of	its	
full	 text	 on	 the	 official	web-page	 of	 “Legislative	Herald	 of	 Georgia”. 
Together with it, systemized normative acts published electronically on this 
web-page also have official legal power. This very law defines registration and 
systematization issues of state normative acts. According to the corresponding 
alteration that came into force on July 2, 2010, state register of normative acts 
will be developed in “Legislative Herald of Georgia”; this will ensure registration, 
systematization and transparency of normative acts. The registry is operated 
electronically on the web-page of “Legislative Herald of Georgia”. In parallel with 
the e-Transparency regulation, the law defines the regulation of e-Government 
from the point of view of this sphere. This is reflected in the indirect notice made 
in the clause 26, mentioned above. According to this notice, the amount of fee 
and rule of payment for publishing of normative act in “Legislative Herald of 
Georgia” are defined by the Order of the Minister of Justice of Georgia. 

“Order No. 225 on the Rule of Fee Estimation and Payment for 
Publishing of Normative Acts in Legislative Herald of Georgia”

On December 6, 2010 the Minister of Justice passed the Order No. 225 on 
the “Rule of Fee Estimation and Payment for Publishing of Normative Acts in 
Legislative Herald of Georgia”.

The order is came into force from the January of 2011. According to the order 
two types of fees are established. These are: publishing fee and the service fee. 
According to the order the publishing fee is envisaged for publishing normative 
acts and information documents on the web-page of the “Herald”. And the service 
fee is foreseen for the use of systemized normative acts and the electronic supply 
normative acts thar are classified thematically.

“Resolution No. 280 on Establishing Government Commission 
for e-Government Development” 

On December 17, 2007 the Government of Georgia passed a Resolution No. 
280 on “Establishing Government Commission for e-Government Development”.

The Resolution establishes the members of the Commission and affirms the 
annexed statute of Government Commission of e-Government Development. The 
Commission itself represents the successor of the Comission established by the 
government of Georgia by the Order No. 511 in November 3, 2007 on “Activities 
for Establishment of Certain Government and Other Types of Institutions Unified 
Government Network”. According to the Resolution, the main tasks and functions 
of the Commission are support of service done by government institutions, by 
means of e-communication, state institutions activity processes optimization, 
by using information technologies, coordination of electronic signatures 
implementation process at state institutions, coordination of unified information 
resources development for government of Georgia and other government bodies 
etc.

The main rights and duties of the Commission are: establishment of thematic 
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working groups, preparation of projects on decisions about compliance and their 
delivery to the Government of Georgia for revision, establishment of coordination 
groups etc.

This represents a significant step of the Government towards e-Government 
development. Despite the general character of some statements of the 
resolution, the resolution reflects the State’s wish to prepare general conditions 
for implementation of e-Government elements that in its own way is a positive 
feature of the process. It must also be mentioned that the Resolution defines 
the processing of meetings minutes, the accessibility of information on the 
commissions working meetings is very important for making the public 
aware of the government’s activities of e-Governance implementation. 
The Commission is active and its members are changed annually. The recent 
change of the Commission members was carried out on February 9, 2010.

Other Specific Examples of Legal Regulation of e-Government 
and e-Transparency Adopted in Recent Years

In general terms, it may be said that in the existing legislative field of Georgia 
the e-Government regulation norms are represented abundantly in comparison 
with the e-Transparency regulation norms. Besides the mentioned above, the 
specific examples of legislative regulation of e-Government also include:

Law of Georgia on “the Establishement of Data Exchange Agency Legal Entity 
of Public Law” passed on July 17, 2009 and Order No. 228 of December 22, 
2009 of the Ministry of Justice of Georgia on “Affirmation of Statute of Legal 
Entity of Public Law under the Ministry of Justice of Georgia - Data Exchange 
Agency”. On the basis of these legal acts the direct functions of the Agency were 
defined. These functions included the development of unified system based on 
e-Government principles that would be applied for public policy administration, 
the implementation of innovative service by using information technologies, 
implementation of standards for information storing and supply, development 
of the unified system for documents exchange electronically and increase of 
government effectiveness by applying information technologies. All these were 
reflected in the web-page - www.e-government.ge, developed by the Data 
Exchange Agency. This web-page represents a portal designed for making the 
accessibility to e-Government resources easier; here you can search for any 
type of electronic service classified in different categories that are offered by the 
government bodies of Georgia; On the basis of the Order No. 234 of December 
28, 2009 “On Establishemnt of Debtors Register Proceeding Rule”, passed by 
the Minister of Justice of Georgia, the operation of the Debtors Register is made 
electronically, by Legal Entity of Public under the governance of Ministry of 
Justice - National Bureau of Enforcement. This was practically reflected in the 
development of the National Bureau of Enforcement corresponding web-page - 
https://public.reestri.gov.ge/DEBT where you can find information on individuals 
who are registered in Debtors Register. The Order established that the statement/
declaration for receiving of excerpt or certain type of certificate from the registry 
may be done in territorial bodies of the National Bureau of Enforcement – in 
Bureaus of Enforcement or at the web-page of National Bureau of Enforcement 

http://www.e-government.ge
https://public.reestri.gov.ge/DEBT
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(www.nbe.gov.ge);
In accordance with the alteration made in the 18th clause of the order “On 

Interest Conflicts and Corruption in Public Service” that came into force from 
the 1st of August of 2009, Legal Entity of Public Law - Civil Service Bureau is 
accountable for timely receiving of Declaration on Property from officials. The 
Bureau also ensures the transparanecy and control of timely delivery of the 
declaration. This is reflected in the Bureau’s web-page in Property Declarations 
search system: http://www.csb.gov.ge/content.php?id=3&lang=geo; 

On the basis of the Order No. 216 of July 5, 2010 on “Establishment of 
Characteristic Features on Electronic ID and Residence (temporary and permanent) 
Card of Citizen of Georgia”, the Legal Entity of Public Law - Civil Registry Agency 
became accountable for carrying out all the organizational activities necessary 
for delivery of Electronic ID and Residence (temporary and permanent) Card 
of Citizen of Georgia; the order also established the characteristic features of 
electronic ID card.

In accordance with the clause 41 of Order 209, 31.12.2010 on “Affirmation 
of Statute of Legal Entity of Public Law - Civil Registry Agency”, the function 
and authority of one of the structural unit of the Agency – the Distance Service 
Department became the following: receiving of statements/declarations 
electronically and directly as a result of a visual interaction, elaboration of these 
statements/declarations and annexed documents and the electronic delivery of 
these documentation to the Agency’s territorial service;

On the basis of the order No 523, 06.01.2011 on “Affirmation of Statute 
of Legal Entity of Public Law - Ministry of Finance Service Agency”, clause 2, 
sub-point C)12 added to point 2, the Agency supports the sales of property of 
interested natural persons and legal entities, by means of auctions (internet-
auctions, public auctions), direct sales (on the basis of agreement with individual, 
trade centers, including internet shops) and on the basis of parties’ agreement, 
in accordance with the existing legislation. In this very Order one of the functions 
of the Marketing and Innovations Department became the coordination of 
organizational and technical ensurance of property on e-auction and in electronic 
shop, after the changes carried out on the 6th of January of 2011. This was 
practically reflected in the independent web-page of the the Ministry of Finances 
Service Agency www.eauction.ge. On the basis of the Order No. 996, 31.12.2010 
of the Minister of Finances of Georgia, on “Taxes Administration” (clause11 - 
electronic registration), it was defined that the communications between the 
Revenue Service and the taxpayer may be carried out electronically, in an on-line 
form at Revenue Service official web-page - www.rs.ge. 

A letter/document delivered electronically by using this web-page as well 
as document/letter created and sent by the taxation body does not require 
signature of the authorized person and has the same power as the hardcopy of 
the document that is signed and stamped officially. E-communication is carried 
out by the video call made or the corresponding written message sent by the 
taxpayer. During 3 working days from the receiving of the message, the taxation 
body ensures the electronic communication for the taxpayer and sends him/her 
about the authorization. Besides, the taxpayer has right to use video call or send 
message to contact the taxation body for the purpose of ID or password recovery, 
or terminate the video call. According to the 13th clause (electronic complaint) 

http://www.nbe.gov.ge
http://www.csb.gov.ge/content.php?id=3&lang=geo
http://www.eauction.ge
http://www.rs.ge
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of this order, it was defined that the individuals have right to present complaints 
to the Ministry of Finances system electronically by means of this page, though 
he has a right of having written communications with the body reviewing the 
taxation dispute. The complaint presented electronically by the Service web-page 
is considered that it is signed by the prosecutor and registered. The individual 
is informed about the progress of the complaint review stages and results by 
short text messages, though this does not free the body reviewing the dispute 
from the responsibility of informing the prosecutor about the decision regarding 
his/her complaint. In accordance with the clause 93, permission for arranging 
casinos, parimutual and playing machines, lottos, bingos and other encouraging 
games is issued by the Revenue Service in a poligraphic or electronic form by 
means of Revenue Service web-page - www.rs.ge. And in case of informing 
individual about the granting the special status for import VAT, the Revenue 
Service sends the benefitor short text message by means of the Revenue Service 
official web-page - www.rs.ge. It turns out that the order mentioned above 
represents	a	wide	and	significant	regulation	and	defines	various	forms	
of	e-communications	(short	text-message,	video	call,	communication	by	
means	of	the	official	web-page). 

http://www.rs.ge
http://www.rs.ge
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The list of regulating norms of e-Government ar not exhaustive from 
the	point	of	view	of	every	specific	sphere.	But	they	make	clear	that	the	
government	really	makes	some	efforts	of	e-Government	implementation.	

Legal norms regulating e-Transparency are represented much more scarcely. 
The conditions become harder due to the fact that the public authorities 
do	not	have	unified	standard	of	publishing	public	information	on	their	
official	web-pages	 and	 the	 desire	 of	 interested	 persons	 of	 access	 to	
certain information is limited to the public authorities’ desire whether 
or	not	to	place	the	information	on	its	web-page.	Furthermore,	except	of	
some	exclusion,	the	placement	of	the	official	web-page	in	the	internet	
represents the good will of the public authority itself. Consequently, the 
norms established by the government to regulate e-Transparency, during 
recent years, represent unstandardized examples of legal regulation 
that lack correlation and seem to be conditioned by specific official 
web-pages and represent the examples of proactive publishing of public 
information rather than the efforts of government for e-Transparency 
implementation. Below we present a number of examples to illustrate 
everything in regard with mentioned above: 

In the first clause of the the acting resolution of Georgian Government on 
Statute Affirmation of Ministry of Energy of Georgia (Ministry Statute) the 
ministry web-page is presented (www.minenergy.gov.ge) and specifies that this 
page represents a public place. In one of the sub-points of the 3rd clause of 
the same resolution, it is stated that the Ministry has right to place individual 
administrative or legal act and/or some other type of information at place from 
which it will be accessible for everyone and/or at the web-page of the Ministry. 
And according to the 4th point of the 6th clause one of the functions of the 
Administrative Departments is the development and constant 
renewal of the web-page. Its function is the publishing of 
ministry normative acts, minutes, annual reports, statistic data 
of technical and economic character and other public information 
on the Ministry web-page. 

In the acting statute (point 6) of the Energy and Water Supply National 
Commission that acts as an independent national regulatory body, e-mails and 
web-page addresses are presented, and in the 14th clause of the same statute 
is is defined that one of the basic functions of the commission structural unit 
(Public Relations and International Relations Department) is the development of 
the web-page, its design and constant renewal. Its function is the publishing of 
the commission’s resolutions, decisions and the corresponding minutes, annual 
reports, technical and economic data in electric power and natural gas sector, 
and other public information on the Commission’s web-page. It becomes 
clear	that,	the	legislation	of	Georgia	directly	and	imperatively	defines	
that the public information must be electronically transparent in regard 
to	the	field	of	energetics,	in	general,	and	to	the	corresponding	ministry	
and	independent	regulatory	body,	in	specific	terms.

The 2nd point of the statute of the Border Police of Georgia that is a 
sub-agency of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia defines that the Border 
Police must have the official web-page. According to the 18th point of the same 

http://www.minenergy.gov.ge
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statute one of the structural units of the Border Police (Press and Public Relations 
Department) ensures the functionality of the web-page. Unfortumately, the 
regulation is not complete as there is no indication about what kind of information 
is considered public and must be published on the web-page.

According to the Order No 115, 18.06.2010 (chapter 3, clause 8, sub-point 3) of 
the Minister of Justice, on Rule of Openings of Public Officers of Ministry of Justice 
of Georgia: “the information on opening may placed by the Human Resources 
Department on the corporate web-page of the Ministry and other corresponding 
web-pages”. This	 clearly	 reflects	 the	 approach	 that	 the	 placement	 of	
certain public information by the public institution depends on the will 
of	the	institution	and	does	not	carry	a	direct,	imperative	character.

According to the alteration made to the 4th point of the clause 9, on July 15, 
2008 to the Election Code of Georgia, the Central Election Commission of 
Georgia is accountable for the elaboration of the unified voters electronic list 
and its placement on the CEC-s web-page (only the public information - name, 
surname, date of birth, registration address, temporary address for individuals 
who were forced to leave their place of residence is considered) www.cec.gov.
ge. And on the basis of the alteration No 6013 made to the 11th point of the 48th 
clause of the same Code, on March 21, 2008, information on election donations is 
open, public and accessible for everyone. CEC is obliged to send any information 
connected with the election campaign fund of election subject to every interested 
person and ensure the publishing of this information on the corresponding web-
page in 2 working days period from its receipt;

According to the alteration No. 67 made to the 24th point of the law “on 
Electronic Communications” of Georgia, on June 27, 2008, decisions made by 
the National Commission of the Communications that are taken on the 
preliminary analysis of market regulation and analysis, are published in Internet 
– on web-page of the Commission (www.gncc.ge), except the parts of decisions 
on state, commercial and private secret are not published. According to the 
alteration No 3453 made to the clause 52 of the same law, on July 14, in 2006, 
the commission takes the decision on arranging auction for receiving radio 
frequency spectrum or/and numeration resource liscence, minimum 1 month 
before the auction and the information is spread by means of mass information 
and is published on the official web-page of the Commission;

In accordance with the alteration No 2457 made to the clause 3 of the law “on 
Entrepreneurs”, on December 25, 2009, decision of the registering body of the 
registration comes in action from the moment of informing the party about it or 
its publishing; the publishing is the placement of the decision on the web-page of 
the registering body; According to the alteration No 2457 made to the clause 7, 
on December 25, 2009, electronic copies used as basis of entrepreneurs and non-
entrepreneurs (non-profit) legal entities registers are placed on the corresponding 
web-page of the national Agency of Civil Registry and are accessible for every 
interested person, free from charge;

The obligation of proactive publishing is also presented in the 333th clause 
of the Law of Georgia “on Insurance”. This clause concerns the liquidation of 
the insurer.  According to the clause the party carrying out the liquidation of 
the insurer must publish the decision on the liquidation in 15 days period in 
“Legislative Herald of Georgia” and on official web-page of the National Bank. 

http://www.cec.gov.ge
http://www.cec.gov.ge
http://www.gncc.ge
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The clause 334 of the same law, concerning the bankruptcy of the insurer, defines 
that the bankruptcy manager is obliged to publish the decision on beginning of 
the bankruptcy process in the “Legislative Herald of Georgia” and on the official 
web-page of the National Bank (www.nbg.gov.ge), in 14 days period from this 
decision; 

According to the 2nd point of clause 34 of the Civil Code of Georgia data 
on entrepreneur and non-entrepreneur (non-profit) legal entities are public. The 
registering body is obliged to publish the data on the registered non-entrepreneur 
(non-profit) legal entity on its web-page;   

According to the clause 562 of Law of Georgia on “Higher Education” that is in 
action from the 1st of September of 2010, decision on authorization of the Higher 
Educational Institution must be published on the web-page of National Center 
for Educational Quality Enhancement (www.nea.ge), within 10 days period 
after its issuance. 

According to the clause 5 of Law on “State Property” of Georgia that is in action 
from the 1st of January of 2011, the information on state property privatization 
by means of auction should be published on the web-page of the state property 
owner or/and on the web-page - www.auction.ge, that is considered as an official 
publication of the information.  For the purpose of ensuring information publicity 
and accessibility, the information on state property privatization be means of 
auction must be published in the newspaper - “24 hours”;

According to the addition made to the clause 16 of the order No. 127 on 
“Affirmation of Statute of the Unified National Examinations” issued by the 
Minister of Education and Sciences of Georgia, scores received by the exam-
takers at the Unified National Exam are published on the official web-page of the 
National Examinations Center (www.naec.ge); Clause 2 of of the order No. 
247, on “Affirmation of Statute of Legal Entity of Public Law - Finance and Analitic 
Department” issued on March 31, 2010 by the Minister of Finances of Georgia, 
defines that the department ensures the administration of the Ministry web-
resources, in accordance with legislation of Georgia and enhances publishing 
of public information on the web-page of the Ministry of Finances of Georgia; 
There is the same legal regulation in case of Resolution No. 18 Government of 
Abkhazia on the “Affirmation of Statute of Ministry of Finance of Abkhazia 
Autonomous Republic”; according to the addition to the 12th clause, made 
on September 2, 2009 one of the main duties of Financial Policy and Information 
Technologies Department is the administration of the Ministry web-page and the 
ensurance of public information publishing on the web-page.

Besides the cases mentioned above, there are number of cases when officials 
of certain public institutions give directions on publishing public information on 
the web-page of the institution, by passing individual administrative and legal 
acts. Though as we have already mentioned these cases do not allow 
us	 to	 talk	 about	 unified	 tendency	 of	 legislative	 nature	 in	 connection	
with regulation on placement of public information on web-pages or its 
standardization.	It	may	be	said	that	nowadays,	the	existence	of	public	
authorities’ web-pages sharing public information in internet depends 
on the good will of the public authority…

The presented short review of the legislative base of Georgia on e-Governance 
and e-Transparency makes clear that some legislative regulation is to be 

http://www.nbg.gov.ge
http://www.nea.ge
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made in the future. First of all, it must be mentioned that the Government is 
on the first stage of transformation to the e-Government. It is natural that the 
legislative base at this stage is not so well-developed for state bodies and public 
employees as well as for citizens and businessmen, from the point of view of 
e-Government. The institutions of e-Transparency and e-Consulting are also 
underdeveloped and it may be said that there is no e-Controllership regulatory 
legislative base. The existing legislation of Georgia does not consider the specific 
ways of receiving public information electronically; it does not consider the 
opportunities of receiviong legal answers to questions sent electronically from 
the public authorities’ web-pages that in its own way may be considered equal 
to the existing form of sending and receiving of public information, in accordance 
with the current legislation. As	for	the	unified	regulatory	legislative	base	
of	e-Transparency,	it	may	be	said	that	such	base	does	not	exist	at	all.	
On	 official	 web-pages	 of	 public	 authorities	 there	 are	 no	 standards	
implemented	for	proactive	publishing	of	information.		At	the	same	time,	
there is no legislative norm that would oblige all public authorities to 
have	official	web-page	for	the	purpose	of	public	relations,	accountability,	
publicity and increase of information quality.

The prior aim of IDFI is active participation in the development of regulatory 
legislative base of e-Government for citizens, that may be reflected in offering 
consulting, considering the analysis of the corresponding international practice 
or society requirements; its aim is the development of statements of legislative 
nature that will fit the real conditions in Georgia. This can not be done without 
the public’s interest towards information publicity, so it is necessary to spark 
the interest toward publicity of information among individuals, by carrying out 
certain activities. The present legislative analysis, and the report in general, 
serve as a tool for these activities. The term of “e-Government” involves the 
active involvement and participation of the government that must be reflected 
in the corresponding legislative base. Together	 with	 it,	 the	 concept	 of	
“e-Transparency” involves the publishing of information electronically 
not	in	vague	but	in	standard	regulatory	form,	considering	the	information	
consisting of private commercial or state secret.

IDFI considers that the collaboration with the state (be it the Parliament, 
the Ministry of Justice or other public authority) is of a great priority, from the 
point of view of legislative problem cases extinction and making corresponding 
corrections. It is a positive fact that despite the absence of unified legislative 
regulation that woul imperatively oblige all public authorities to have official 
web-pages, still almost all important public authorities have their own official 
web-pages. Many public authorities make steps towards the implementation of 
e-Government (e.g. system of Ministry of Finances and the Ministry of Justice 
of Georgia); activities for e-Transparency carried out by the Ministry of Energy 
are worth mentioning. Alterations and additions in the legislation of Georgia 
during last year do reflect the wish of government in preparation of ground for 
e-Government and e-Transparency. IDFI will continue the study of legislative base 
on e-Governance and e-Transparency and welcomes all the representatives of 
private and public sector for collaboration.
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The present report includes the analysis of data collected and tendencies 
analysed by IDFI, within the framework of the project “Information Resources 
(Official	Web-pages)	Monitoring	of	Public	Authorities	of	Georgia”. This 
is targeted at increased content transparency of public authorities official web-
pages of Georgia and their accessibility for the public. In general terms, the aim 
of this activity is the development of e-Governance and information transparency 
from the point of view of public authorities’ transparency and accountability 
enhancement. 

Together with it, the information presented in this report will be interesting 
for the wide range of readers (teachers, students, journalists, lawyers and other 
interested persons); though the public officers’ interest towards the report would 
also be desirable. This is complicated by the fact that nowadays the existing 
legislation of Georgia does not foresee the existence of legislative acts and/or 
the unity of legislative norms that would oblige all public authorities to have 
their own official web-page address, on which the public authority would publish 
information considered by the legislation.

Before beginning the description of the monitoring process and its 
results,	we	would	like	to	say	a	few	words	about	the	selection	criteria	of	
public authorities and the criteria for evaluation of their transparency 
and quality of informativeness.

Public Authorities

According the Administrative Code of Georgia (clause 27) the term “Public 
Authority” is defined as the “administrative body, legal entity of public law 
financed from state or local budget”. Here it shlould be mentioned that the term 
mentioned above is used only in the context of the information transparency, for 
the purposes of the regulatory chapter (Chapter 3 – Information Transparency) of 
General Administrative Code.

According to the 2nd chapter of the same Code the term “administrative 
body”	is	defined	as	all	self-governing	state	or	local	body	or	institution,	
legal	entity	of	public	law	(except	of	political	and	religious	unions),	and	
any other individual who realizes certain authority in accordance with 
the legislation of Georgia.

Consequently, we may conclude that for the purposes of openness of public 
information, the public authority is the following:
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legal entity

The drawing presented above shows that for the purposes of openness of 
public information, the term “public authority” has the widest meaning 
and involves the concept like administrative body; and in narrow 
meaning it also involves the state body. 

Therefore, IDFI faced the task of selecting monitoring targets category 
that would somehow make discussion on the openness of public information 
easier based on official web-pages of public instutions. For the purposes of the 
monitoring the IDFI working team selected the category of state bodies of public 
authorities.
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State Body

As it is known the state body is established to realize main tasks 
and	functions	of	the	state,	as	well	as,	for	the	purpose	of	public	policy	
administration. For the purposes of state function realization, the state body 
possesses special authority; it passes obligatory acts and uses imperative 
methods for their realization.

State Body

State governance bodies

Higher bodies

Central bodies

Local bodies

Ministries 
State Sub-Agencies

Legal entities of 
public law
(from the point of view of 
carrying out public 
activities) 
Independent regulatory 
bodies 
(from the point of view of 
carrying out public 
activities)

City Halls, Mayors 
In case of state body authority delegated to 

self-governing unit
State Trustees - Governors

Local representative bodies

President of Georgia
Government of Georgia

Government of Autonomous 
Republic of Abkhazia

Government of Autonomous 
Republic of Adjara

Parliament of Georgia
Higher Council of Autonomous 

Republic of Abkhazia
 Higher Council of Autonomous 

Republic of Adjara

Self-Governing Units Assemblies
In case of state body authority 

delegated to the self-governing unit

Higher representative bodies                                                     
Constitutional Court 

General Courts System

State government representative 
bodies

Court bodies
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The IDFI working group selected the following central bodies 
of state government as targets of monitoring: ministries and legal 
entities of public law under the ministries’ governance. This choice 
was mostly conditioned by a number of factors. One of the factors was the 
fact that e-Governance signs were mostly developed on official web-pages of 
Ministries of Georgia and Legal Entities of Public Law; besides, central bodies 
of state government were characterized with the abundance of internet web-
pages. The second factor providing for the selection was the condition that the 
parameters of the evaluation table of web-pages information transparency were 
fit to the central bodies of state government. This was carried out by study and 
definition of those general legislative, organizational and functional criteria 
that are characteristic to central bodies of government in Georgia. Below we 
present the general review of characteristics of central bodies of state 
government,	to	make	clear	what	we	mean	by	criteria	mentioned	above.
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State Government Central Bodies 

MINISTRIES

When we speak about such important circle in the system of state 
government central bodies like Ministries, we must by all means mention 
the Government (Higher Body of State Goverance); this is conditioned by 
the fact that the Ministry – the government institution of executive 
body represents the government department. The first point of clause 
4 of law of Georgia on “the Structure, Authority and the Rule of Activities 
of Georgian Government” states that: “the government administers the 
executive government by means of ministries and the sub-agencies under the 
governance of these ministries”. And according to the 1st point of clause 14 of 
the same law “the Ministry is established on the basis of law, for the purpose 
of state government ensurance in certain field of public life”. According to the 
existing legislation of Georgia all the ministries of Georgia are accountable 
to the government of Georgia; all ministries of Georgia are financed from the 
state budget. The head of the Ministry is a Minister, who has the first Deputy 
Minister and Deputees; one of the important documents regulating the 
general activities of the Ministry is the Statute of the Ministry.

Statute of the Ministry
In accordance with the existing legislation of Georgia must include the following:

•	Full name of the Ministry and its address

– According to the first clause of the statute of the Ministry of Finances of 
Georgia, the	permanent	address	of	the	Ministry	 is	16,	Gorgasali	
str.	Tbilisi,	0105.	The	full	name	of	the	Ministry	is	“the	Ministry	of	
Finances of Georgia;

– According to the first clause of the statute of the Ministry of Education 
and Sciences of Georgia, the permanent address of the Ministry is 
52,	Uznadze	str.	Tbilisi,	0146.	The name of the Ministry is not given 
directly, the information is received from the context of the statute;

– Accordimg to the first clause of the statute of the Ministry of Environment 
Defence and Natural Resources of Georgia, the permanent address of 
the	Ministry	is	6,	Gulua	str.	Tbilisi.	The name of the Ministry is not 
given directly, the information is received from the context of the statute;

•	Field	of	the	Ministry	activities,	its	tasks	and	functions

– Fields of agriculture, increase of ground productivity, plants defence, 
cattle-breeding, agricultural engineering and veterinary – field	 of	
governance of Ministry of Agriculture of Georgia;

– Economic policy, trade and investments, tourism, management and 
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administration of state property, urban development and space 
and territorial arrangements, building and construction, electronic 
communications, information technologies, post, transport sphere 
regulation and management – general	 fields	 of	 activities	 of	 the	
Ministry of Economy and Sustainable Development of Georgia;

– Participation in localization of natural disasters, participation in 
military mobilization plan, development of unified policy in the field of 
transportation, coordination and control - tasks of the Ministry of 
Regional Development and Infrastructure of Georgia;

– Ensuring of balancing of the state budget, execution of the expenditures 
part of the state budget, operative management of income, accounting 
and calculating, affirmation of budget classification and making alterations 
to it – functions of the Ministry of Finances of Georgia;

•	Organization	of	the	Ministry	management,	rights	and	
responsibilities of heads

– Head of the Ministry is a Minister that is assigned to the position by the 
Prime Minister, in accordance with the consent of President of Georgia. 
– organization of the management of the Ministry of Finances of 
Georgia;

– The Minister represents the interests of the Ministry with natural persons 
and legal entities, signs agreements, contracts, is personally accountable 
to the government of Georgia, for carrying out tasks and duties – rights 
and responsibilities of the Minister of Energy of Georgia;

•	System	and	structure	of	the	Ministry,	the	main	tasks	and	
competencies of the structural sub-units

– The system of the Minstry consists of central structural units of the 
Ministry, corresponding structures of Autonomous Republics of Abkhazia 
and Adjara, territorial bodies of the Ministry, state sub-agencie under the 
governance of the Ministry and the legal entities of public law under the 
governance of the Ministry – system of the Ministry of Economics 
and Sustainable Development of Georgia; 

– Tasks of the structural sub-units of the Ministry, management, internal 
structural units and their main tasks, list of positions, subordination and 
delegation, official form for correspondence and the rule of its use are 
defined by the statute of the Ministry and the statutes of the structural 
units that are affirmed by the Minister. The structural units of the Ministry 
are the following:
• Department of Finance Issues
• Department of Legal Issues
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• Department of International Affairs
• Department of Migration, Repatriation and Refugees Issues
• Department of IDP Issues
• Administrative Department
• Internal Oversight Department

Structural unit of the Ministry may be divided into sub-departments, 
the heads of which are assigned and released from the position by the 
Minister.

– Territorial bodies of the Ministry are: a) Governing body of Adjara and 
Samegrelo-Zemo Svaneti; b) Governing body of Imereti, Guria, Racha-
Lechkhumi and Kvemo Svaneti; c) governing body of Kvemo Kartli, 
Mtskheta-Tianeti and Kakheti; d) governing body of Shida Kartli and 
Samtskhe-Javakheti – structure of the Ministry of Internally 
Displaced	Persons	from	the	Occupied	Territories,	Accomodation	
and Refugees of Georgia;

– The Unified Headquarters of Armed Military Forces of Georgia manages 
military and mobilization trainings; manages military forces of Georgia 
during wars; police department under its governance carries out the 
following activities: investigation of cases that belong to the ministry, in 
correspondence with the Criminal Procedural Code of Georgia; control of 
discipline of armed forces on the territory of armed forces and beyond its 
borders, defence of places of administrative arrest, ensuring the safety 
of military points and other activities foreseen by the legislation – main 
tasks of the structural sub-unit of the Ministry of Defence of 
Georgia;

 
– The competencies of the Ministry apparatus include: a) control over the 

execution of Minister's orders; B) organization of the meetings of the 
ministry management, processing of minutes; c) planning and scheduling 
of meetings; d) organization of the business trips; e) regulation of 
issues regading meeting with citizens; f) support of the activities of the 
Minister’s advisors - main tasks of one of the structural sub-units of 
the Ministry of Environment Protection and Natural Resources of 
Georgia

•	Other important issues regarding the organization of the Ministry 
activities

– The activities of the Ministry are financed from the state budget, according 
to legislation the Ministry is accountable on targeted use of budget 
resources – financing	of	the	Ministry	of	Education	and	Sciences	of	
Georgia;

– The property of the Ministry is represented by main and turnover means 
granted to the Ministry, financial resources, as well as, property registered 
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on the Ministry balance – property of the Ministry of Economic and 
Sustainable Development of Georgia;

– The Minister is authorized to make up commissions and councils that 
have the corresponding authority for the purpose of studying certain 
issues (further - Advosory Bodies); the Advosory Body is established on 
the basis of the Minister’s order, the order defines its tasks, head (deputy 
head and secretary if it is necessary) and members, deadline for the task 
accomplishment, the rule of conclusions and statements preparation and 
the structural sub-units ensuring the functioning of the Advosory Body – 
advisory bodies of the Ministry of Justice of Georgia;

– Legislative basis of the activities of the Ministry are the following: 
Constitution of Georgia, international legislative acts, Law of Georgia on 
“the Structure of Georgian Government, its Authority and Activities”, law 
of Georgia “on Defence”, orders and resolutions passed by the president 
of Georgia, legislative acts passed by the Government of Georgia and the 
Prime Minister, the statute of the Ministry and legislative acts of Ministry 
of Defence - legal foundations of activities of Ministry of Defence 
of Georgia;

– The Ministry is accountable to the President and Government of Georgia 
and carries out activities considered by the law or tasks put forward by 
the President of Georgia and Prime Minister – accountability of the 
Ministry	of	Internal	Affairs	of	Georgia; 

– The Ministry uses the State Flag and State Emblem, and other state 
symbols in accordance with existing legislation. The State Emblem of the 
Ministry is placed on the façade of the Ministry. And a smaller symbol  of 
the State Emblem is used in permission documents of the ministry and 
its territorial bodies, in ID documents of the employees and official letter 
forms; Ministry has its logo that is registered in accordance with the acting 
legislation. The logo of the Ministry may be used only by territorial bodies 
of the Ministry, the corresponding departments of Adjara and Abkhazia 
Autonomous Republics, state sub-agencies, at business cards of the 
Ministry, in other printed publications, as well as the Ministry souvenirs 
and transportation means that are under the property of the Ministry – 
symbolics of the Ministry of Environment Protection and Natural 
Resources of Georgia.
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As a rule, the statute of the Ministry is affirmed by the Government of Georgia 
on the basis of the corresponding resolution and the Minister’s official letter; 
though the statutes of Ministry of Internal Affairs and the Ministry of Defence and 
Justice are affirmed by the President of Georgia.

In general, when speaking about competencies of ministries, we should 
mention the rule defined by the existing legislation of Georgia, according to 
which the Ministry has no right to delegate its rights to other government and 
non-governmental institutions if the legislation of Georgia does not consider 
anything different. And while talking about management fields of ministries, 
we should mention the acting norm according to which if the issue delivered 
to the executive government does not belong to any of the ministry activity 
fields, in accordance with the law, then the decision on the issues is made by 
the Government. The Government is also authorized to make decision on issues 
that belong to the functioning sphere of any of the Ministry, if the Ministry does 
not make the decision or prolongs the decision. The exceptions to this rule are 
issues concerning security, defence, public safety and issues connected with the 
Procedural Legislation of Georgia. And finally, if the issue belongs to the field 
of the Ministry activities and the Ministry which must make the decision is not 
defined, then the decision on the issue is made by the Government. 
While	talking	about	management	of	Ministries,	we	should	mention	

the	role	of	Ministers	in	Government,	where	they	represent	the	core	of	
the Government:

Prime
Minister

Members of Government of Georgia

Ministers

State
Ministers 

may be the members of 
Government

The role of Minister as an official is also very significant from the point of view 
of public service organization:
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Bodies of Public Government

Bodies of Public Government

The service in institution is 
considered as public service only in 

case when the mentioned is the 
budgetary institution (treasury 

institution), budgeted from the state 
budget, the autonomous republic 
budget or the local self-governing 
unit’s budget and its main aim is 

the administration of public 
government.

Local self-government
(budgetary) institution

Institutions of local self-government the activities of 
which are considered public

 Assembly
 City Hall
 Municipality

Public Officers

State institutions the employees of which are 
considered to be in public service

Parliament of Georgia  
(exept of fractions, temporary investigation commis-
sions and other temporary commissions)

Administration of the President of Georgia

Cancellary of Parliament of Georgia
Apparatus of State Minister of Georgia
Ministries of Georgia and State-Sub Agencies

Justice Council of Georgia

Constitutional Court of Georgia
General courts
Prosecutor’s Office of Georgia

National Bank of Georgia

Control Chamber of Georgia

Public Ombudsman of Georgia and correspond-
ing agencies

State trustees – governors and their administra-
tion 

State institutions of Abkhazia and Adjara
Higher representative bodies (except of the fractions 
of these bodies) and institutions of executive govern-
ment

State Budgetary Institution
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Officer
Officer 
beyond 
the Staff

State Official

Assistant
Oficcer 

State political position is position considered 
by the Constitution of Georgia, Constitutions 
of Abkhazia and and Adjara Autonomous 
Republics, that has political characteristics 
and its rule of assignment or election is 
defined by the corresponding constitution.

Member of 
the higher
representative 
body of Abkhazia 
and Adjara

Prime Minister
of Georgia
and other

member of
Government

Heads of 
Abkhazia and Adjara 
Autonomous 
Republics 
Governments

President of 
Georgia

Member of 
Parliament of 
Georgia

    Types of Public Officers

State
Official

Assistant officer is an 
employee who has 
technical functions and is 
assigned to the assissting 
position of the institution 
on the basis of labour 
agreement 

Officer is a person 
who is elected or assigned 
to position of
the budgetary institution

An employee who is 
assigned to the position 
temporarily on the basis of 
the labour agreement

Local 
Self-Government 

Officer

During the monitoring period (August-December of 2010) the existing 
legislation of Georgia considered the existence of the following 16 Ministries of 
Georgia:

1. Ministry of Education and Science of Georgia
2. Ministry of Environment Protection and Natural Resources of Georgia
3. Ministry of Economic and Sustainable Development of Georgia
4. Ministry of Energy of Georgia
5. Ministry of Defence of Georgia
6. Ministry of Justice of Georgia
7. Ministry of Culture and Monument Protection of Georgia
8. Ministry of Internally Displaced Persons From the Occupied Territories, 
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Accommodation and Refugees of Georgia
9. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Georgia
10. Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia
11. Ministry of Agriculture of Georgia
12. Ministry of Finance of Georgia
13. Ministry of Labour, Health and Social Affairs of Georgia
14. Ministry of Corrections and Legal Assisstance of Georgia
15. Ministry of Regional Development and Infrastructure of Georgia
16. Ministry of Sport and Youth Affairs of Georgia

Together with it, the reorganization process of the Ministries founded 
as	 a	 result	 of	Ministry	 of	 Culture,	Monuments	 Protection	 and	 Sports	
reorganization	was	not	completed	that	was	reflected	in	de	facto	absence	
of	the	official	web-page	of	the	Ministry	of	Sport	and	Youth	Affairs;	this	is	
the reason why IDFI working group could not carry out the monitoring 
of its web-page.

The unity of features for the purposes of web-pages information transparency 
that is characteristic to the Ministries of Georgia - the main circle of the system 
of state government central bodies.

Ministry of Georgia

• Is a governing institution of the executive government of Georgia;
• Is organized on the basis of the statute;
• Ensures the realization of state policy and administration in defined sphere;
• Is financed from the state budget, possesses a completed balance, 

estimates, account number in treasury and a seal with the State Emblem 
logo;

• Is accountable for the targeted use of budget resources;
• Is based on the autocratic principle;
• Is divided into structural sub-units;
• May have terrotorial bodies;
• Is accountable to the Government;
• Is directed by the Minister who passes orders and has first deputy and 

deputees;
• Is authorized to represent the state during carrying out activities considered 

by the legislation of Georgia;
• Via the Ministry the Government ensures the administration of the 

executive government.
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State Sub-Agencies

Together with the system of state government central bodies, the state 
sub-agencies represent one of the important circles, in the system of state 
government central bodies. While talking about sub-agencies we should mention 
the condition that they represent institutions that are under governance of certain 
Ministry. In other words, they are directly “attached” to the governance field 
of particular Ministry. In accordance with the acting legislation of Georgia, the 
State Departments were reorganized to state sub-agencies that were assigned 
to the corresponding Ministries. Therefore, for the reader it will not be surprising 
that sub-agencies, from the organizational, legislative and functionality point of 
view are the closest ones to the Ministries, in comparison with other circles of 
state government central bodies system. Furthermore,	in	many	cases	in	the	
system of state government central bodies only the sub-agencies under 
the governance of Ministries and the Ministries have similar unique 
charatcetistic features. For example, similar to the Ministry, its sub-agency 
also represents the institution of executive government; the government carries 
aout the executive governance by means of Ministries and the sub-agencies 
under the governance of ministries. State representativeness is another unique 
feature that is characteristic to both of them: the clause 27 of the law “on 
Structure, Authority and Rule of Activity of the Government of Georgia” directly 
defines that “the ministry or the sub-agency is authorized to represent the state 
during realization of activities foreseen by the legislation of Georgia”. In regard 
with this issue, we have to mention about the norm, according to which if the 
legislation does not define the state representative among executive government 
institutions in specific legislative relation, the representative of the state is 
assigned by the Government. As for the role of the state sub-agencies in relation 
to public service, in this case we get the characteristic feature similar to that of 
the Ministry. Namely, as it was already mentioned ministries and the state sub-
agencies clearly represent public government bodies (state institutions), in case 
of which the activities are considered to have public nature:

Unique similar characteristic features of Ministries of Georgia and state sub-agencies within 
the system of state governance central bodies

Executive govern-
ment institution

By means of the 
institution the  

government ensures 
the administration of 
executive governance

State  
representation

Public government body, 
the activities of which are 

considered to have the 
public nature

In accordance with the existing legislation of Georgia the state sub-agency is 
established, reorganized and liquidated on the basis of law or the Government 
resolution. The state sub-agency is founded for the purpose of realizing 
government	tasks	 in	social,	economic,	cultural	or	 in	other	fields.	The	
state	sub-agency	is	financed	by	the	state	budget	and	is	accountable	on	
the targeted use of budget resources. As for the accountability in general, 
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as a rule, the state sub-agency is accountable to the Minister who supervises 
the institution in accordance with the legislation. Though, the institution may 
also be accountable to the deputy curator minister who is granted the authority 
of supervision mentioned above by the legislation. There is an interesting 
regulation of accountability in the Ministry of the Economics and 
Sustained Development of Georgia and the sub-agency of the same 
ministry – United Transport Administration. According to the acting statute 
of United Transport Administration the administration is accountable to the 
Government and the Prime Minister of Georgia.

As a rule, the head of the state sub-agency is assigned and released from 
the working position by the Prime Minister. Though, according to the acting 
legislation of Georgia, there are three cases that differ from the statement 
mentioned above. These cases are:

State Sub-Agencies Head Official Is assigned to the 
position by

Is released from the 
position by

State sub-agencies under 
governance of the Ministry 
of Internal Affairs and 
Ministry of Defence of 
Georgia

All heads Prime Minister
On the basis of  the 
Minister’s official 
presentation and 
agreement with the 
President of Georgia

The President of 
Georgia
On the basis of his/her 
own initiative or the Prime 
Minister on the basis of 
the Minister’s official 
presentation

State sub-agency – 
Prosecutor's Office of 
Georgia under governance 
of the Ministry of Justice

Chief Prosecutor The President of 
Georgia
On the basis of the 
official presentation 
made by the Minister 
of Justice of Georgia

The President of 
Georgia 
On the basis of the official 
presentation made by 
the Minister of Justice of 
Georgia

State sub-agency – 
Investigation Department 
of the Ministry of Finance 
of Georgia under the 
governance of Ministry of 
Finance of Georgia.

Head of the 
Department

The President of 
Georgia
On the basis of the 
official presentation 
of the Minister 
agreed with the 
Prime Minister of 
Georgia

The President of 
Georgia 
On the basis of the official 
presentation of the 
Minister agreed with the 
Prime Minister of Georgia
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One of the important regulatory documents of sub-agencies is the 
statute of the state sub-agency. Similar to the statute of the Ministry, the 
statute of the sub-agency, as a rule defines:

 
•  Full name and the legal address of the sub-agency;
• Field of activities, tasks, functions and competences of the sub-agency;
• Organization and the rights and responsibilities of management of the sub-

agency;
• System, structure, main tasks, functions and competencies of the of 

structural sub-units of sub-agency;
• Other important issues connected with the organization of the sub-agency 

activities (legal basis of its activities, financing, accountability, symbolics 
etc).

State sub-agencies may have territorial bodies that represent these 
institutions in corresponding administrative and territorial units. According to the 
acting legislation of Georgia the Minister:

• makes decisions on foundation of territorial body, reorganization and 
termination of activities of state sub-agencies, if anything different is not 
established by the law;

• assigns and releases from the position the head and deputy head of the 
territorial body of the state sub-agency, on the basis of official letter of the 
head of the institution;

• Affirms the statute of the territorial body that defines governance sphere of 
the territorial body of state sub-agency, its rights, responsibilities and main 
directions of its activities.

It would be logical that IDFI working group selected the web-pages 
of state sub-agencies together with the web-pages of the Ministries as 
targets	of	monitoring.	 Though,	 legal	 entities	of	public	 law	 that	were	
incorporated in the systems of ministries were selected as the second 
target	of	the	monitoring,	as	a	result	of	their	abundancy	on	the	one	hand	
and the enough number of official web-pages in Internet on the other. 
This principle of selecting targets is considered to be optimal for the purpose of 
defining the initial stage of information transparency on official web-pages of 
public authorities. Though, this does not exclude the further detailed study of the 
matter by IDFI and the widening of the monitoring target circles.
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The unity of features for the purposes of web-pages information transparency 
that is characteristic to the one of the circles of the system of state government 
central bodies – state sub-agency under the governance of ministries of Georgia:

State Sub-Agency

• Is the institution included in the system of Ministry of Georgia and 
Executive Government of Georgia;

• Is organized on the basis of the statute;
• Is established for the purpose of carrying out state tasks and public 

functions in social, economic, cultural and in other fields;
• Is financed from the state budget, has a completed balance, estimates, 

account number in the treasury and seal with State Emblem logo;
• Is accountable for the targeted use of the budget resources;
• Is divided into sub-structures;
• May have territorial bodies;
• Is accountable to the Minister/Curator Deputy Minister (may be accountable 

to government and the Prime Minister);
• Has a director (chief,head etc) who passes individual administrative and 

legislative acts and has deputy(ies);
• Is authorized to represent the state during carrying out activities 

considered by the legislation of Georgia;
• State sub-agency functions as the tool of executive government 

administration implemented by the government.
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Legal Entities of Public Law

Legal entity of public law plays a significant role in the system of state 
governance central bodies and in state governance mechanism in general. Public 
activities of LEPL-s, as they are often called, do not belong to the competencies of 
state government bodies. Legal entity of public law, in accordance with the 
legislation is an independent organization from the state government 
bodies and carries out political, state, social, educational cultural 
and other social activities independently, though it is subject to state 
control. It must be said that our classification of legal entities of public law as 
members of state government central bodies group is to some extent conditional 
and is characterized with functional analogies of other central bodies. It is true 
that the main activities of LEPL-s involve the realization of public activities, 
though this does not primarily mean that all legal entities of public law realize 
authorities granted by the government.  According to the current legislation of 
Georgia, the right of state control and supervision is granted to legal entities of 
public law only in cases defined by law. In accordance with the legislation the 
sources for financing legal entities of public law can be the following: 

a) Membership fees; 
b) Targeted sources derived from the corresponding budget;
g) Income received from state order accomplishment;
d)  Income received as a result of accomplishing of activities considered by 

the agreement;
e) Other types of income permited by the legislation of Georgia.

These sources and income are spent on realization of aims and functions 
of legal entities of public law; but in the cases considered by the legislation of 
Georgia, the funds are spent on the development of the system of the body 
carrying out the state control. The use of funds of legal entities of public law 
for other purposes is prohibited. If a legal entity of public law was financed 
from the state budget, this must by all means be reflected in the corresponding 
budget document. Though the legal entity of public law has right to carry out 
entrepreneurial activities, if the LEPL starts to carry out entrepreneurial activities 
to the greater extent than it is established by law, the corresponding state 
government body is obliged to put forward the issue of the entity reorganization 
or liquidation.

The main regulatory document of legal entity of public law activities is the 
statute of the legal entity of public law. According to the legislation, the statute 
of the LEPL must involve the following:

•  name including “Legal Entity of Public Law";
• objectives, functions and the field of activities;
• rule of government body establishment and its competencies;
• rule of assignment of person having representative authority and his/her 

competencies;
• form and framework of state control;
• basics of financial activities, fees, membership fees etc;
• rule and conditions of liquidation;
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• Rule of making changes in the statute.

Requirements mentioned above are mostly considered for LEPL-s (public 
corporations) that are based on membership.  While talking about the statutes 
of LEPL-s (established as a result of state property privatization) it should be 
mentioned that the structure of their statutes is analogous to statute structures 
of ministries and their sub-agencies; this made the process of development of 
evaluation parameters of information transparency and their comparison to 
LEPL-s of the ministries’ system easier.

Classification of Legal Entities of Public Law According to Their Structure (in 
accordance with the clause 4 of Law of Georgia “on Legal Entity of Public Law"):

Public Law Corporation Institution

Legal Entity of Public Law based 
on Membership

LEPL founded for state purposes 
realization or founded as a result 

of certain state property 
privatisationThe highest body of management is 

the General Members Council
Has no members

Is granted state (autonomous republic) 
property to carry out functions and

reach goals 

The Head is assigned and released 
from the position by the President 

(President Resolution) of 
Georgia or the state 

governance body defined by law 

In case of liquidation, the property 
becomes the property of the state (the 
correspponding autonomous republic)

Members have rights to define main 
statements of the statute

The Head is assigned and released 
from the position by the General 

Members Council

In case of liquidation, administration 
of the property left after the 

liquidation is carried out on the basis 
of rule defined by foundation 

documents

Division of Legal Entities of Public Law according to Groups (in accordance 
with the clause 1509 of Civil Code of Georgia):
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Legal Entity of Public Law
(In accordance with the acting legislation the list is not extinctive)

1) State of Georgia

5) Political Parties 

6) The Georgian Apostolic 
     Autocephalous Orthodox Church

2) Self-Governing Unit

3) Legal entities established by the state, 
on the basis of legislation or adminis-
trative act

4) State Institutions and State Fund

(1)  State of Georgia is the primary subject of public law. In legal 
relations of Civil Law the state acts as a legal entity of private 
law	by	means	of	its	bodies	(ministries,	sub-agencies	etc)	that	are	
not legal entities;

(2)  It is a corporation of public law. In case of legal relations of Civil 
Law	the	self-governing	unit	acts	as	legal	entity	of	private	law,	by	
means	of	its	bodies	(management	bodies,	departments	etc)	that	
are not legal entities;

(3)  Organizations founded on the basis of particular legislation that 
carry out state functions;

(4)  Property foreseen for public objectives that is administered by 
the state by the body established for this very purpose; it is a 
legal entity founded as a result of state property privatization or 
established for the purpose of carrying out state objectives;

(5)  Non-state organization founded on the basis of legislation for the 
fulfillment	of	public	objectives,	that	is	not	founded	on	the	basis	
of administrative act in comparison with other groups;

(6)  Legal entity of public law recognized by the constitutional 
agreement.

Due to the abundance of legal entity categories, IDFI working group logically 
selected particular category of LEPL-s web-pages, the legal entities of public law 
that are controlled by ministries and are defined by statutes of Ministries. During 
the monitoring period (August-December, 2010) the following official web-pages 
of LEPL-s under the control of ministries acting statutes were accessible by 
means of Internet:
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Ministries Legal Entities of Public Law

Ministry of Internal 
Affairs 
(www.police.ge)

Academy of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia     
(www.policeacademy.ge )
The Security Police (www.spd.ge )
Service Agency of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of 
Georgia
(saagento.security.gov.ge)

Ministry	of	Labor,	
Health and Social 
Protection
(www.moh.gov.ge)

Social Service Agency (www.ssa.gov.ge)
The National Center for Disease Control and Public Health   
(www.ncdc.ge)
State Fund for Protection and Assistance of Victims of 
Human Trafficking (www.atipfund.gov.ge)
Health Insurance Mediation Service (www.him.ge)

Ministry of Environment 
Protection  and Natural 
Resources 
(www.moe.gov.ge)

National Environmental Agency (www.nea.gov.ge)
Agency of Protected Areas (www.dpa.gov.ge)
Forestry Department (www.forestery.ge)

Ministry of Finance
(www.mof.ge)

The Finance Academy of the Ministry of Finance
(www.mofacademy.ge)
Service Agency of the Ministry of Finance (www.seragency.
gov.ge)

Ministry of Corrections 
and Legal Assistance 
(www.mkla.gov.ge)

Legal Aid Service (www.legalaid.ge)
National Probation Agency (www.probation.ge)
Penitentiary and Probation Training Centre (www.pptc.gov.
ge)

Ministry of 
Infrastructure and 
Regional Development 
(www.mrdi.gov.ge)

Municipal Development Fund of Georgia
(www.mdf.ge)
Center for Effective Governance System and Territorial 
Arrangement Reform (www.cegstar.ge)

Ministry of Economy 
and Sustainable 
Development
(www.economy.ge)

Enterprise Management Agency (www.ema.gov.ge)
National Tourism Agency of Georgia (www.dotr.gov.ge)
The Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Georgia
(www.gcci.ge)
Georgian National Agency for Standards, Technical 
Regulation and Metrology (www.gnims.caucasus.net)

Ministry of Education 
and Science 
(www.mes.gov.ge)

Educational and Scientific Infrastructure Development 
Agency
(www.esida.ge)
National Examinations Center (www.naec.ge)
National Curriculum and Assessment Centre (www.ncac.ge)
National Center for Educational Quality Enhancement
(www.nea.ge)
Shota Rustaveli national science Foundation (www.rustaveli.
org.ge)
National Center for Teacher Professional Development
(www.tpdc.ge)

Ministry of Justice
(www.justice.gov.ge)

Notary Chamber of Georgia (www.notary.ge)
The National Archives of Georgia (www.archives.gov.ge)
National Agency of Public Registry (www.napr.gov.ge)
National Agency of Civil Registry (www.cra.gov.ge)
The Training Center of Justice (www.tcj.gov.ge)
National Bureau of Enforcement (www.nbe.gov.ge)

Ministry of Defence
(www.mod.gov.ge)

Legal entities of public Law under submission of the 
Ministry did not have official web-sites.
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Ministry of Culture and 
Monument   Protection
(www.msc.gov.ge)

Reorganization of the system of the ministry was not 
finished.

Ministry of Energy 
(www.Minenergy.gov.ge)

Legal Entity of Public Law under submission of the 
Ministry, according to the decree of the President was 
reorganized as legal entity of private law.

Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs
(www.mfa.gov.ge)

In the statute of the Ministry does not define the Legal 
Entity of Public Law.

Ministry of Internally 
Displaced Persons from 
Occupied	Territories,	
Accommodation and 
Refugees 
(www.mra.gov.ge)

Legal entity of Public Law under submission of the 
Ministry did not have official web-sites.

Ministry of Agriculture 
(www.maf.ge)

Legal entities of public Law under submission of the 
Ministry did not have official web-sites.

Ministry of Sport and 
Youth Affairs 
(www.msy.gov.ge)

Reorganization of the system of the ministry was not 
finished and the Ministry did not have an official web-site.

In general, when we speak about other characteristic features of legal entities 
of public law, it must be mentioned that according to the current legislation the 
legal entity of public law is founded and acquires the status of legal entity from 
the moment of its statute affirmation and the assignment (electing) of legal entity 
representative authorized person. The legal entity of public law stops functioning 
in the following cases: 

a) When the accomplishment of the objectives become impossible;
b) Due to the termination of the foundation period;
c) In other cases foreseen by the foundation act (statute).
The level of independence of Legal Entities of Public Law are somewhat limited 

by the state control. According to the clause 11 of law of Georgia on “Legal 
Entity of Public Law” the Legal Entity of Public Law is controlled by the state that 
involves the supervision of legality, objectiveness and effectiveness, as well as 
financial and economic supervision of activities carried out by the entity.

According to the existing legislation, the control of the legal entity of public 
law is carried out by state governance body defined by the President’s Resolution 
of Georgia or the State Minister. For the purpose state control effectiveness 
the body carrying out the state control is authorized to ask for the materials 
and information necessary for the control; this body is authorized to cease or 
liquidate certain decisions of the legal entity of public law. When the legal entity 
of public law is founded by Tbilisi Government or the Higher Executive Body of 
Autonomous Republic, control over the legal entity of public law is carried out by 
these bodies correspondingly, on the basis of certain normative act. Limitations 
of LEPL-s by state is also reflected in legislation condition according to which the 
legal entity of public law founded on the basis of state (autonomous republic) 
property does not have right to carry out the following activities:

a) Purchase of real estate, its alienation and mortage;
b) Taking loan;
c) Warranty;
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d) Definying of regular schedule and salary fund;
e)  Establishment of limits of material benefits, fuel to be purchased and 

communication expenditures (except of educational and scientific and 
research institutions);

f)  Other decisions connected with the property of legal entity of public aw 
if they go beyond everyday activities;

g)  Taking loan and warranty without the conscent of the Ministry of Finances 
of Georgia is prohibited.

Norms presented above serve the protection of state interests, though the 
LEPL, in accordance with the current legislation possesses legal protection 
mechanisms as well: refusal from the side of state on carrying out the activities 
mentioned above should be documented and may be investigated by the upper 
body or at court. State control is reflected in accountancy matters of legal entity 
of public law. In accordance with the rule established by legislation, LEPL is 
obliged to give accounts of its financial and economic activities, make balance 
and present it to the corresponding state control body for affirmation. The annual 
balance of LEPL is done by the independent auditor assigned by the body carrying 
out the state control. And finally, the liquidation of LEPL-s is done by liquidators 
assigned by the body carrying out the state control. The liquidator also may be 
the head of the Legal Entity of Public Law.

It seems that despite the independent organizational status of LEPL-s from 
the state government bodies, still the state control mechanism somehow limits 
the legal entities of public law, from the point of view of state interests.

The unity of information transparency monitoring features that are 
characteristic to one of the sub-circle of connected with the central system of 
bodies of state government – to legal entities of public law functioning in the field 
of ministry activities that are under governance of state control:

LEPL that is included in the system of the Ministry of Georgia

• Is under the governance of the ministry of Georgia;
• Is organized on the basis of statute;
• Acquires rights and responsibilities, makes agreements, acts with the third 

parties, including at courts as defender or defendant;
• Carries out public activities and development independently but is under 

the state control;
• In most cases possesses property granted by the state;
• Possesses an independent balance, calculatory, currency and other types 

of bank accounts, seal with the state State Emblem and other requisites of 
legal entity of public law;

• Is divided into structural units; may have territorial bodies;
• Is accountable to the Ministry of Georgia;
• Has a director (general director, the head, the chairman, rector etc) who 

issues individual-administrative acts and may have deputy or deputees;
• Ministry of Georgia is the body carrying out the state control.



77TARGET OBJECTS OF MONITORING

C
ha

pt
er

 II
I

Independent National Regulatory Bodies

We must review one of the important circles within the the system of state 
governance central bodies. This is a circle of Independent National Regulatory 
Bodies. If in case of Legal Entities of Public Law that have independent 
status from the state governance and independent regime of carrying out 
activities, still some limitations resulted from the state regulation were 
evident, such kind of regulation can not be found in cases of independent 
national regulatory bodies. The element of the name of these bodies 
itself	–	“independent”,	directly	points	to	the	absence	of	any	kind	of	
influence	from	other	bodies	and	shows	the	highest	level	of	quality	of	
their independence.

According to the current legislation (December, 2009) there were the 
following Independent Reglatory Bodies in Georgia: 

National Commission of 
Communications of Georgia

Acting Independent Regulatory
Bodies in Georgia

National Regulatory Commission of 
Water Supply and Energy of Georgia

It must be mentioned that according to the law of Georgia “on Independent 
Regulatory Bodies” the Independent Regulatory Bodies represent legal entities 
of public law. Consequently, as a result of organizational and structural analogy 
of the legal entities of public law within the system of the ministries of Georgia, 
evaluation table of the public authorities web-pages fits the number of parameters 
of information transparency of these bodies.

The principles defining the independence of the regulatory bodies include the 
following:

Prohibition of 
any type of conrol 
of the independent 

regulatory body

Definition of 
responsibilities 
only through 

the court

Assignment of the 
members of the 

independent 
regulatory body 
(commissioners)
on the basis of 

the rule established 
by the corresponding 

law

Prohibition 
of transfer 

of public functions 
to other bodies 

and legal enities 
of public law
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According	to	the	existing	legislation,	the	regulatory	bodies	are	free	
from any kind of political influence; they are free from influence from 
state	bodies,	other	persons	and	illegal	interruption,	as	well	as	from	any	
other activity that may cease their independence. Independent regulatory 
body represents a legal entity of public law having special rights founded by the 
state, for the purpose of regulation of certain field that does not have controlling 
body; it is independent from state bodies and acts within the framework of the 
authority established by the legislation. The legislation prohibits the interruption 
of the independent regulatory body activities, its control and asking for reports 
by any state body, if this is not directly forseen by the corresponding law. Besides, 
the regulatory bodies have financial independence that means that they are not 
financed from the budget, the main source of their budget is financing received 
from their field of regulation. In accordance with the legislation, independence 
guarantees are established for the members (commissioner) of the body, 
assigned by the act of corresponding body. Any kind of influence and illegal 
interruption of the commisioner’s professional activities is strictly prohibited, 
as he/she has full authority granted by the legislation in taking decisions. The 
release of the commissioner from the position is possible in the following cases 
foreseen by the legislation: court’s decision, violation of ethical norms, failure to 
accomplish professional duties within the period defined by the corresponding 
law, in case of court’s decision that the person is lost or deceased, losing the 
citizenship of Georgia, resignment and death.

Besides independence, the regulatory bodies have authorities of passing 
normative acts, licence and permission decisions and the authority of settling 
fee disputes:
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Authority of 
passing 

normative
acts

independent regulatory body is authorized to receive rules of 
general conduct having legislative nature (legislative acts);

normative act of the independent regulatory body is the 
National Commission Resolution;

independent regulatory body passes acts in accordance with 
the law of Georgia on ‘Normative Acts.

Licence and 
permission 
authority

independent regulatory body has full authority to issue 
licences and permissions within the framework of its 
competencies; as well as cease their validity period, prolong 
their validity period, modify or liquidate them;

interruption and control of licence and permissions authority 
of independent regulatory body is prohibited.

Authority
concerning 

charges

the independent regulatory body is authorized to set and regulate 
fees, within the framework of its competencies and the legislation 
of Georgia;

interruption and control of activities connected with the fees 
regulation authority of independent regulatory body is prohibited.

Authority of 
settling

the disputes

the independent regulatory body is authorized to settle 
disputes that arise in connection with licences and permits 
issued by them, among the owners and users of the 
licences/permits;

Decisions of the independent regulatory body concerning the 
disputes mentioned above may be appealed to court.

Despite the independent status granted by the legislation to these bodies, there 
still remains minimal role of state bodies in relation to the activities of independent 
regulatory bodies that according to the acting legislation is distributed as follows: 
decisions of the Independent Regulatory Body are subject to review carried out by 
the court; the Parliament of Georgia is authorized to take decision on audit 
of budget accomplished by the Independent Regulatory Body; in accordance with 
the current legislation, the audit is carried out by independent auditors who are 
selected by tender commission. The members of this commission are affirmed by 
the Parliament on the basis of official letter of field economics and economic 
policy committee. And one of the basic principles defining the independence of 
regulatory body – the prohibition of any type of control of the regulatory body, 
does not exlude the preparation of report only to the President of Georgia and 
the Parliament,	 in accordance with the rule established by the corresponding 
law. According to the 5th point of the first clause of the statute of Energy and 
Water Supply National Regulatory Committee of Georgia, the commission prepares 
the report until March 31 annually and presents it to the President of	Georgia,	
Parliament and the Ministry of Energy. According to the 4th clause of the 
same statute, the members of the commission are assigned to and released from 
the position by the President of Georgia, and one of the members is assigned 
as Chairman by the President of Georgia.

According to the acting legislation, besides the most important function of 
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regulation (that involves passing the legislative acts within the framework of 
its competencies and the legislations, monitoring, coordination, supervision 
and control of of liscense/permit conditions accomplishment) of the regulatory 
body, another important function of the body is the ensurance of accessibility to 
public information, for the consumers, review and settlement of their statements 
and complaints. For the purposes of the consumers’ interests protection, the 
service of Consumer Interests Public Protection is introduced. The service acts 
independently from the regulatory commission. Public Ombudsman of the 
consumers’ interests is assigned to the position on the basis of open competition. 
The decision is formulated by the order of the corresponding regulatory body 
chairman and the commission is selected by Ombudsman of Georgia.

The unity of information transparency monitoring features that are 
characteristic to one of the sub-circles connected with the bodies of state 
government central system – to Independent National Regulatory Bodies:

Independent National Regulatory Body

• Constantly functioning body that is not subject to control from any of the 
state institution;

• Is founded as LEPL and has special rights and authorities;
• Is organized on the basis of the statute;
• Is independent within the framework of its activities and acts according to 

the legislation of Georgia;
• Possesses financial independence – is not financed from the budget;
• Possesses independent balance and corresponding accounts at bansk; has 

its own seal with the state State Emblem and the name;
• For the purposes of functioning has its own apparatus that consists of 

structural units;
• Has independent service of public ombudsman that protects the rights of 

consumers;
• Has a director – the chairman of the commission.

Other Pubic Authorities

In	general,	while	speaking	on	public	information	and	its	accessibility	
to	the	society,	on	internet	transparency	or	e-Government,	it	is	necessary	
to	 know	 the	meaning	 of	 concept	 of	 public	 authority,	 i.e.	 the	 society	
must be able to guess which body possesses public information that is 
subject	to	disclosure,	in	cases	considered	by	the	legislation.	Besides the 
LEPL-s and ministries of Georgia that we have selected as monitorinbg targets, 
there are a number of public authorities that have the obligation of making public 
information accessible to society. From the point of view of public information 
openness, we can distinguish the institutions that are represented by the three 
branch of the Government:
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1. Chancellary of the Parliament;
2. Minister Apparatus of Georgia;
3. State sub-agencies, including Prosecution Office;
4. Institutions of Executive Governments of Autonomous Republics of Abkhazia 

and Adjara; 
5. South Ossetia Administration;
6. State Trustee – the Governor’s Administration;
7. LEPL-s accountable to the government that carry public functions – Agency 

of Free Trade and Competition, State Procurements Agency, ”Sakpatenti” – 
the National Center of Intellectual Property of Georgia etc.;

8. Institutions and discussion boards under the governance of the head of the 
Government of Georgia – President’s Administration, Intelligence Agency of 
Georgia, Security Council of Georgia, Special Department of State Defence 
of Georgia, Civil Service Council;

9. Institutions of Judicial Government – the Supreme Court of Georgia, Courts 
of Appeal, Regional Courts, Constitutional Court of Georgia;

10. Supreme Council of the Justice of Georgia, Higher School of Justice;
11. The higher representative body of legislative government – Parliament and 

its institutions – the supreme representaive bodies of Abkhazia and Adjara 
Autonomous Republics;

12. Many independent bodies – independent acting regulatory bodies of 
Georgia, Control Chamber of Georgia, National Bank of Georgia and its 
LEPL – Financial Monitoring Service, Public Ombudsman, Central Elections 
Commission of Georgia, LEPL “Public Broadcaster” etc.

This is the non-exhaustive list of public authorities to which the norms of 
chapter 3 of the General Administrative Code of Georgia refer to. And according 
to the current legislation of Georgia, legal entities of private law (limited liabilities 
companies, joint stock companies etc) that in certain cases were financed from 
the state budget are considered as public authorities.

Public authorities in most cases have many general characteristic features 
(management, organization, structure, legislative acts that regulate their 
activities, tasks and objectives, functions and competencies, state control 
mechanisms, accountability on targeted use of budget funds, symbolics etc)  and 
what is most important is the condition that all official documents stored in these 
institutions as well as all correspondence received by the institution connected 
with the activities of the institution is considered to be public information in 
accordance with the legislation. And everyone has right to ask for the access 
to these documentation.

Unfortunately, the institutions mentioned above do not have one more general 
characteristic feature – there is no legislative requirement that would oblige 
the institutions to have their own official web-page; and there is no standard 
that would define the category of information that would be necessary for 
publishing on the web-pages of the institutions mentioned above. The Institute 
for Development of Freedom of Information continues to work actively on those 
problematics.
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Chapter IV

THE METHODOLOGY FOR MONITORING

Monitoring of Informational Resources 
(Official Web-pages) of Public Authorities in Georgia
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RESEARCH (MONITORING) METHODOLOGY 

The presented research is based upon methodolody of monitoring of official 
web-pages of state organizations developed by a non-governmental, non-
commercial organization “Institute for Information Freedom Development” based 
in the Russian Federation (www.svobodainfo.org).

The Institute has a longstanding practice and experience in monitoring 
official web-pages of state organizations and assessment of their transparency. 
The Institute, together with the National Security Archive, George Washington 
University, Washington DC. (http://www.gwu.edu/~nsarchiv/), is one of the first 
partners of our organization. 

The methodology approved by the “Institute for Development of Freedom 
of Information” has been improved and adjusted to the Georgian reality. New 
approaches have been developed taking into consideration the competencies 
and specific nature of work of the Executive Authorities of Georgia. We have 
also defined the quantitative and qualitative characteristics of transparency of 
current activities of the Executive Authorities of Georgia. 

ASSESSMENT CRITERIA  

Each parameter was attached a social importance coefficient during the 
research (K-value). According to the research methodology this coefficient defines 
the value of specific information and the level of social interest towards it. It is 
necessary to define the mentioned coefficient because all parameters can not 
be qualitatively equal from the point of view of social importance. For example, 
the exact postal address of location of a state agency is much more important 
that instruction about how to reach this address by municipality transport. Social 
importance coefficient is defined by one qualitative index from three (1, 2 or 3). 

For the purpose of final assessment the circumstances have been analyzed 
which define the limits of competence, functions and tasks of each state agency. 
Those parameters have been also defined by which we should not have assessed 
websites. Finally, the obtained index/coefficient is defined as necessity of 
placement of particular information on the official website of the state agency 
(K-necessity).
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As the parameter assessment criteria quantitative and qualitative 
characteristics of information have been selected: 
•	Existence/inexistence of information; 
•	Completeness of information;
•	Availability of information; 
•	Up-to-dateness of information.

Placement or non-placement of information on the official website is defined 
by existence coefficient (K-existence). The coefficient reflects the quantitative 
characteristics of information and it may have one index from two (1- information 
is shown on the website or 0 – no information is found on the website).

The information completeness coefficient (K-completeness) defines how fully this 
or that information is reflected in the data published on website. The coefficient 
may have one of the three indices according to information completeness: 

• High level of completeness (70-100%) - K-completeness = 1 (data on the 
parameter are provided in detail and information is presented in full);

• Average level of completeness (30-70%) – K-completeness = 0,5 (data on 
the parameter are presented in a required amount, but information is not 
placed in complete amount or the required amount of data is presented but 
information is not placed in complete amount);

• Low level of completeness (5-30%) – K-completeness = 0,2 (information on the 
parameter is scarce and superficial). 

Up-to-dateness of information implies the quality of the value of information by 
the moment of its obtaining. The coefficient depends on changeability of dynamics 
of its characteristics and the interval of time passed after the event. Up-to-dateness 
is determined by coefficient (K-up-to-dateness) and may have one of three indexes 
based on the quality of the information up-to-dateness.

• High level of up-to-dateness – K-up-to-dateness = 1 (texts of official speeches 
and statements, data about official events, official visits and working meetings 
are current (no later than during 7 days). Information about activities of state 
authorities, plans of activities, reports, descriptions of development programs, 
information about regional target programs development and budget, reviews 
of applications from citizens, tenders and trading operations carried out are 
presented on a real-time basis); 

• Average level of up-to-dateness – K-up-to-dateness = 0,85 (texts of official speeches 
and statements, data about official events, official visits and working meetings 
placed are late for 14 days. The information about activities - plans of activities, 
reports, descriptions of development programs, information about programs 
development and budget, reviews of applications from citizens, tenders and 
trading operations carried out reflects the situation of the last year); 

• Low level of up-to-dateness – K-up-to-dateness = 0,7 (texts of official speeches 
and statements, data about official events, official visits and working meetings 
are older than 14 days. The information  about activities - plans of activities, 
reports, descriptions of development programs, information about program 
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development and budget, reviews of applications from citizens, tenders and 
trading operations carried out reflects the situation of more than one year). 

Availability of information implies the quality of simplicity of searching 
information on the website. Availability is defined by coefficient (K-availability) which 
may have one of three indexes based on the quality of information availability:

• High quality of availability – K-availability = 1 (information is placed comfortably 
for users, in the logical part of the website, in thematic blocks, it is easily 
searchable); 

• Average quality of availability - K-availability. = 0,95 (search is complicated, 
information is placed in the logical part, but it is badly structured and it is 
difficult to search in the entire amount of information or it is spread all over 
the website and it not conveniently grouped at a corresponding page; 

• Low level of availability – K-availability = 0,9 (search is very complicated, 
information is placed in the illogical part, information can be found only from 
the text of other documents or information can be searched by using search 
function or a website map).

Information amount coefficient (K-amount) represents the existence of direct 
information on website and does not depend on qualitative characteristics of 
information. K-amount is calculated by the following formula: 

K-amount = K-completeness × K-existence.

Information quality coefficient (K-quality) reflects all qualitative indexes of 
information and is calculated by the formula:

K-quality = K-completeness × (K-up-to-dateness + K-availability -1)

Total coefficient of social value of information (K-total) is calculated by the 
formula: 

K-total = K-value X K-amount × K-quality. 

Total coefficient of information reflects all characteristics of parameters 
selected by experts. 

Transparency coefficient of official website of each state authority 
(K-transparency) is calculated by the formula: 

K-transparency = Σ-total/ Σ (K-value × K-necessity).

Information transparency quality reflects the arithmetic mean of total 
coefficients of information transparency of state authorities. 



86 THE METHODOLOGY FOR MONITORING

Methods for Monitoring

As noted above, the IDFI working group has selected official websites of the 
Ministries of Georgia and those of Legal Entities of Public Law (LEPL), existing, 
according to internal regulations of the mentioned Ministries within their 
frameworks, as their monitoring object.

A monitoring process went for five months; it started in the August of 2010 
and finished in the December of 2010. Official websites of 15 Ministries and 33 
LEPLs of Georgia could be observed in the Internet at that time. Due to some 
independent reasons, it was impossible to evaluate websites of the following 
Public Authorities (hereinafter referred to as PA) within the given period: the 
Ministry of Sport and Youth Affairs of Georgia (www.msy.gov.ge). No separate 
official website of the Ministry existed at that time. Instead, it existed in the 
form of a separate department under the Ministry of Culture, Monument 
Protection and Sport of Georgia, presently named as the Ministry of Culture and 
Monument Protection of Georgia; LEPL Basic Sapling Forestry (www.sanerge.
com) under the Ministry of Environment Protection and Natural Resources of 
Georgia (the website of the LEPL was under construction at that time); LEPL 
Eurasian Transport Corridor Investment Centre (www.trrc.ge) under the Ministry 
of Regional Development and Infrastructure of Georgia (the website of the LEPL 
was under construction at that time); LEPL National Investment Agency (www.
investingeorgia.org) under the Ministry of Economic Development of Georgia (the 
former website of the LEPL gave more an impression of a website for commercial 
purposes rather than a website of a PA as a structural governmental body; LEPL 
National Accreditation Centre (www.gac.gov.ge) under the Ministry of Economic 
Development of Georgia (the website of the LEPL was under construction at that 
time); LEPL The School of Administration after Zurab Zhvania (www.zspa.ge) 
under the Ministry of Education and Science of Georgia (the website of the LEPL 
was under construction at that time).  

We should note again that the IDFI working group has selected those LEPLs 
directly pointed out in the internal regulations describing the systems of their 
respective Ministries and therefore did not envisage those having only indirect 
implication in the texts of the internal regulations and/or without any implication 
therein being under a state control of a respective Ministry. In order to acquire a 
more complete picture and given the official websites be existent, those LEPLs, 
which have not been monitored this time, can be monitored on a transparency of 
their respective web-sites in the future. 

The present research based on the previous IDFI research of 2009 had the 
following goals:

• To improve an information transparency evaluation spreadsheet;
• To evaluate information available on the official websites of the Ministries 

and those of the LEPLs under the Ministries;
• To determine efficiency of the contents of information available on the 

websites;
• To prepare and submit recommendations on deficiencies identified during 

the monitoring process.

http://www.msy.gov.ge
http://www.sanerge.com
http://www.sanerge.com
http://www.trrc.ge
http://www.investingeorgia.org
http://www.investingeorgia.org
http://www.gac.gov.ge
http://www.zspa.ge
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The present IDFI research can be divided into two stages shown below: 

Improvement of the evaluation 
spreadsheet of PA web-site 

transparency

RESEARCH STAGES

Preparation and submission  of
recommendation papers to PAs

DETERMINATION OF PA OFFICIAL 
WEBSITES INFORMATION TRANS-

PARENCY RATE AND
IDENTIFICATION OF PA WEB-SITES 

INFORMATION DEFICIENCIES

PROVISION OF ASSISTANCE BY SUBMIT-
TING ADDITIONAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

TO INTERESTED PAs

DETERMINATION OF PA OFFICIAL WEBSITES INFORMATION 
TRANSPARENCY RATE (STAGE 1.1.). The methods used by IDFI in 2009 
were again used this time to determine information transparency rate that is 
information transparency quality of Public Authorities. Like the previous year, 
the valuation criteria were the same this year too, namely: Information 
Availability/Unavailability,	 Information	 Completeness,	 Information	
Accessibility,	Information	Topicality. Total coefficients have been determined 
for the information available on the web-sites.

IDENTIFICATION OF PA WEB-SITES INFORMATION DEFICIENCIES 
(STAGE 1.2.). The mentioned stage pursued two goals: firstly, detailing the 
identified deficiencies in writing and their further analysis will contribute to the 
identification of either positive or negative trends as for PA web sites information 
transparency and secondly, the identified deficiencies in writing will serve as a 
good precondition for the preparation of corresponding recommendations.

PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF RECOMMENDATION PAPERS TO 
PAs (STAGE 2.1.). Preparation of a recommendation list to be submitted to PAs 
is based upon the arrangement of the identified deficiencies in order of thematic 
blocks. Recommendations have been submitted to each of the corresponding 
PAs in the form of a document using an IDFI letterhead. 

PROVISION OF ASSISTANCE BY SUBMITTING ADDITIONAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS TO INTERESTED PAs (STAGE 2.2.). PAs, which showed 
interest in the submitted recommendations and received additional assistance 
for the aim of increasing transparency of their websites, were as follows:

1.  LEPL National Centre for Diseases Control and Public Healthcare after L. 
Sakhvarelidze under the Ministry of Labour, Health and Social Affairs of 
Georgia;

2.  LEPL National Environmental Agency under the Ministry of Environment 
Protection and Natural Resources of Georgia;

3.  LEPL National Bureau of Enforcement under the Ministry of Justice of 
Georgia;
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4.  LEPL Security Police Department under the Ministry of Internal Affairs of 
Georgia;

5.  LEPL Enterprise Management Agency under the Ministry of Economic 
Development of Georgia. 

The working group also made a detailed presentation of recommendations 
to LEPL State Procurement Agency, which is an independent organ permanently 
accountable to and acting for the Government of Georgia. The assistance 
consisted in a presentation made according to a list of recommendations 
prepared for the above-mentioned LEPLs and if it came to an optimization of 
the Agency’s website, the working group would see to an adjustment process 
according to introduced standards.

The criteria used in the evaluation spreadsheet to determine the transparency 
rate of the Ministries and their LEPLs have been harmonized with information 
standards applied by the PAs for their websites. Evaluation standards/parameters 
are listed in order of thematic blocks as follows:

Evaluation parameters according to Thematic Blocks:
 I. General Information about PAs; 
 II. PA Structure/System;
 III. PA Information Resources;
 IV. PA Scope of Activities; 
 V. PA Legal Acts and Rule-Making Activities;
 VI. PA Operation Rules for the Aim of Ensuring Rights, Freedom and Legal 

Interests of Natural and Legal Persons; 
 VII. PA State Procurement, State Property Privatization and Contracting 

Processes;   
 VIII. PA Personnel Recruitment;
 IX. PA Financing and Expenses;
 X. PA Information Perception Simplicity Criteria;
 XI. Additional Parameters of Importance;
 XII. PA Web-Sites Negative Contents and Functions. 
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List of Abbreviations
LEPL  Legal Entity of Public Law 
PA    Public Authority 
SO    Superior (Controlling) Organ 
PAEC  Public Authority of Equal 

Competence 
SU    Structural Unit (of Public 

Authority)

TU   Territorial Unit (of Public 
Authority)

CAB  Coordinating and Advisory 
Body (of Public Authority)

FM   Foreign Mission (of Public 
Authority)

SSA   State Sub-Agency

PA Official Web-Sites  
Information Evaluation Parameters

 � Thematic Block 1  
General Information Concerning PAs

 1.1. Information Concerning PA Directorship
1.1.1. PA Director’s full name, a photo and a complete biography (CV);
1.1.2. PA Director’s competences (rights and obligations) description; A 

Higher Official authorized to appoint and/or dismiss a PA Director;
1.1.3. PA Director’s contact details: working e-mail, Reception Office (or 

Assistant Director’s) telephone and fax numbers;
1.1.4. PA Deputy Directors’ (Acting Director’s) full names, photos and 

complete biographies;
1.1.5. PA Deputy Directors’ (Acting Director’s) competences (rights and 

obligations) description; Description of scopes of responsibility and 
fields of supervision of PA Deputy Directors; In case of the Ministries, 
information about PA Deputy Director acting as a Parliamentary 
Secretary;  A Higher Official authorized to appoint and/or dismiss a PA 
Director;

1.1.6. PA Deputy Directors’ contact details: working e-mails, Reception Offices 
(or Assistant Deputy Directors) telephone and fax numbers.

 1.2. PA General Contact Information 
1.2.1. PA full and brief (abbreviations) names;
1.2.2. PA official website marking;
1.2.3. PA name, legal successor of which is the given PA;
1.2.4. PA postal address (including a postal index);
1.2.5. PA Reception Office location (premises location map);
1.2.6. PA Public Relations Office telephone numbers or a hotline numbers (if 

available);
1.2.7. PA system complete contact directory (PA structural and territorial 

units telephone, fax, e-mail and addresses directories);
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1.2.8. PA fax number;
1.2.9. PA e-mail;
1.2.10. PA natural and legal persons reception and work schedule.

 1.3. Information Concerning Superior (Controlling) Organs (SO) 
1.3.1. SO full and brief (abbreviations) names available on a PA website;
1.3.2. SO web link available on a PA website.

 1.4. Information Concerning State Sub-Agency (SSA) (in case of the 
Ministries)

1.4.1. SSAs full and brief (abbreviations) name list available on a Ministry 
website;

1.4.2. SSAs web links available on a Ministry website.

 1.5. Information about LEPLs (in case of the Ministries)
1.5.1. LEPLs full and brief (abbreviations) name list available on a Ministry 

website;
1.5.2. LEPLs web links available on a Ministry website. 

 1.6.  Information Concerning Public Authorities of Equal Competence 
(PAEC)

1.6.1. PAECs full and/or brief (abbreviations) name list;
1.6.2. PAECs web links available on PA websites.

 1.7. Information Concerning PA Affairs
1.7.1. PA operating history from the date of formation;
1.7.2. PA competences, scopes of operation, functions, goals and tasks 

description.
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 � Thematic Block 2 
PA Structure/System

 2.1. General Information Concerning PA Structure/System
2.1.1. PA system structure (structural tree) and description.

 2.2. Information Concerning PA Structural Units (SU)
2.2.1. SUs’ list;
2.2.2. SU competences, functions and goals description; 
2.2.3. SU Director’s full name, a photo, a complete biography;
2.2.4.  SU Director’s competences (rights and obligations) description;  

A Higher Official authorized to appoint and/or dismiss a SU Director;
2.2.5. SU Director’s contact details: working e-mail, Reception Office (or 

Assistant Director’s) telephone and fax numbers;
2.2.6. SU e-mail;
2.2.7. SU telephone number.

 2.3. Information Concerning PA Territorial Units (TU)
2.3.1. TUs’ list;
2.3.2. TU competences, functions and goals description;
2.3.3. TU Director’s full name, a photo, a complete biography;
2.3.4. TU Director’s competences (rights and obligations) description;  

A Higher Official authorized to appoint and/or dismiss a TU Director;
2.3.5. TU Director’s contact details: working e-mail, Reception Office (or 

Assistant Director’s) telephone and fax numbers;
2.3.6. TU web link available on a PA website;
2.3.7. TU postal address (including postal index);
2.3.8. TU Reception Office location (premises location map);
2.3.9. TU e-mail;
2.3.10. TU telephone number;
2.3.11. TU fax number.

 2.4. Information Concerning PA Coordinating and Advisory Body (CAB)
2.4.1. CABs’ list;
2.4.2. CAB competences, functions and goals description;
2.4.3. CAB structure and staff;
2.4.4. CAB minutes of meetings;
2.4.5. CAB meeting decisions.

 2.5. PA Foreign Missions (FM)
2.5.1. FMs’ list;
2.5.2. Information about FMs formation and description of their main 

activities;
2.5.3. FM Director’s full name, a photo, a complete biography;
2.5.4. FM Director’s contact details: working e-mail, Reception Office (or 

Assistant Director’s) telephone and fax numbers;
2.5.5. FM postal address (including postal index);
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2.5.6. FM telephone number;
2.5.7. FM fax number;
2.5.8. FM e-mail;
2.5.9. FM Reception Office location (premises location map);
2.5.10. FM web link available on a PA website.

 � Thematic Block 3 
PA Information Resources

 3.1. List of PA-controlled information systems for public use (databa-
ses,	databanks,	cadastres,	registers	etc.);

 3.2. Description and application rules of PA-controlled information for 
public use;

 3.3. Possibility to apply PA-controlled information systems for public 
use;

 3.4. List of PA-controlled information systems for limited use;

 3.5. Description and application rules of PA-controlled information 
systems for limited use;

 3.6. PA Register for incoming and outgoing correspondence;

	 3.7.	 Description	of	procedures	for	registering,	reception,	forwarding	
and reviewing of requests from natural and legal persons to 
access PA information resources;

 3.8. Description of services and acceptance procedures with regard to 
PA-offered information.
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 � Thematic Block 4 
PA Scope of Activities

 4.1. Information about PA Director’s Current Activities
4.1.1. PA Director’s speeches, addresses, statements and briefings texts;
4.1.2. PA Deputy Directors’ speeches, addresses, statements and briefings 

texts; 
4.1.3. PA Director’s duty calls;
4.1.4. PA Deputy Directors’ (Acting Director’s) duty calls;
4.1.5. PA Director’s participations in events;
4.1.6. PA Deputy Directors’ participations in events.

 4.2. Information about PA Activities
4.2.1. Annual statements/reports about PA activities; 
4.2.2. Information reviews about PA activities;
4.2.3. Information about major indicators reflecting current situations with 

regard to main PA activities and their development dynamics;
4.2.4. Description of development plans pertaining to specific PA-ruled fields;
4.2.5. PA forecasts;
4.2.6. Official statistical information collected and processed by PA;
4.2.7. Data concerning interaction of PA with other PAs (state and local 

government bodies, LEPLs), political and professional unions and other 
organizations;

4.2.8. Data concerning interaction of PA with international organizations;  
4.2.9. Data concerning PA probation, attestation, training, qualification, 

educational courses or seminars. 

 4.3. Information about State Programs
4.3.1. List of state, goal-oriented etc. programs of which PA is a customer, 

an implementer or a party in whatever way participating in execution 
thereof;

4.3.2. Data concerning events taking place within state, goal-oriented etc. 
programs of which PA is a customer, an implementer or a party in 
whatever way participating in execution thereof;

4.3.3. Yearly reports about execution of state, goal-oriented etc. programs 
of which PA is a customer, an implementer or a party in whatever way 
participating in the execution thereof.

 4.4. Information about Participation in Project Implementation 
4.4.1. A project list of which PA is an implementer; 
4.4.2. Data concerning events taking place within the frameworks of projects 

of which PA is an implementer;
4.4.3. Yearly reports about projects of which PA is an implementer.

 4.5. Information about Audits
4.5.1. Information about PA-performed audits;
4.5.2. Information on audits performed in PA.
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 4.6. Information Concerning PA Notifications about Emergencies and 
Responses Thereto

4.6.1. List of PA notifications about emergencies and responses thereto;
4.6.2. Recommendations for PA with regard to notifications to be made about 

emergencies and responses thereto.

 4.7. Information about Procedures for Appeals against Activities 
Performed (and/or Abstinence from Activities to be Performed) 
and Decisions (Legal Administrative Acts) Taken by PA or Directors 
thereof 

4.7.1. Description of administrative procedures for appeals against activities 
performed (and/or abstinence from activities to be performed) and 
decisions (legal administrative acts) taken by PA or Directors thereof;

4.7.2. Description of administrative procedures for filing a lawsuit against 
activities performed (and/or abstinence from activities to be performed) 
and decisions (legal administrative acts) taken by PA or Directors 
thereof;

4.7.3. Reviews of court cases (texts of court decisions, decrees, resolutions, 
orders and information pertaining to entering into force thereof etc.) of 
which PA or a Director thereof is a party;

4.7.4. Texts of court decisions not in favour of PA.

 4.8. Information Concerning PA Expertise
4.8.1. Description of PA expertises;
4.8.2. Outcomes of PA expertises.
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 � Thematic Block 5 
PA Legal Acts and Rule-Making Activities

	 5.1.	 Legal	Acts	Defining	Competence,	Tasks,	Functions	and	Principles	
of	 PA	 Activities	 (Legislative	 and	 Sub-Legislative	 Acts,	 Internal	
Routine,	 Government	 Resolutions	 and	 Legal	 Acts	 Issued	 by	 the	
President	of	Georgia,	Individual	Administrative	Acts/Orders	Issued	
by a Minister) 

5.1.1. Texts of legal acts in force governing PA activities (internal regulations, 
internal routine and other legal acts).

 5.2. Legal Acts Governing Activities of Organs Superior to PA and 
Those of PA Structural Units

5.2.1. Texts of legal acts in force governing activities of Organs superior to PA 
and those of PA Structural Units (internal regulations, internal routine 
and other legal acts).

 5.3. Legal Acts Governing Activities of PA CABs
5.3.1. Texts of legal acts governing CAB activities (number of members, 

description of procedures for member appointment and dismissal, 
frequency of meetings, description of organ’s functions, decision-
taking procedures, procedures for electing a director, term of office, 
description of functions etc.).

 5.4. Legal Acts Governing PA System (Organizational Structure)
5.4.1. Texts of legal acts in force governing SU’s main tasks, competences 

and activities;
5.4.2. Texts of legal acts in force governing TU’s main tasks, competences 

and activities;
5.4.3. Texts of legal acts in force governing SSA’s main tasks, competences 

and activities;
5.4.4. Texts of legal acts in force governing LEPL’s main tasks, competences 

and activities.

	 5.5.	 PA	Legal	Acts,	Legal	Successor	of	which	is	the	PA	in	Question
5.5.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.6. Legal Acts Governing the Rules of Creation and Use of PA 
Information Resources as well as General Issues of e-Governance

5.6.1. Corresponding legal acts in force.  

 5.7. Legal Acts’ Projects Pertaining to PA Scope of Activities and/or 
Competences

5.7.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts’ projects;
5.7.2. Explanation cards enclosed to legal acts’ projects. 

 5.8. Sub-Legislative Acts’ Projects Pertaining to Issues Related to PA 
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Scope of Activities and/or Competences
5.8.1. Texts of corresponding sub-legislative acts’ projects;
5.8.2. Explanation cards enclosed to sub-legislative acts’ projects.

 5.9. Legal Acts Pertaining to PA Scope of Activities (Governance)
5.9.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts;
5.9.2. Text of the Constitution of Georgia.

 5.10. Legal Acts of the President of Georgia Pertaining to PA Scope of 
Activities (Governance)

5.10.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.11. Legal Acts of the Government of Georgia Pertaining to PA Scope 
of Activities (Governance) 

5.11.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.12. Administrative Acts of a Minister and a PA Director Pertaining to 
PA Scope of Activities (Governance)

5.12.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.13. Legal Acts Pertaining to Approvals of Programs of which PA is a 
Customer,	an	Implementer	or	a	Party	in	Any	Respect	Participating	
in Execution Thereof

5.13.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.14. Legal Acts Governing the Rules of Applications to a PA and Rules 
of Requesting Information

5.14.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.15. Legal Acts Governing the Rules for Awarding by PA the Rights of 
Usage,	Rights	Pertaining	to	Licensing,	Accounting	and	Registering,	
Authorizing	 and	Accrediting,	Declaring	 and	 Legalizing	or	Other	
Forms	 of	 Public	 Activities	 and	 Governance	 to	 Ensure	 Rights,	
Freedom and Legal Interests of Natural and Legal Persons by 
Taking Due Account of State and Society Interests

5.15.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.16. Legal Acts Governing the Procedures of PA Services and Issues 
Related to Prices for Offered Services

5.16.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.17. Legal Acts Governing PA Procedures for Review of Law Violation 
Notifications  

5.17.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

	5.18.	 Legal	Acts	Governing	PA	Procedures	for	Holding	Tenders,	Contests	
and Other State Procurement Operations 

5.18.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.
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 5.19. Legal Acts Governing PA Procedures for Holding Electronic/Public 
Auctions,	Executing	Direct	Sale	and	State	Property	Privatization	
Process

5.19.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.20. Legal Acts Governing PA Officials’ Rules of Conduct (Code of 
Behaviour)

5.20.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.21. Legal Acts Governing PA Procedures for Appointments to and 
Contests for Public Positions

5.21.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

	5.22.	 Legal	 Acts	Governing	 PA	 Procedures	 for	 Conducting	 Probation,	
Attestation,	 Training,	 Qualification,	 Educational	 Courses	 or	
Seminars

5.21.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.

 5.23. Legal Acts Governing Issues Pertaining to PA Notifications about 
Emergencies and Responses Thereto

5.23.1. Texts of corresponding legal acts.
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 � Thematic Block 6 
PA Operation Rules for the Aim of Ensuring Rights, 
Freedom and Legal Interests of Natural and Legal 
Persons

 6.1. General Information
6.1.1. Materials pertaining to explanations for natural and legal persons 

with regard to PA scope of competence (consultations, explanations, 
notifications etc.);

6.1.2. PA reviews of natural and legal persons’ appeals.

 6.2. Reviews of Natural and Legal Persons’ Appeals Pertaining to 
General Issues

6.2.1. Description of PA procedures for review of natural and legal persons’ 
appeals pertaining to general issues;

6.2.2. Description of PA procedures for and terms of reviews of natural and 
legal persons’ appeals pertaining to general issues;

6.2.3. Availability of an option enabling to send an appeal from a PA website. 

 6.3. PA Activities Pertaining to Information Freedom / Public 
Information Disclosure   

6.3.1. Full name and position of a PA officer responsible for ensuring a free 
access to public information;

6.3.2. Contact details (working e-mail, telephone and fax numbers) of a PA 
officer responsible for ensuring a free access to public information;

6.3.3. Legal acts pertaining to request for, access to, provision of, refusal 
for the provision of, classification of information and other freedom-of-
information-related issues;

6.3.4. Availability of administrative complaints and information request 
forms/samples for downloading on a PA website;

6.3.5. Data concerning appeals against PA refusals to provide public 
information (texts of decisions, decrees, acts, court orders, information 
about enforcement thereof etc.);

6.3.6. Data concerning a number of PA permissions to provide or to refuse to 
provide public information;

6.3.7. Data concerning a number of General Administrative Code requirements 
violations by public officers and a number of disciplinary measures 
taken against them; 

6.3.8. Availability on a PA website of complete annual reports submitted to 
the President and the Parliament of Georgia in accordance with Clause 
49 of the General Administrative Code of Georgia.

	 6.4.	 Awarding	 Natural	 and	 Legal	 Persons	 Rights	 to	 Use,	 Rights	
Pertaining	 to	 Licensing,	 Accounting	 and	 Registering,	 Authorizing	
and	Accrediting,	Declaring	and	Legalizing	or	Other	Forms	of	Public	
Activities	 and	 Governance	 to	 Ensure	 Rights,	 Freedom and Legal 
Interests of Natural and Legal Persons
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 6.4.1. Data concerning licensing and other activities related to the Government;
6.4.2. Description of entities according to categories authorized to appeal to a 

PA to perform licensing and other activities related to the Government;
6.4.3. Description of terms of validity for licensing and other activities related 

to the Government;
6.4.4. Information concerning prices to be paid for attaining rights to perform 

licensing and other activities related to the Government;
6.4.5. Description of a procedure for refusal to perform licensing and other 

activities related to the Government or suspension of the rights thereof;
6.4.6. Description of procedures for application (including contact information) 

by natural and legal persons for rights to perform licensing and other 
activities related to the Government;

6.4.7. Application forms approved by the Laws of Georgia and necessary to 
perform licensing and other activities related to the Government;

6.4.8. Application forms’ fill-in manuals;
6.4.9. List of necessary documents to be provided for each manual;
6.4.10. List of requirements pertaining to documents to be submitted;
6.4.11. Payment details fees and other charges;
6.4.12. Full names of PA officers responsible for performing licensing and other 

activities related to the Government;
6.4.13. Contact details (telephone numbers, e-mails) of PA officers responsible 

for performing licensing and other activities related to the Government;
6.4.14. PA natural and legal persons’ reception and work schedule pertaining 

to licensing and other activities related to the Government. 

 6.5. Law Violation Notifications (Cases on Rights Violation etc.)
6.5.1. PA law violation notifications’ reception procedures (cases on rights 

violation etc.).
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 � Thematic Block 7 
Information Concerning PA State Procurement, 
State Property Privatization and Contracting 
Processes 

 7.1. Information Pertaining to Bids
7.1.1. A data list pertaining to announced bids;
7.1.2. A web link to a page containing data on bids;
7.1.3. PA and SU bid plans.

 7.2. Information Concerning Signed Contracts
7.2.1. List of administrative (legal) contracts concluded between a PA and 

natural/legal persons and/or the PA and other PAs;
7.2.2. Terms and condition of the administrative (legal) contracts concluded 

between a PA and natural/legal persons and/or the PA and other PAs.

 � Thematic Block 8 
PA Personnel Recruitment

 8.1. List of available PA vacancies;

 8.2. List of qualification requirements of candidates for PA vacancies 
(theoretical	and	practical	experience,	necessary	skills);

 8.3. Procedures for appointing to PA vacancies;

 8.4. Procedures for conducting contests for PA vacancies;

 8.5. Procedures for applying for PA vacancies by candidates;

 8.6. Contest outcomes for PA vacancies (pointing out reasons for 
(in case of approval) posting candidates’ personal data on a PA 
website)	(legal	act	terms	and	conditions,	other	forms	of	approval	
etc.);

 8.7. Description of procedures for submitting claims against the rules 
and outcomes of the contests for PA vacancies.
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 � Thematic Block  9 
PE Financing and Expenses

 9.1. Information concerning PA allocations from a state budget;

	 9.2.	 Information	 concerning	 PA	 revenues	 and	 expenses,	 budget	
performance and budget allocations (in case of a budget 
authority).

 � Thematic Block 10 
Evaluation Criteria for Information Perception 
Simplicity 

 10.1. Availability of a sitemap on a PA website;

 10.2. Alphabetical directory of sections and articles on a PA website;

 10.3. Availability of a quick-search function on a PA website;

	10.4.	 Availability	 of	 an	 enhanced-search	 function	 (parameter	 filter,	
search	by	date,	search	by	titles	and	text	words	etc.);

 10.5. Availability of a legal-acts search function referring to a legal 
acts database on a PA website;

	10.6.	 Indications	to	downloadable	text,	audio,	video	etc.	file	formats	on	
a PA website;

	10.7.	 Indications	to	downloadable	text,	audio,	video	etc.	file	sizes	on	a	
PA website;

 10.8. Availability of a “print-version” function on a PA website.
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 � Thematic Block 11 
Additional Parameters of Importance

 11.1. Availability of a PA website in browser registers (Google; Yahoo);

 11.2. Availability of a newsreel section for PA activities;

 11.3. Availability of interactive receipt forms for fees and other charges 
(possibility	to	fill	in	and	print	out	forms	from	a	PA	web-site);

 11.4. Possibility to download a user fee and other payment receipts 
including all relevant banking details from a PA website;

	11.5.	 Possibility	 to	 fill	 in	 and	 print	 application	 forms	 pertaining	 to	
licensing and other activities related to the Government from a 
PA website;

 11.6. Possibility to save copies of application forms pertaining to 
licensing and other activities related to the Government onto a 
user’s	technical	device	in	a	file	format	allowing	him/her	to	fill	in	
and/or print those forms independently;

	11.7.	 Availability	of	an	interactive	application	form	(possibility	to	fill	in	
and send an application form from a PA website);

 11.8. Availability of download options for programs allowing users to 
open the application forms;

 11.9. Possibility to observe information updates;

 11.10. Possibility to download news;

 11.11. Availability of a forum;

 11.12. Availability of a “Questions asked” and “Questions answered” or 
“Frequently Asked Questions” heading;

 11.13. Availability of a public opinion heading;

 11.14. Availability of foreign language options for website’s major 
sections;

11.15. Division of a PA website according to target group interests;

11.16. Availability of PA terms dictionary;

11.17. Availability of an e-mail of a web-administrator or a person/
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division responsible for proper functioning and information 
update tracking on a PA website;

	11.18.		 Possibility	 to	establish	online	contacts	with	users	 (via	Skype,	
Facebook etc.).

 � Thematic Block 12 
PA Web-Sites’ Negative Contents and Functions

	12.1.	 Availability	of	services’,	goods’	etc. commercials (either direct or 
indirect) for natural and legal persons
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Chapter V

THE MONITORING TENDENCIES

Monitoring of Informational Resources 
(Official Web-pages) of Public Authorities in Georgia
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The IDFI research conducted within the framework of the project “Monitoring 
of Informational Resources (Official Web-pages) of Public Authorities in Georgia” 
intended to assess the transparency rate of the PA websites and to identify 
problems and tendencies in that respect. The research aimed at identifying both 
negative and positive tendencies. It would be impossible to identify any problems 
or tendencies at all without the use of the parameters listed in the mentioned 
Thematic Blocks and applied to assess the information transparency rate of the 
websites. Listed below are the problems and tendencies identified during the 
monitoring process and arranged according to the Thematic Blocks.     

Problems and tendencies identified by the research of 2010 within the 
framework of the project “Monitoring of Informational Resources (Official Web-
pages) of Public Authorities in Georgia”:14

14 Description of a set of problems identified with regard to the websites of the PAs 
monitored represents just a small example of only one direction of the research. Any 
interested individual who might wish to get additional information with regard to any 
specific issue related to the project may directly address IDFI.  
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 � Thematic Block 1  
PA General Information

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
 » Information regarding the PA Directors is often limited to only first and last 

names, photos and biographies (CVs). The descriptions of the Directors’ and 
Deputy-Directors’ competences are not posted as a separate page. One 
can find them in separate Legal Acts (the PA regulations, the PA Directors’ 
decrees etc.) but anyone can experience difficulties in finding them there 
unless one has specific legal knowledge and awareness. In most cases infor-
mation regarding the Higher Official authorized to appoint or dismiss the PA 
Director/Deputy-Director(s) is not provided. Often the PA Directors’ contact 
details (working e-mails, the Receptions/Assistant Director’s telephone and 
fax numbers) are not posted. The description of the Deputy-Directors’ scope 
of competences is not offered. As for the Ministries of Georgia, they do not 
provide information regarding the Deputy-Director acting as a Parliamentary 
Secretary. There are not even mere indications on it.

 » Written markings proving the websites are official are not provided. The post-
al addresses (including postal indexes) and the location maps are seldom 
posted. A full contact directory of the PA system and receptions schedules 
for natural and/or legal persons are seldom posted too.

 » Names of the Superior Authorities and weblinks to their respective websites 
are seldom provided.

 » Information regarding the PAs of equal competence (a name list and web-
links) is seldom posted making it difficult for the interested to form a suf-
ficient idea about the sphere of governance of the PA.

 » Descriptions of past PA activities arranged by years are moderately posted 
but descriptions of the PA competences, scope of activities, functions, goals 
and tasks are more often mentioned in corresponding Legal Acts (regula-
tions, laws etc.) instead of being given as a separate webpage, thus making 
it difficult for the interested to get the relevant information easily.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
The following information is moderately provided: The PA Directors’ and 
Deputy-Directors’ first and last names, photos, less moderately - their biog-
raphies (CVs); The PA full names, less moderately – brief names (abbrevia-
tions), the Public Relations Divisions’ telephone numbers, hotline numbers, 
fax numbers and e-mails. 

A positive example: The main webpage of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
provides a separate page for the Minister “The Foreign Minister” where 
one can observe a photo of the Minister as well as the Minister’s biography 
(CV), interviews, speeches and events all provided separately, thus enabling 
the viewer to get as complete information as possible about the Foreign 
Minister.
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ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF FINANCE OF GEORGIA 
(WWW.MOF.GE)

The website of the 
Ministry of Finance 
of Georgia doesn’t 
provide a photo of 
the Minister as well 
as the description 
of the Minister’s 
competences (rights 
and obligations).

The website doesn’t provide a photo of the Minister as well as the description 
of the Minister’s competences (rights and obligations). No mention is made of 
the Higher Official authorized to appoint and/or dismiss the Minister (The Minister 
of Finance is appointed to the post by the Prime Minister with the consent of 
the President of Georgia). The website doesn’t provide a separate page for the 
Ministry’s past activities, competencies, sphere of governance, functions, goals 
and tasks.

 @ LEPL AGENCY OF PROTECTED AREAS 
(WWW.DPA.GOV.GE) 

The website of 
LEPL Agency of 
Protected Areas 
doesn’t provide 
any information 
regarding the Head 
and the Deputy-
Heads of the 
Agency. The website 
neither provides 
the corresponding 
divisions.

The website doesn’t provide information regarding the Head and the 
Deputy-Heads of the Agency (their full names, photos, complete biographies 
(CVs), competences, contact details; no mention is made of the Higher Official 
authorized to appoint to and/or dismiss them from their positions). The website 
doesn’t provide separate pages for the following divisions.
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 @ LEPL PENITENTIARY AND PROBATION TRAINING CENTRE 
(WWW.PPTC.GOV.GE) 

The website of LEPL 
Penitentiary and 
Probation Training 
Centre doesn’t 
provide postal 
address and location 
map of building of 
the centre. Neither 
is given the contact 
directory of the 
centre and reception 
and working 
schedules for natural 
and legal persons.

No postal address (including the postal index); no location map, no reception 
and working schedules for natural and legal persons; no written marking proving 
the website is an official one; no contact directory (the contact details of all the 
SUs: telephone numbers, e-mails, fax numbers etc.); no mention is made of the 
Ministry exercising control over the Centre.
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 � Thematic Block 2 
PA Structure/System 

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
 » Often information regarding the SU Directors is incomplete. The Directors’ 

full names, photos and complete biographies (CVs) as well as contact de-
tails (working e-mails, the Receptions/Assistant Director’s telephone and 
fax numbers) are seldom posted. Information regarding the Higher Official 
authorized to appoint or dismiss the SU Director/Deputy-Director(s) is not 
provided. The same is true about the Directors’ competences. Descriptions 
of the SU competences, functions and goals are presented rarely. One can 
find those descriptions in separate Legal Acts (the PA regulations, the PA Di-
rector’s decrees etc.) but anyone can experience difficulties in finding them 
there unless one has a specific legal knowledge and awareness. The SU con-
tact details (working e-mails, telephone and fax numbers) are rarely posted. 

 » In most cases the TU list of the PAs is incomplete or sometimes not posted 
at all. The following information is also presented rarely: the TU Directors’ 
complete names, photos, biographies (CVs) and contact details. Description 
of their competences is not posted separately and no mention is made of the 
Higher Official authorized to appoint and/or dismiss a TU Director. The loca-
tion maps of buildings and the description of the TU competences, functions 
and goals are not provided. Directories of the TU contact details including 
e-mails, postal addresses, phone numbers and fax numbers are rarely pro-
vided. Since separate websites for the TUs do not exist, weblinks to those 
websites don’t exist as well. 

 » Even though they actually exist, information regarding the CABs is not pro-
vided (a list of the Bodies, the Directors’ full names, photos, CVs, the struc-
ture and the composition of the Bodies, decisions taken at sessions and ses-
sion records).

 » The website of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Georgia is experiencing cer-
tain problems with regard to information concerning the FMs. Nothing is said 
about how they were formed or what their major activities are. Besides that 
one cannot observe the Ambassadors’ contact details (working e-mails, the 
Receptions/Assistants’ telephone and fax numbers) and location maps of the 
Representatives Offices there.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
 » The PA websites moderately provide the following information: description 

of the PA structure, less moderately – the information description of the PA 
structures. The complete list of the SUs is moderately posted. The following 
information is less moderately posted: the telephone and the hotline num-
bers, the fax numbers and the e-mails of the Public Relations Divisions.

 » Information regarding the Georgian FMs posted to the website of the Min-
istry of Foreign Affairs is provided in the form of an internal portal where 
information regarding the Ambassadors Plenipotentiary and Extraordinary, 
the FM list, postal addresses and e-mails, telephone and fax numbers are 
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moderately provided.

 » As for the websites of the Ministries of Georgia, information regarding the 
SSAs and LEPLs (the name list and the weblinks) existing under those Minis-
tries is moderately provided.   

A positive example: On the main page of the website of the Ministry of 
Environment Protection and Natural Resources of Georgia (http://moe.
gov.ge/index.php?lang_id=&sec_id=72) one can find a page titled “Public 
Council” representing a sole example out of all the PAs monitored to provide 
detailed information about the members of the Advisory Body and the 
decisions taken which are enclosed with minute records.

ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF CULTURE AND MONUMENTS PROTECTION 
OF GEORGIA (WWW.MCS.GOV.GE) 

The website of the 
Ministry of Culture 
and Monuments 
Protection of 
Georgia doesn’t 
provide the 
structural tree of 
Ministrys system.

The website doesn’t provide the Ministrys system chart (the structural tree); 
just a textual description is give. 

http://www.mcs.gov.ge
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 @  THE MINISTRY OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF GEORGIA 
(WWW.ECONOMY.GE)

The website of the 
Ministry of Economic 
Development of 
Georgia doesn’t 
provide any 
information 
regarding the 
territorial units of 
the Ministry.

The website of the Ministry doesn’t provide any information regarding the 
TUs: (the TU list; description of the competences, functions and goals; the TU 
Directors’ names, photos, complete biographies (CVs), competences; the TU 
contact details: telephone and fax numbers, postal addresses, e-mails, the 
Receptions Offices’ locations etc.). According to the Law the following regional 
agencies for state property accounting and privatization are considered TUs of 
the Ministry: those of Samegrelo-Svaneti, Guria, Samtskhe-Javakheti, Kvemo 
Kartli, Shida Kartli, Kakheti, Racha-Lechkhumi-Imereti and Mtskheta-Mtianeti:

 @ LEPL CIVIL REGISTRY  
(WWW.CRA.GOV.GE) 

The website 
of LEPL Civil 
Registry Agency 
doesn’t provide 
any information 
regarding 7 (seven) 
structural units of 
the agency.

http://www.economy.ge
http://www.cra.gov.ge
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The website doesn’t provide any information regarding the following SUs 
(description of the SU competences, functions and goals; the SU Directors’ full 
names, photos, complete biographies (CVs), competences; indication onto the 
Higher Official authorized to appoint and/or dismiss the SU Director; the SU 
Directors’ contact details: working e-mails, the Reception Offices (Assistants’) 
telephone and fax numbers; the SU telephone numbers and e-mails etc.): the 
Department for Citizenship and Migration, the IT Department (it consists of 
the following units: the Division for Information Processing and Data Quality 
Analysis, the Division for Software Elaboration, the Division for IT Infrastructure 
Management, the Customer Care Division), the Logistics Division, the Division 
for Infrastructure Development, the Accounting Division, the Division for 
International Relations and Projects Management:
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 � Thematic Block 3 
PA Information Resources

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
The present tendencies, just like the previous year’s tendencies, still remain 
one of the most incomplete components among the information transpar-
ency indicators of the PA websites:

 » The websites seldom provide databases, databanks, registers and other in-
formation resources and systems that are quite often directly stated by the 
Law and attributed to the PA scope of governance;

 » The websites seldom provide the description of the information systems for 
public use and the application rules;

 » The websites scarcely provide registers for incoming/outgoing correspon-
dence;

 » The websites seldom provide examples of online use of the PA information 
systems intended for public use;

 » The websites seldom provide the description of the application rules for and 
lists of the PA information systems intended for limited use;

 » The websites do not provide information on the procedures for registration, 
reception, forwarding and review of natural and legal persons’ applications 
for gaining access to the PA information resources;

 » The websites seldom provide the description of the information services of-
fered and delivered by the PAs.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
Generally the online services are quite well represented by the example of 
the two LEPLs of the Ministry of Justice of Georgia – the Public and the Civil 
Registries of Georgia. On the website of the Notary Chamber of Georgia one 
can observe a list of Skype addresses posted for the purposes of providing 
online legal consultations. The Online Services page informs that starting 
from the 20th of January of 2010 first time in Georgia and in the world no-
tary activities are performed online. On the basis of legislative amendments 
introduced in the Law of Georgia on Normative Acts the official (having a 
legal force) publication of a normative act is considered the initial publica-
tion of its complete text on the website of a LEPL under the Ministry of Justice 
of Georgia called the Legislative Herald of Georgia. The website started to 
operate on the 1st of January of 2011. The address of the website is www.
matsne.com.gov.ge.

Positive Example: On the Enterprises page of the website of the LEPL 
Enterprises Management Agency under the Ministry of Economic 
Development of Georgia one can observe a database of the enterprises of 
Georgia and online application rules.
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ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF ENERGY OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.MINENERGY.GOV.GE) 

The website of the 
Ministry of Energy 
of Georgia doesn’t 
provide a registry 
for incoming 
and outgoing 
correspondence.

The website of the Ministry doesn’t provide a Registry for incoming and 
outgoing correspondence. Such a Registry would be an asset, all the more so 
if we look at the current Law which states that the Administrative Department 
of the Ministry must create, process and constantly update the website of the 
Ministry and post the normative acts, the relevant records, various statistical, 
technical and economical as well as other energy-related public data of the 
Ministry to the website. As for the Apparatus of the Minister, according to the 
functions it performs it must register, systematize and timely submit the official 
incoming and outgoing correspondence to the Directorship. 

The Ministry must also approve a list of electric cables used for balances 
transit and system and inter-system electricity transits in the energy sector, 
investigate the causes of the failures or malfunctions in the sector followed by or 
which could have been followed by system accidents and prepare corresponding 
conclusions. No such list or conclusions can be found on the website:

http://www.minenergy.gov.ge
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 @ GEORGIAN CHAMBER OF COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY   
(WWW.GCCI.GE) 

The website of 
Georgian Chamber 
of Commerce and 
Industry doesn’t 
provide resources of 
public information.

The website doesn’t provide any resources of public information. Databases, 
databanks, cadastres, registers etc. related to the sphere of the activities of the 
Chamber are not provided too.

http://www.gcci.ge
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 � Thematic Block 4  
PA Activities and Scope of Competences

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
 » The websites seldom provide information regarding official duty calls of the 

PA Deputy Ministers and their participation in various events as well as texts 
of their speeches and statements;

 » The websites seldom provide the following information: the PA activities an-
nual reports, data reflecting the current situation and the dynamics of de-
velopment going on in the chief fields of the PA activities, the description of 
projects for the development of different directions of the PA activities and 
the PA forecasts, the official statistical information collected and processed 
by the PAs;

 » The websites do not provide information regarding the audits performed by 
or within the PAs; 

 » The websites do not provide information describing the procedures of the 
expertises performed by the PAs and the results of the expertises;

 » Whereas the websites provide very little information on the participation of 
the PAs in project implementation, the data regarding the state programs are 
even less. The annual reports regarding the implementation of state, goal 
oriented etc. programs of which the PA is customer, implementer or a party 
in any respect participating in the implementation are scarcely observed; 
One can seldom observe the list of the mentioned programs and examples of 
posting information regarding the events taking place within the framework 
of the above mentioned programs to the PA websites;

 » Information regarding the appeals made against the activities performed (or 
the refraining from the activities to be performed) and the decisions (the 
Administrative Legal Acts) passed by the PAs or by the PA officials are not 
provided. The description of the procedures for making administrative ap-
peals against the above mentioned activities and decisions, the reviews of 
the court cases of which the PA or its officer is a party to as well as the court 
decision texts that were passed not in favour of the PAs are not provided too;

 » The lists of notifications about the emergency situations and the measures 
taken thereto as well as corresponding recommendations are not posted too.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
 » The websites moderately provide the following: information regarding the 

participations of the PA Directors in various events, less moderately - in-
formation regarding the PA Directors’ duty calls, speeches, statements and 
briefings; The following information is less moderately provided – the PA 
interactions with other PAs (state and local self governing bodies, LEPLs), 
political unions, professional unions, international organizations; probation, 
attestation, training, qualification, educational courses and/or seminars hold 
in the PAs.
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A positive example: On the Publications page of the LEPL Vano Khukhunaishvili 
Centre for Effective Governance System and Territorial Arrangement 
Reform under the Ministry of Regional Development and Infrastructure 
of Georgia one can observe an annual report referring to the period from 
July 2006 to July 2007: (http://www.cegstar.ge/files/517_2119_958432_
Report2007cegstar.pdf);

In fact the mentioned report is very outdated and is not located in a proper 
place since there is not a separate page for annual reports on the website.

Nonetheless the report itself represents a fine example of what a PA stan-
dard report should look like compared to all the other reports to be found on 
the websites of the PAs monitored.

ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF JUSTICE OF GEORGIA 
(WWW.JUSTICE.GOV.GE) 

The website of the 
Ministry of Justice 
of Georgia doesn’t 
provide the annual 
report, statistics, 
information on 
partnership and 
state programs.

The website doesn’t provide the annual report of the Ministry and the 
statistical information related to its activities; Information regarding interactions 
or partnerships (separate pages like “International Partnership” and “Partnership 
with Georgian Organizations” including textual descriptions of the partnerships 
and web-links to the partner organizations’ websites) with international 
organizations or other PAs (state and local self-governing bodies, LEPLs, 
political unions, professional unions, other local organizations) is not provided. 
Information regarding state programs is not provided too; On the News page of 
the website one cannot find any information regarding the Minister’s previous 
year statements and his official duty calls.
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 @  THE MINISTRY OF INTERNALLY DISPLACED PERSONS FROM 
THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES, ACCOMMODATION AND 
REFUGEES OF GEORGIA   
(WWW.MRA.GOV.GE) 

The website of 
the Ministry of 
Internally Displaced 
Persons from the 
Occupied Territories, 
Accommodation 
and Refugees of 
Georgia doesn’t 
provide information 
regarding the 
Deputy-Ministers’ 
participation in 
different events, 
their duty calls and 
their statements.

On the News page of the website no information regarding the Deputy-
Ministers’ participation in different events, their duty calls and their statements 
and addresses is provided. The Statistics page of the website doesn’t work. The 
website doesn’t provide a separate page for annual reports. According to the 
current Law, the Minister must submit   a report on the activities of the Ministry 
to the Prime Minister. Reports on both past and current activities of the Ministry 
are not observed. 

http://www.mra.gov.ge
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 @ LEPL NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL AGENCY   
(WWW.NEA.GOV.GE)

The website of 
LEPL National 
Environmental 
Agency doesn’t 
provide any 
information 
regarding expert 
conclusions and 
assessments. 
Neither is given the 
information on state 
programs, statistics 
and plans.

The website doesn’t provide any information regarding the development 
dynamics of the Agency’s activities as well as description of the plan of development 
of the sectors related to the Agency’s activities. Information regarding the state 
programs or the statistical data in connection with the spheres of activities of the 
Agency is not provided. According to the Law, the Agency also performs expert 
activities by presenting expert conclusions (for example: expert assessment 
of the projects carried out by large industries for the aim of determining the 
possible affects upon the environmental changes, participation in ecological 
assessment of the activities subject to such assessments, preparation of expert 
conclusions on projects on coastguard and other objects etc.). No description 
of the assessments performed by the Agency or the conclusions thereof can be 
found on the website.

http://www.nea.gov.ge
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 � Thematic Block 5 
PA Legal Acts and Rule-Making Activities

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
The following Legal Acts are seldom found on the websites of the PAs:

 » In the case of the Ministries, the Legal Acts (regulations (charters), internal 
routines and other legal acts) governing the activities of the Bodies inferior 
to the Ministries;

 » The Legal Acts governing the major tasks, competences, and activities of the 
SUs and the TUs of the PAs;

 » The text of the Constitution of Georgia, the Legal Acts related to the scope of 
activities of the PAs, the legal acts of the President of Georgia and the Gov-
ernment of Georgia, texts of the Legal Administrative Acts of the Minister of 
Georgia and the PA Directors;

 » The Legal Acts governing the procedures for probation, attestation, qualifica-
tion, educational courses and seminars hold in the PAs;

 » The Legal Acts governing the procedures for awarding the rights of usage, 
licensing, accounting, registration, authorization, accreditation, declaration, 
legalization or other kind of government- and public-related activities for the 
aim of ensuring the rights, freedom and legal interests of natural and legal 
persons by taking due account of state and public interests.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
The texts of the following types of Legal Acts are moderately posted to the 
websites of the PAs: the texts of the current Legal Acts governing the activi-
ties of the PAs most often posted in the form of corresponding regulations.

Positive Example: The Legislation page (http://mof.ge/search_system) of the 
website of the Ministry of Finance of Georgia provides a Legal Acts Search 
System, which is the most complete one in number compared to the number 
of Legal Acts provided by the other PAs monitored. 

NEGATIVE TENDENCIES
The present block represents the weakest component among the informa-
tion transparency indicators of the PA websites.

The websites of the PAs monitored do not provide the texts of the following 
Legal Acts:

 » Legal Acts (regulations, internal routines and/or other legal acts) governing 
the activities of the organs superior to the PAs;

 » Legal Acts (the number of members, descriptions of the procedures for the 
appointment of the members, frequency of meetings, descriptions of the 
functions of the body, the procedures  for decision-making, procedures for 
the appointment of the Director, the term of office, description of the func-
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tions etc.) governing the activities of the CABs; 

 » Legal Acts governing the procedures for the reception of notifications on law 
violations (the violation of rights, cases etc.) by the PAs;

 » Legal Acts governing the procedures for the approval of the programs of 
which the PA (without regard to the exceptions) is a customer and imple-
menter or party in any respect participating in the implementation;

 » Legal Acts governing the procedures for (without regard to the exceptions) 
holding tenders, contests, other kind state procurement processes;

 » Legal Acts governing the procedures for holding electronic/public auctions, 
direct sale, other kind state property privatization within the PAs;

 » Legal Acts governing the Code of Conduct (Ethics) of the PA officials;

 » Legal Acts governing the PA procedures for communicating emergency situ-
ations and the issues related to the responses to such situations;

 » Legal Acts governing the issues (without regards to the exceptions) related 
to the fees for the services to be offered or the services offered by the PAs;  

 » Legal Acts governing the general procedures for applications to the PAs, in-
cluding r information request applications;

 » Normative Act draft projects related to the scope of activities or scope of 
competences of the PAs and the explanation cards enclose to the draft proj-
ects.

ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF JUSTICE OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.JUSTICE.GOV.GE) 

The website of the 
Ministry of Justice 
of Georgia doesn’t 
provide database 
of Legal Acts (a 
separate page for 
Legal Acts).

The website doesn’t provide a separate page for Legal Acts which means that 
in fact no unified Legal Acts database exists on the website and considering the 
particularity of the Ministry’s activities, it is a considerable flaw of the website. 
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The Regulations of the Ministry posted to the website is not up-to-date; the 
Internal Routine of the Ministry, the Regulations of the LEPLs, SSAs and SUs of 
the Ministry ratified by the Minister in accordance with the Law are not provided. 
The same is true as to the description of the procedures for probations and the 
amount of salaries for probationers, which procedures are also approved by the 
Minister in accordance with the current legislation. Considering the sphere of 
government and the major tasks of the Ministry the important Legal Acts related 
to them and which the website doesn’t provide are as follows:

• Legal Acts governing the competences of the Deputy-Ministers;
• Legal Acts governing the procedures for the creation and use of the 

information resources;
• Legal Acts governing the activities of the Advisory Bodies – Committees and 

Councils;
• Legal Acts governing the issues related to e-Governance;
• Legal Acts governing the procedures for the approval of programs of 

which the Ministry is a customer, an implementer or a party in any respect 
participating in the implementation;

• Legal Acts governing the procedures for holding contests for public vacancies, 
for setting contest and attestation requirements for the Ministry’s public 
officers;

• Legal Acts of the President of Georgia and the Government of Georgia related 
to the sphere of government of the Ministry and the Minister’s Normative 
and Individual Legal Acts (Decrees); 

• Legal Acts governing the procedures for state procurement and state 
property privatization;

• Legal Acts pertaining to the procedures for request for, access to, provision of, 
refusal for the provision of, classification of information and other freedom-
of-information-related issues; 

• Legal Acts related to the sphere of governance of the Ministry (including the 
Constitution of Georgia, the General Administrative Code of Georgia, the Law 
of Georgia on the Structure, Competences and Activities of the Government 
of Georgia etc.);

• Draft-projects of Legal and Normative Acts with regard to the issues 
pertaining to the sphere of governance of the Ministry and attributed to its 
competences;

• Corresponding international agreements/contracts.
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 @ THE NOTARY CHAMBER OF GEORGIA  (WWW.NOTARY.GE)

The website of the 
Notary Chamber 
of Georgia doesn’t 
provide the Notary 
Code of Conduct 
(Ethics).

The Notary Code of Conduct (Ethics) developed by the Administration of the 
Notary Chamber of Georgia, approved by the General Meeting and submitted to 
the Minister of Justice for ratification is not provided on the website:

 � Thematic Block 6 
PA Operation Rules for the Purpose of Ensuring 
Rights, Freedom and Legal Interests of Natural and 
Legal Person

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
The present Block represents one of the weakest components among the 
information transparency indicators of the PA websites.

 » Rather frequently the explanatory materials as various consultations, expla-
nations, notifications etc. related to the PA scope of activities and to be used 
by natural and legal persons for their own purposes are not posted to the 
websites. One can almost never find natural and legal persons’ application 
reviews there too. The websites do not provide any information regarding 
the procedures for the submission of natural and legal persons’ applications 
for general issues as well as the procedures for and the term of the review 
of the applications;

 » Except in a very few cases, the majority of the websites do not provide any 
information with regard to those of their activities which are related to free-
dom and openness/transparency of public information: usually, information 
with regard to public officers (their first and last names, positions, contact 
details) responsible for granting access to public information is not provided 

http://www.notary.ge
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by the websites; no downloadable forms/samples for administrative appeals 
and public information requests as well as no Legal Acts related to public 
information request, availability, issuance, refusals of the issuance, classi-
fication and information transparency are provided; one cannot find any in-
formation regarding the appeals made against the decisions relating to the 
refusals of the issuance of public information (court decisions, decrees, regu-
lations, orders, data regarding their enforcement etc.); information regarding 
the number of violations of the requirements of the General Administrative 
Code of Georgia by the PA public officers and the number of administrative 
penalties imposed on them is not provided at all. One cannot find the annual 
report or any part of it to be submitted by the PAs to the President of Georgia 
and the Parliament of Georgia in accordance with Article 49 of the General 
Administrative Code of Georgia on the PA websites as well as no statistical 
information regarding the number of public information requests and the 
refusals of the issuance of the latter is provided;

 » The websites do not provide any information with regard to the PA proce-
dures for the submission of law violation statements (breach of rights, cases 
etc.);

 » The information regarding the PA activities relating to awarding usage rights, 
licensing, accounting, registration, authorization, accreditation, declaration, 
legalization or other kind of government- and public-related activities is 
much to be desired. Sometimes information regarding the price and term of 
acquiring licensing rights or permissions for performing other government-
related activities is not provided; descriptions (including contact details) of 
the procedures for the application for licensing rights or other government 
permissions by natural and legal persons are seldom provided too; no natu-
ral and legal persons reception and work schedules of licensing and other 
government-related activities are provided; payment details for fees and 
other payments are seldom posted; contact details (telephone numbers, e-
mails) of PA officers responsible for performing licensing and other govern-
ment- related activities as well as corresponding application forms, fill-out 
rules and list of required documents are not provided. The websites do not 
provide any information with regard to refusals to confer rights to conduct 
licensing or other government-related activities as well as no description of 
grounds for the suspension of those activities is provided.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
The PA websites frequently provide online (electronic forms or electronic 
feedback forms) means for sending requests/statements directly from the 
websites. Unfortunately, most of them do not provide the documents enclo-
sure option.

A positive example: The website of the Ministry of Justice of Georgia provides 
a separate page titled “Public Information” (http://justice.gov.ge/index.
php?lang_id=GEO&sec_id=20) included in the Useful Information page. 
Even though the information contained there is meagre, the availability 
of a separate page for the issues relating to public information is still a 
positive fact and promises increase in quantity and quality. Similar page 
can be found on the website of the LEPL National Bureau of Enforcement of 
Georgia (http://nbe.gov.ge/index.php?lang_id=GEO&sec_id=29) under the 
Ministry of Justice of Georgia.             
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ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF CORRECTIONS AND LEGAL ASSISTANCE OF 
GEORGIA  (WWW.MCLA.GOV.GE) 

The website of the 
Ministry of Corrections 
and Legal Assistance of 
Georgia doesn’t provide 
review of natural and 
legal persons’ appeals, 
reception procedures, 
term of review and 
treatment procedures of 
the appeals. Neither is 
given the corresponding 
information on activities 
pertaining to freedom of 
information.

The website doesn’t provide a separate page for the explanation of the 
general issues related to the sphere of competences of the Ministry: review of 
natural and legal persons’ appeals, reception procedures, term of review and 
treatment procedures of the appeals. Information regarding the individual (his/
her first and last name, position and contact details: a working e-mail, telephone 
and fax numbers) responsible for ensuring access to public information is not 
provided; no downloadable forms for submitting appeals or public information 
requests are available; information regarding the appeals submitted against 
the refusals to provide public information is not available; information on the 
number of refusals and consents for release of public information as well as 
on the number of violations of the requirements of the General Administrative 
Code by the public officers and administrative penalties applied is not available 
too; information regarding complete annual reports to be submitted to the 
President and the Parliament of Georgia according to Article 49 of the General 
Administrative Code of Georgia is not provided:

 @  THE MINISTRY OF INTERNAL AFFAIRS OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.POLICE.GE) 

The website is lacking the description of the Ministry’s procedures for the 
submission of notifications regarding law violations (examples of the breaches of 
rights, cases etc.). It is true that the website provides the possibility of sending 
notifications directly from the website (an online notification form) but the 
addressee options are only confined to the International Relations Division thus 
setting limits to the sphere of interest for the interested persons:

http://www.mcla.gov.ge
http://www.police.ge
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The website of the 
Ministry of Internal 
Affairs of Georgia 
doesn’t provide 
the description 
of the Ministry’s 
procedures for 
the submission 
of notifications 
regarding law 
violations, while 
the addressee 
options of an online 
notification form 
are only confined 
to the International 
Relations Division.

 @ LEPL FORESTRY DEPARTMENT 
(WWW.FORESTRY.GOV.GE) 

The website of 
LEPL Forestry 
Department doesn’t 
provide information 
on activities 
concerning the 
issuance of licences/
permissions.

The Law on the LEPL Forestry Department of Georgia states that the 
Department’s competences include lumber ticket issuance, issuance of forest 
resources usage tickets, management of objects for licensing, issuance of forest 
funds usage permissions and preparation of corresponding set of documents etc. 
It turns out that the Department carries out public activities (issuance of usage 
rights, issuance of licences/permissions) and nothing is mentioned about it on 
the website (in relation with the above activities: description of the categories 
of persons authorized to apply to the Department, information regarding term of 
action and costs of services, description of the procedures for applying for usage 
permissions and refusal criteria, the contact information and schedule of work 
with natural and legal persons etc.).

http://www.forestry.gov.ge
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 � Thematic Block 7 
PA State Procurement, State Property Privatization 
and Contracting Processes

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
The present block represents one of the weakest components among the 
information transparency indicators of the PA websites:

 » Though most of the websites have separate pages for Tenders, the informa-
tion contained there is often superficial or not provided at all. The websites 
do not provide weblinks to webpages for posting orders; they do not provide 
information regarding the PA procedures for holding auctions as well as state 
property privatization processes.

 » The websites do not provide information regarding the administrative (re-
lated to the Civil Law) contracts concluded between the PA and natural and 
legal persons or the PA and other PAs.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
Unfortunately we cannot identify any positive tendencies for the present 
Block yet.

A positive example: The website of the Ministry of Finance of Georgia provides 
the Tenders page (http://mof.ge/Archive/42/1.2011/) where one can observe 
somewhat complete information arranged by months and years.

ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE OF GEORGIA  (WWW.MRDI.GOV.GE) 

The website of the 
Ministry of Regional 
Development and 
Infrastructure of 
Georgia doesn’t 
provide information 
on tenders held 
or announced by 
central apparatus of 
the Ministry.

The Tenders page of the website is only limited to the weblinks forwarding to 
the Tenders pages of the following PAs under the Ministry: SSA Department of 

http://www.mrdi.gov.ge
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Roads, LEPL Municipal Development Fund of Georgia and United Water Supply 
Company of Georgia. Nothing is mentioned about the tenders held or announced 
by the Ministry itself. No information is provided about other state procurement 
and state property privatization processes too.

 @ LEPL MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT FUND OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.MDF.GE) 

The website of 
LEPL Municipal 
Development Fund 
of Georgia doesn’t 
provide information 
on contracts 
concluded by the 
Fund

According to the current Laws the Fund (or the CEO of the Fund on behalf of the 
Fund) concludes agreements/contracts with international financial institutions, 
international organizations and various donor organizations; executes loan or 
grant agreements related to the investment or the technical assistance projects 
financed by the Fund; issues other official documents as contracts for the supply 
of goods and/or services; hires special consultants for temporary works etc. The 
website doesn’t provide any information regarding the agreements and contracts 
executed by the Fund; no separate page for the executed contracts exists too.

http://www.mdf.ge
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 � Thematic Block 8 
PA Personnel Recruitment

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
The present block represents one of the weakest components among the 
information transparency indicators.

 » Though most of the websites provide the Vacancies page, in most cases 
the information contained there is only limited to the most recent vacancies 
which after  being filled are no more available. Generally the websites do not 
provide archives of the current or previous vacancies and because of that the 
Vacancies page of the websites is almost always empty limited only to the 
phrase “presently no vacancies are available” which of course is not enough. 
Sometimes there are cases when information regarding vacancies is posted 
only on the News page.

 » As for the information regarding qualification requirements (knowledge, ex-
perience and skills), appointment procedures, procedures for vacancy ap-
plications and procedures for holding contests is either not provided at all or 
is enclosed to the information describing the vacancies themselves and as 
mentioned above is removed completely after the vacancies are filled.

 » The information regarding the contest results is also rare. Among the very 
few cases when the contest results are posted to the websites, none of them 
points to the reasons for posting the candidates personal data to the web-
page (a condition of the corresponding Legal Act, acknowledgement etc.)

 » The websites do not provide information regarding the complaints against 
the procedures and the results of the contests as well as the procedures for 
administrative appeals.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
Unfortunately, we cannot identify any positive tendencies for the present 
Block yet.

A positive example: The National Bureau of Enforcement under the Ministry 
of Justice of Georgia provides a somewhat complete information regarding 
vacancies (including an archive) on the website’s Vacancies page (http://
nbe.gov.ge/index.php?lang_id=GEO&sec_id=31) 
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ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF INTERNALLY DISPLACED PERSONS FROM 
THE OCCUPIED TERRITORIES, ACCOMMODATION AND 
REFUGEES OF GEORGIA  (WWW.MRA.GOV.GE) 

The “Contests 
and Vacancies” 
page located on 
the website of the 
Ministry of Regional 
Development and 
Infrastructure of 
Georgia doesn’t 
operate.

The “Contests and Vacancies” page doesn’t operate. Moreover, it is located in 
a place unsuitable to it, namely on the Media page. The website doesn’t provide 
information on the following too: list of vacancies, qualification requirements for 
the vacancies, procedures for vacancy applications, procedures for appointing 
to vacancies, procedures for holding contests for vacancies, outcomes of the 
contests hold, description of the procedures for presenting complaints against 
contest results and description of the procedures for administrative appeals:

http://www.mra.gov.ge
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 � Thematic Block 9 
PA Financing and Expenses

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
The present block represents the weakest component out of all the compo-
nents of the information transparency indicators. Like the previous year, the 
information regarding financing and expenses to be posted to the websites 
of the PAs is frequently closed and unavailable this year too. 

 » Even in rare cases when the websites provide separate pages for the Budget 
and even when those pages are not empty, the information contained there 
is only limited to the information on budget allocations. Though that kind of 
information is valuable in any way it can’t be considered a good effort made 
toward information transparency since that kind of information is available 
as on the website of the Ministry of Finance of Georgia (see the heading 
Budget Review by years http://mof.ge/4069) so as in the primary source as 
is Chapter 5 of the Amendments of the Law of Georgia on the State Budget 
of 2010 of Georgia.

 » When we speak of the transparency of financial information posted to the 
PA websites, we imply the information regarding the revenues and expenses 
of the PA budgets. Because of the fact that PAs are in most cases budgetary 
organizations, the information regarding budget implementation and the ex-
penses of the budget allocations is of utmost interest for the public. Except 
very incomplete and very superficial information about the budget spending, 
no other information is available.

 » The above-mentioned information represents an aggregation of annually al-
tering information; unfortunately, the websites do not provide annual budget 
archives too.  

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
No positive tendencies identified. 

A positive example: The website of the National Bureau of Enforcement under 
the Ministry of Justice provides a separate Budget page (http://nbe.gov.ge/
index.php?lang_id=GEO&sec_id=166) where one can observe information 
regarding state budget allocations and the information regarding revenues 
and expenses. Despite the fact that the information on financial data is duly 
systematized, the information itself is scarce and superficial.    
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ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND SCIENCE OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.MES.GOV.GE) 

The website of 
the Ministry of 
Education and 
Science of Georgia 
doesn’t provide 
information on 
budget allocations 
and expenditures of 
the Ministry.

Information regarding budget allocations and expenditures is not provided. 
Moreover, that kind of information must be provided not only as of current date 
but as of previous dates in the form of annual reports too.

 @ THE MINISTRY OF AGRICULTURE OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.MOA.GOV.GE) 

The website of 
the Ministry of 
Agriculture of 
Georgia provides 
application of 
the budgetary 
organization as 
of 2009 instead 
of information on 
budget allocations 
and the expenses 
incurred within the 
budget allocations 
by the Ministry.

The website provides outdated information regarding the Ministry budget 
as of 2009. This information is neither for state budget allocations nor for the 
expenses incurred within the budget allocations. The Ministry must provide 
information on the budget not only as of current date but as of previous dates in 
the form of annual reports too.

http://www.mes.gov.ge
http://www.moa.gov.ge
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 � Thematic Block 10 
PA Information Perception Simplicity Criteria

GENERAL TENDENCIES

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
 » The websites do not provide alphabetical directories of the pages and divi-

sions;

 » Enhanced search functions (functions for parameter filtration, date search 
functions, word search functions etc.) are rare;

 » The websites almost never provide Legal Acts Database search functions;

 » Often information regarding format and size of downloadable text, audio or 
video files is not provided.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
The websites frequently provide sitemaps thus enabling quicker search for 
users. The websites also quite often provide quick search and print version 
functions.

A positive example: The Legislation page of the website of the Ministry 
of Finance of Georgia (http://mof.ge/search_system) provides a legal acts 
search system enabling to make search by document types, spheres, 
adoption division, title, phrase, date, number etc.

ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF DEFENCE OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.MOD.GOV.GE) 

The sitemap of 
the website of 
the Ministry of 
Defence of Georgia 
doesn’t operate. 
No alphabetical 
directory of pages 
and divisions 
or legal acts 
search function is 
provided on the 
website.

Though the sitemap of the Ministry exists (a sitemap marking) it doesn’t work 
anyway. No alphabetical directory of pages and divisions or legal acts search 
function provided.

http://www.mod.gov.ge
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 @ LEPL SERVICE AGENCY OF THE MINISTRY OF INTERNAL 
AFFAIRS OF GEORGIA   
(HTTP://SAAGENTO.SECURITY.GOV.GE) 

The search function 
on the website of 
the LEPL Service 
Agency of the 
Ministry of Internal 
Affairs of Georgia 
doesn’t operate. 
The website doesn’t 
provide format or 
size indications 
of the website’s 
downloadable files.

The search function of the website doesn’t work; it has neither quick nor 
enhanced search functions. No format or size indications of the website’s 
downloadable files provided. No sitemap, no alphabetical directory of pages or 
divisions or legal acts search functions provided.

http://saagento.security.gov.ge
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 � Thematic Block 11 
Additional Parameters of Importance

GENERAL TENDENCIES 

 NEGATIVE TENDENCIES 
 » The websites do not provide interactive receipt forms for fees and other 

charges (possibility to fill in and print out forms from the PA web-sites). The 
websites do not allow to fill in and to print application forms pertaining to 
licensing and other activities related to the Government online. It is impos-
sible to save copies of application forms pertaining to licensing and other 
activities related to the Government onto a user’s technical device in a file 
format allowing him/her to fill in and/or print those forms independently;

 » The websites do not provide interactive application forms (possibility to fill in 
and send an application form directly from the website); 

 » The FAQ pages are very rare;

 » The websites rarely provide dictionaries of the terms used within their scope 
of competence and do not allow to establish online contacts with users (via 
Skype, Facebook etc.);

 » The websites rarely allow to download news and to download options for 
programs allowing users to open the application forms;

 » The websites do not provide means for expressing public opinions: various 
forums, public opinion inquiries, blogs etc.;

 » The websites rarely provide e-mails of web-administrators or persons/divi-
sions responsible for proper functioning and information update tracking for 
forwarding notes and questions.

 POSITIVE TENDENCIES 
The websites frequently provide PA activities newsreels and foreign lan-
guage options; sometimes it is possible to track information updates on the 
websites; the information on the websites is often divided according to tar-
get group interests and are searchable within the general search engines 
(Google; Yahoo);

A positive example: On a page titled “Other” of the website of the Ministry 
of Finance (http://mof.ge/tools) one can observe a Terms Dictionary and the 
Terms definitions. On the page “Receive Information” located on the “Tax 
and Customs” page one can observe an extensive “Questions and Answers” 
section (http://mof.ge/3977).  

The website of the LEPL Security Police under the Ministry of Internal Affairs 
of Georgia (http://www.spd.ge/portal/alias__SPD/tabid__2135/default.aspx)  
allows individuals to submit online a note and provides the Facebook link of 
the Security Police.
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ILLUSTRATED EXAMPLES OF NEGATIVE TENDENCIES

 @ THE MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF GEORGIA  
(WWW.MFA.GOV.GE) 

The website of the 
Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs of Georgia 
doesn’t provide 
Frequently Asked 
Questions page, 
forum, online poll 
and dictionary 
of terms, while 
the users cannot 
subscribe to News 
online.

No Questions and Answers or Frequently Asked Questions pages are provided. 
No Forum or Public Interviews or Dictionary of Terms used in the field available. 
Users cannot establish online contacts or subscribe to the News online.

 @ LEPL GEORGIAN NATIONAL AGENCY FOR STANDARDS, 
TECHNICAL REGULATIONS AND METROLOGY 
(WWW.GNIMS.CAUCASUS.NET) 

The website of 
the LEPL Georgian 
National Agency for 
Standards, Technical 
Regulations and 
Metrology doesn’t 
provide a unified 
News page.It is 
also impossible to 
subscribe to News 
online. The English 
version option 
and numerous 
other pages of the 
website do not 
operate.

The website doesn’t provide a News page. The latest news is dated 1st of July 
2010. The FAQ and the English version option of the website do not operate. It is 
impossible to download news from the website. The pages which do not function 
are as follows: Support of Business, User Information, Compliance/Conformity 
Assessment, Publications and Services. According to the only undated task-plan to 
be found on the website (“The action plan to be carried out in the near future”), one 
of the tasks of the Agency is to resume upgrading the website to assist the user 
in gaining easier and more improved access to the information”. The mentioned 
promise, along with other defects in mind, has not been fulfilled yet.

http://www.mfa.gov.ge
http://www.gnims.caucasus.net
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№ Public Authorities / Ministries
Online 

Transparency 
Index 

1 www.nbe.gov.ge (National Bureau of Enforcement of Ministry of Justice) 36.76
2 www.mof.gov.ge (Ministry of Finance of Georgia) 31.80
3 www.moe.gov.ge (Ministry of Environment Protection and Natural Resources of Georgia) 31.16
4 www.mes.gov.ge (Ministry of Education and Science of Georgia) 30.68
5 www.napr.gov.ge (National Agency of Public Registry) 30.18
6 www.cra.gov.ge (Civil Registry) 29.32
7 www.mfa.gov.ge (Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Georgia) 28.26
8 www.ssa.gov.ge (Social Service Agency) 28.12
9 www.mod.gov.ge (Ministry of Defence of Georgia) 26.51

10 www.police.ge (Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia) 25.88
11 www.economy.gov.ge (Ministry of Economy and Sustainable Development of Georgia) 24.59
12 www.dpa.gov.ge (Agency of Protected Areas) 24.57
13 www.mdf.ge (Municipal Development Fund of Georgia) 24.57
14 www.moh.gov.ge (Ministry of Labour, Health and Social Affairs of Georgia) 24.48

15 www.mra.gov.ge (Ministry of Internally Displaced Persons from the Occupied Territories Accomodation and 
Refugees of Georgia) 24.31

16 www.ncac.ge (National Curriculum and Assessment Centre) 22.67
17 www.legalaid.ge  (Legal Aid Service) 22.60
18 www.minenergy.gov.ge (The Ministry of Energy of Georgia) 22.35
19 www.probation.ge (National Probation Agency) 22.23
20 www.esida.ge (Educational and Scientific Infrastructure Development Agency) 22.17
21 www.justice.gov.ge (Ministry of Justice of Georgia) 21.76
22 www.notary.ge (Notary Chamber of Georgia) 20.91
23 www.tpdc.ge (National Center for Teacher Professional Development) 20.76
24 www.mcla.gov.ge (Ministry of Corrections and Legal Assistance of Georgia) 20.70
25 www.nea.ge (National Center for Educational Quality Enhancement) 20.38
26 www.pptc.gov.ge (Penitentiary and Probation Training Centre) 20.36
27 www.him.ge (Health Insurance Mediation Service) 20.20
28 www.archives.gov.ge (The National Archives of Georgia (Ministry of Justice)) 20.03
29 www.rustaveli.org.ge (Shota Rustaveli National Science Foundation) 19.90
30 www.naec.ge (National Examination Center) 19.44
31 www.mrdi.gov.ge (Ministry of Regional Development and Infrastructure of Georgia) 19.09
32 www.nea.gov.ge (National Environmental Agency) 18.13
33 www.mcs.gov.ge (Ministry of Culture and Monument Protection of Georgia) 17.18
34 www.moa.gov.ge (Ministry of Agriculture of Georgia) 16.49
35 www.policeacademy.ge (Academy of the Ministry of Internal Affairs) 16.47
36 www.cegstar.ge (Center for Effective Governance System and Territorial Arrangement Reform) 16.42
37 www.spd.ge (The Security Police) 15.89
38 www.seragency.gov.ge (Service Agency of the Ministry of Finance of Georgia) 15.58
39 www.spa.gov.ge (State Procurement Agency) 14.86
40 www.gcci.ge (Georgian Chamber of Commerce and Industry) 12.71
41 http://saagento.security.gov.ge (Service Agency of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of Georgia) 12.33
42 www.ncdc.ge (National center for Disease Control and Public Health) 12.33
43 www.mofacademy.ge (The Finance Academy of the Ministry of Finance of Georgia) 10.68
44 www.tcj.gov.ge (Training Center of Justice of Georgia) 9.49
45 www.forestry.gov.ge (Forestry Agency (former Forestry Department)  9.11
46 www.atipfund.gov.ge (State Fund for Protection and Assistance of (Statutore) 8.72
47 www.dotr.gov.ge (Georgian State Tourism Agency) 8.10
48 www.gnims.caucasus.net (Georgian National Agency for Standards, Technical Regulations and Metrology) 6.85
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ALANYSIS OF THE RESEARCH OUTCOMES

The IDFI analysis/monitoring of the official websites of the Public Authorities 
of 2010 intended to identify quality indicators of transparency of the website 
contents of the Public Authorities and their orientation towards the user. An 
important component of the research was to depict/identify a general picture 
of the public web-space and the main development trends associated with the 
latter.

The research made clear to the IDFI experts that the rate of transparency of 
the public Internet space does not really meet the basic interests and demands 
of the society. Information as various financial data, data on the elaboration, 
implementation and outcomes of state and structural programs/projects is in fact 
not provided. Other public data as scope of competences, statistics, financials 
etc. are incomplete and/or superficial. Unfortunately, the Public Authorities fail to 
actively use the Internet as an effective tool of communication with citizens, the 
media or the business. At the same time it is worth mentioning that according 
to the international trends of e-Governance the E-Engagement of the society is 
one of the priorities of the process of development of the Information Society. It 
may be stated in general that the Public Authorities except for a few ones (as 
the Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment Protection of Georgia) pay 
the least attention to the necessity of upgrading their websites to the standard 
of WEB 2.0 Concept.
Correspondingly,	 the	 majority	 of	 the	 Public	 Authorities	 still	 fail	

to	 consider	 their	 websites	 as	 an	 effective	 means	 of	 disseminating	
information	 regarding	 their	 own	 activities	 in	 a	 pro-active	 manner,	
rendering themselves transparent and accountable and making 
themselves universally accessible platforms of public information to be 
used by the citizens and the organizations.

Unfortunately, the political establishment in Georgia still fails to perceive 
the Internet as a means to improve communication with the population. We 
cannot notice any trend that would point to the web-resources as becoming a 
readily available means of interactive communication with the population or an 
effective attribute fostering the engagement of an active part of the society in 
the decision-making process thus laying foundations for the new form of public 
governance - Government 2.0. Moreover, the results of the monitoring confirmed 
that except for very rare cases the four major components of e-Governance 
(public data, provision of information to the population, electronic services, 
involvement of the society) are weakly presented on the websites of the Public 
Authorities. Notwithstanding a significant success achieved in the development 
of the electronic services, we still have to mention of the fact that the introduction 
of innovated technologies is more of a local character and is mainly being 
developed within the scopes of competence of two Public Authorities, namely 
the Ministry of Finance and that of Justice. Hence, separate steps that have been 
made in that direction cannot be considered a success.

It is important to remember that introducing an online service does not yet 
mean that the principles of e-Transparency have already been introduced and 
in order it to become a reality there should be a firm will expressed and a long-
term strategy elaborated by the Authorities as well as corresponding regulations 
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should be passed.
In order for the official websites of the Public Authorities to comply with high 

quality standards, they should meet the following four criteria:
• Universally acknowledged technical standards of the information content of 

websites, including the “open data” technical features1;
• Ability to meet legal requirements of natural and legal persons through the 

provision of public information on the websites;
• Compliance of the website contents with the norms of legislation ensuring 

access to the public information describing the activities of the Public 
Authorities;

• Standard approach of the State Authorities towards the contents and the 
structure of the information provided on the official websites.

Unfortunately, the monitoring identified shortcomings for all the four criteria 
on all the websites that were the subject to research. At the same time, IDFI 
thinks that the improvement of the websites should be conducted in several 
general stages:

Stage One – Creating legislative standards to be applied to the 
information and technical contents of the official websites of the Public 
Authorities. An imperatively defined structure of the websites, necessary list of 
information presented on the websites and public data, duty to provide information 
in a proactive manner and the technical characteristics of the provided/posted 
information brought into harmony with the Constitution of Georgia and Part 3 
of the Administrative Code of Georgia (Freedom of Information) as well as with 
other legislative acts of Georgia will foster the progressive development of the 
websites of the Public Authorities and the establishment of democratic values in 
the country.

Stage Two – Improvement of the quality of transparency of the 
websites of the Public Authorities. Establishment of an electronic system 
for accessing public information according to the legislation will foster the 
development of a new standard of trust between public employees and the 
society and will improve the transparency rate of the current activities of the 
Public Authorities and their accountability. The principle of e-Transparency will 
increase the number of the users of the official web resources and will convince 
the public in the efficiency of the information/online services as well as will 
significantly reduce the bureaucracy procedures in number and will make the 
overall democratic atmosphere healthier.

Stage Three – Institutional establishment of e-services. Development 
of online services on the websites of the Public Authorities, fostering of electronic 
communication mechanisms between the citizens and the Government is 
advantageous not only in terms of financial and administrative perspectives 
but it also serves as a precondition for the development of an information, 
high-technological society. Transition to e-services assists in attracting a large 
auditorium of the official website users and more importantly contributes to the 
development of a culture of e-communication.

1 For more details please refer to Ten Open Data Guidelines published by the Transpar-
ency International Georgia - http://transparency.ge/ati-rcheva-ghia-monatsemta-she-
sakheb
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Stage Four – Development of the foundations of digital democracy 
through e-engagement and e-participation. Transforming the websites 
into a universal platform for public discussions and the exchange of ideas and 
opinions, involving the population in the decision-making processes, correcting 
different directions of the policy according to the demands of the society, 
electronic format of public debates and consultations, public expertise of projects 
and programs is very important for the institutional development of e-democracy 
in Georgia.

All of the stages must be implemented within the framework of a state 
policy. In parallel with those processes, the Authorities must develop the 
telecommunications infrastructure in Georgia and help the population in acquiring 
the necessary skills so that the whole society can have access to technological 
innovations.

Unfortunately, the web resources of the Public Authorities of Georgia fail to 
meet even the minimum technical and information requirements. Developing 
a separate field of e-services can’t be considered an equal alternative to the 
basic principles of e-Governance because the e-Governance is rather a complex 
mechanism. On the other hand, the Authorities in Georgia themselves endeavor 
to generate demand in the abovementioned field. Transition to online filing and 
procurement systems proves the readiness of the society not to lag behind the 
contemporary technical achievements and to creatively master the electronic 
format of communication (increase in the number of the users of the website 
of the Ministry of Finance of Georgia proves this). The IDFI research was aimed 
at identifying exactly the very problems. The Institute is intending to continue 
its activitiesand give the monitoring a permanent go. The Institute is ready and 
willing to cooperate with the Public Authorities of Georgia to help establish the 
principles of transparency and better governance via the Internet.
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